
 

COUNTY COMMISSION 
 

Ron Sellers 

District 1 

Member 

Ron Hirst 

District 2 

Chair 

Daniel P. Friesen 

District 3 

Vice-Chair 

Courthouse 

206 W. 1st Avenue 

Hutchinson, KS 67501 

 
 

AGENDA 
Commission Chambers 

Tuesday, February 9, 2021, 9:00 A.M. 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and Prayer 
 

III. Welcome and Announcements by Commission Chair 
 

IV. Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda.  

Please come forward to the podium, state your name and address and limit your remarks to not more than 5 

minutes per item. 
 

V. Determine Additions or Revisions to the Agenda  
 

VI. Consent Agenda  

If any Commissioner would like further discussions or explanation of any item they may ask that it be removed 

from the consent agenda for additional consideration. 

A. Vouchers (bills or payments owed by the county or related taxing units). 

B. CRF Vouchers. 

C. Withdraw from the Transportation Alternatives Project ADA Bus Shelters Grant. 

D. Resolution 2021-05 to cancel certain county warrants. 

E. Destruction of 2018 Gubernatorial Election Materials. 

i. Action – Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

Friesen  Sellers Hirst 
 

VII. Business Items 

A. Resolution 2021-06 Authorizing and Directing the Issuance, Sale and Delivery of General Obligation 

Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series, 2021 by Kevin Cowan, Gilmore & Bell. 

B. Notice of Awards for the construction of new support facilities at the Reno County Solid Waste Landfill 

by Megan Davidson, Director. 

i. Contract with Conco, Inc. in the amount of $2,654,700 for construction services.  

ii. Scope of Services from SCS Engineers for Resident Engineering Services at $296,500; and 

contingency of $295,100 

C. SCS Engineers proposals to provide certain services 2021 by Megan Davidson, Solid Waste Director. 

i. Annual Consulting Services at a cost of $95,300. 

ii. Engineering & Planning Services at a cost of $78,900. 

iii. Air Quality & Gas Collection and Control Operations, Monitoring & Maintenance (OM&M) 

Services at a cost of $166,300. 

D. Contract with IdeaTek to provide broadband and phone service at an upfront cost of $19,605 and $5,530 per 

month for 60 months by Joseph O’Sullivan, County Counselor. 

E. Maintenance & Purchasing Update by Harlen Depew, Director. 

 

 



 

F. Planning Case #2020 -09 – A Request by the Reno County Planning Commission for a series of text 

amendments to the April 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning Regulations regarding Commercial 

Wind Energy Conversion Systems by Don Brittain, Public Work Director, and Mark Vonachen, County 

Planner. 

 

VIII. County Administrator Report 

A. Appointed & Elected Monthly Reports 

 

IX. County Commission Report/Comments 

 

X. Adjournment 



shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #6D









Revised: 3/2/2020 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION: 

(From and Issue) 

Destroy election materials from past elections  

 

PRESENTED BY: County Clerk/Elections  

AGENDA DATE: 2/9/2021 

 

BACKGROUND Requesting approval to destroy election materials from past elections.  We 

recommend Brooke Koehn and Alisha Johnson to be the electors present to serve 

as witness for this process.  The materials are from the 2018 Gubernatorial 

Election.  Sonoco is where this will occur. 

 

ALTERNATIVE Take the material to the county landfill. 

 

RECOMMENDATION Approval in accordance with Kansas Statute 25-2708 

 

FISCAL IMPACT There is no county fiscal impact. 

 

 

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #6E



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
01/27/2021

RESOLUTION NO. [_____]

OF

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

ADOPTED

FEBRUARY 9, 2021

____________________

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7A

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
2021-06



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Definitions of Words and Terms................................................................................... 2

ARTICLE II AUTHORIZATION AND DETAILS OF THE BONDS

Authorization of the Bonds. ........................................................................................ 10
Description of the Bonds............................................................................................. 10
Designation of Paying Agent and Bond Registrar. ..................................................... 10
Method and Place of Payment of the Bonds. .............................................................. 11
Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. ................................................. 12
Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds........................................................... 12
Execution, Registration, Authentication and Delivery of Bonds. ............................... 13
Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. .............................................................. 13
Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment.............................................. 14
Book-Entry Bonds; Securities Depository. ................................................................. 14
Nonpresentment of Bonds........................................................................................... 15
Preliminary and Final Official Statement. .................................................................. 15
Sale of the Bonds – Bond Purchase Agreement.......................................................... 15

ARTICLE III REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Redemption by Issuer.................................................................................................. 16
Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed............................................................................ 17
Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption. ................................................................. 18

ARTICLE IV SECURITY FOR BONDS

Security for the Bonds................................................................................................. 19
Levy and Collection of Annual Tax; Transfer to Debt Service Account. ................... 20

ARTICLE V ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

DEPOSIT AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS

Creation of Funds and Accounts. ................................................................................ 20
Deposit of Bond Proceeds........................................................................................... 20
Application of Moneys in the Improvement Fund; Redemption of Refunded Notes. 21
Substitution of Improvements; Reallocation of Proceeds. .......................................... 21
Application of Moneys in the Redemption Fund. ....................................................... 21
Application of Moneys in Debt Service Account. ...................................................... 22
Deposits and Investment of Moneys. .......................................................................... 22
Application of Moneys in the Costs of Issuance Account. ......................................... 22

ARTICLE VI DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Remedies..................................................................................................................... 22
Limitation on Rights of Owners.................................................................................. 23



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

ii

Remedies Cumulative. ................................................................................................ 23

ARTICLE VII DEFEASANCE

Defeasance. ................................................................................................................. 23

ARTICLE VIII TAX COVENANTS

General Covenants. ..................................................................................................... 24
Survival of Covenants. ................................................................................................ 24

ARTICLE IX CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

Disclosure Requirements. ........................................................................................... 24
Failure to Comply with Continuing Disclosure Requirements. .................................. 25

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Annual Audit............................................................................................................... 25
Amendments. .............................................................................................................. 25
Notices, Consents and Other Instruments by Owners................................................. 26
Notices. ....................................................................................................................... 27
Electronic Transactions............................................................................................... 27
Further Authority. ....................................................................................................... 27
Severability. ................................................................................................................ 27
Governing Law. .......................................................................................................... 27
Effective Date. ............................................................................................................ 27

EXHIBIT A – FORM OF BONDS ............................................................................................................A-1

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

1

RESOLUTION NO. [_____]

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE ISSUANCE, SALE
AND DELIVERY OF GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND
IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2021, OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS;
PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL TAX FOR
THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON SAID
BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS AND
AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT AND SECURITY
THEREOF; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND
ACTIONS CONNECTED THEREWITH.

WHEREAS, Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”) is a political subdivision, duly created, organized
and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the laws of the State of Kansas applicable thereto, by proceedings duly
had, the Commission of the Issuer (the “Governing Body”) has authorized the following improvements (the
“Improvements”) to be made in the Issuer, to-wit:

Project Description Ord./Res. No. Authority (K.S.A.) Amount
Repair or reconstruct, and replace and
rebuild certain bridges

2019-20; as
amended by

2020-08

68-1103 et seq. $7,850,000

Courthouse improvements 2020-30 Charter Res. No. XXV,
19-101 et seq.

3,515,000

Refuse disposal improvements 2020-31 19-2658 et seq. 4,940,000

; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Body is authorized by law to issue the general obligation bonds of the
Issuer to pay costs of the Improvements; and

WHEREAS, none of such general obligation bonds heretofore authorized have been issued and
the Issuer proposes to issue its general obligation bonds to pay costs of the Improvements; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer heretofore issued and has Outstanding the Refunded Bonds and is
authorized by K.S.A. 10-427 et seq. to issue general obligation refunding bonds of the Issuer for the purpose
of refunding the Refunded Bonds; and

WHEREAS, in order to achieve interest cost savings through early redemption of the Refunded
Bonds, and provide an orderly plan of finance for the Issuer, it has become desirable and in the best interest
of the Issuer and its inhabitants to authorize the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in order to provide funds
to refund the Refunded Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Body hereby finds and determines that it is necessary for the Issuer to
authorize the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in the principal amount of $11,995,000* to pay costs of
the Improvements and refund the Refunded Bonds.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE RENO COUNTY OF RENO COUNTY,
KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS:

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
2021-06



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

2

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Definitions of Words and Terms. In addition to words and terms defined
elsewhere herein, the following words and terms as used in this Bond Resolution shall have the meanings
hereinafter set forth.  Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall
include the plural and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and
corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.

“Act” means the Constitution and statutes of the State including K.S.A. 10-101 to 10-125,
inclusive, K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., Charter Resolution No. XXV of the Issuer, K.S.A. 19-101 et seq., K.S.A.
68-1103 et seq., K.S.A 19-2658 et seq. and K.S.A. 10-427 et seq., all as amended and supplemented from
time to time.

“Authorized Denomination” means $5,000 or any integral multiples thereof.

“Beneficial Owner” of the Bonds includes any Owner of the Bonds and any other Person who,
directly or indirectly has the investment power with respect to such Bonds.

“Bond and Interest Fund” means the Bond and Interest Fund of the Issuer for its general
obligation bonds.

“Bond Counsel” means the firm of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., or any other attorney or firm of attorneys
whose expertise in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by states and their political subdivisions
is nationally recognized and acceptable to the Issuer.

“Bond Payment Date” means any date on which principal of or interest on any Bond is payable.

“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the Bond Purchase Agreement dated as of February 9, 2021,
between the Issuer and the Purchaser.

“Bond Register” means the books for the registration, transfer and exchange of Bonds kept at the
office of the Bond Registrar.

“Bond Registrar” means the State Treasurer, Topeka, Kansas and any successors and assigns.

“Bond Resolution” means this resolution relating to the Bonds.

“Bonds” or “Bond” means the General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series
2021, authorized and issued by the Issuer pursuant to this Bond Resolution.

“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any day designated as a holiday by
the Congress of the United States or by the Legislature of the State and on which the Paying Agent is
scheduled in the normal course of its operations to be open to the public for conduct of its operations.

“Cede & Co.” means Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC and any successor nominee of DTC.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

3

“Chairman” means the duly elected and acting Chairman, or in the Chairman's absence, the duly
appointed and/or elected Vice Chairman or Acting Chairman of the Issuer.

“Clerk” means the duly appointed and/or elected Clerk or, in the Clerk's absence, the duly
appointed Deputy Clerk or Acting Clerk of the Issuer.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable regulations
promulgated thereunder by the United States Department of the Treasury.

“Consulting Engineer” means an independent engineer or engineering firm, or architect or
architectural firm, having a favorable reputation for skill and experience in the construction, financing and
operation of public facilities, at the time employed by the Issuer for the purpose of carrying out the duties
imposed on the Consulting Engineer by this Bond Resolution.

“Costs of Issuance” means all costs of issuing the Bonds, including but not limited to all
publication, printing, signing and mailing expenses in connection therewith, registration fees, financial
advisory fees, all legal fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and other legal counsel, expenses incurred in
connection with compliance with the Code, all expenses incurred in connection with receiving ratings on
the Bonds, and any premiums or expenses incurred in obtaining municipal bond insurance on the Bonds.

“Costs of Issuance Account” means the Costs of Issuance Account for General Obligation
Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021 created pursuant to Section 501 hereof.

“County” means Reno County, Kansas.

“Dated Date” means February 25, 2021.

“Debt Service Account” means the Debt Service Account for General Obligation Refunding and
Improvement Bonds, Series 2021 created within the Bond and Interest Fund pursuant to Section 501 hereof.

“Debt Service Requirements” means the aggregate principal payments (whether at maturity or
pursuant to scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements) and interest payments on the
Bonds for the period of time for which calculated; provided, however, that for purposes of calculating such
amount, principal and interest shall be excluded from the determination of Debt Service Requirements to
the extent that such principal or interest is payable from amounts deposited in trust, escrowed or otherwise
set aside for the payment thereof with the Paying Agent or other commercial bank or trust company located
in the State and having full trust powers.

“Defaulted Interest” means interest on any Bond which is payable but not paid on any Interest
Payment Date.

“Defeasance Obligations” means any of the following obligations:

(a) United States Government Obligations that are not subject to redemption in advance of
their maturity dates; or

(b) obligations of any state or political subdivision of any state, the interest on which is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and which meet the following conditions:

(1) the obligations are (i) not subject to redemption prior to maturity or (ii) the trustee
for such obligations has been given irrevocable instructions concerning their calling and



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

4

redemption and the issuer of such obligations has covenanted not to redeem such obligations other
than as set forth in such instructions;

(2) the obligations are secured by cash or United States Government Obligations that
may be applied only to principal of, premium, if any, and interest payments on such obligations;

(3) such cash and the principal of and interest on such United States Government
Obligations (plus any cash in the escrow fund) are sufficient to meet the liabilities of the
obligations;

(4) such cash and United States Government Obligations serving as security for the
obligations are held in an escrow fund by an escrow agent or a trustee irrevocably in trust;

(5) such cash and United States Government Obligations are not available to satisfy
any other claims, including those against the trustee or escrow agent; and

(6) such obligations are rated in a rating category by Moody's or Standard & Poor's
that is no lower than the rating category then assigned by that Rating Agency to United States
Government Obligations.

“Derivative” means any investment instrument whose market price is derived from the fluctuating
value of an underlying asset, index, currency, futures contract, including futures, options and collateralized
mortgage obligations.

“Disclosure Undertaking” means the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, dated as of the Dated
Date, relating to certain obligations contained in the SEC Rule.

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, a limited-purpose trust company organized under the
laws of the State of New York, and its successors and assigns, including any successor securities depository
duly appointed.

“DTC Representation Letter” means the Blanket Letter of Representation from the Issuer and the
Paying Agent to DTC which provides for a book-entry system, or any agreement between the Issuer and
Paying Agent and a successor securities depository duly appointed.

“Event of Default” means each of the following occurrences or events:

(a) Payment of the principal and of the redemption premium, if any, of any of the Bonds shall
not be made when the same shall become due and payable, either at Stated Maturity or by proceedings for
redemption or otherwise;

(b) Payment of any installment of interest on any of the Bonds shall not be made when the
same shall become due; or

(c) The Issuer shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants,
conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in this Bond Resolution (other than the
covenants relating to continuing disclosure requirements contained herein and in the Disclosure
Undertaking) on the part of the Issuer to be performed, and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days
after written notice specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied shall have been given to the
Issuer by the Owner of any of the Bonds then Outstanding.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

5

“Federal Tax Certificate” means the Issuer's Federal Tax Certificate, dated as of the Issue Date,
as the same may be amended or supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof.

“Financeable Costs” means the amount of expenditure for an Improvement which has been duly
authorized by action of the Governing Body to be financed by general obligation bonds, less:  (a) the amount
of any temporary notes or general obligation bonds of the Issuer which are currently Outstanding and
available to pay such Financeable Costs; and (b) any amount of Financeable Costs which has been
previously paid by the Issuer or by any eligible source of funds unless such amounts are entitled to be
reimbursed to the Issuer under State or federal law.

“Fiscal Year” means the twelve month period ending on December 31.

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
New York, and its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer.

“Funds and Accounts” means funds and accounts created pursuant to or referred to in Section 501
hereof.

“Governing Body” means the Commission of the Issuer.

“Improvement Fund” means the Improvement Fund for General Obligation Refunding and
Improvement Bonds, Series 2021 created pursuant to Section 501 hereof.

“Improvements” means the improvements referred to in the preamble to this Bond Resolution and
any Substitute Improvements.

“Independent Accountant” means an independent certified public accountant or firm of
independent certified public accountants at the time employed by the Issuer for the purpose of carrying out
the duties imposed on the Independent Accountant by this Bond Resolution.

“Interest Payment Date(s)” means the Stated Maturity of an installment of interest on any Bond
which shall be March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing September 1, 2021.

“Issue Date” means the date when the Issuer delivers the Bonds to the Purchaser in exchange for
the Purchase Price.

“Issuer” means the County and any successors or assigns.

“Kroll” means Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Delaware, and its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or
liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Kroll” shall be deemed to
refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer.

“Maturity” when used with respect to any Bond means the date on which the principal of such
Bond becomes due and payable as therein and herein provided, whether at the Stated Maturity thereof or
call for redemption or otherwise.

“Moody's” means Moody's Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing under the laws
of the State of Delaware, and its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

6

liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody's” shall be deemed
to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer.

“Notice Address” means with respect to the following entities:

(a) To the Issuer at:

206 West First Street
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501
Fax: (620) 694-2534

(b) To the Paying Agent at:

State Treasurer of the State of Kansas
Landon Office Building
900 Southwest Jackson, Suite 201
Topeka, Kansas  66612-1235
Fax:  (785) 296-6976

(c) To the Purchaser:

Raymond James & Associates, Inc.
1201 Walnut, 21st Floor
Kansas City, Missouri 64106
Fax: (833) 887-8729

(d) To the Rating Agency(ies):

Moody's Municipal Rating Desk
7 World Trade Center
250 Greenwich Street, 23rd Floor
New York, New York  10007

S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc.
55 Water Street, 38th Floor
New York, New York  10004

Fitch Ratings
One State Street Plaza
New York, New York  10004

Kroll Bond Rating Agency
845 Third Avenue, 4th Floor
New York, New York  10022

or such other address as is furnished in writing to the other parties referenced herein.

“Notice Representative” means:

(a) With respect to the Issuer, the Clerk.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

7

(b) With respect to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, the Director of Fiscal Services.

(c) With respect to any Purchaser, the manager of its Municipal Bond Department.

(d) With respect to any Rating Agency, any Vice President thereof.

“Official Statement” means Issuer’s Official Statement relating to the Bonds.

“Outstanding” means, when used with reference to the Bonds, as of a particular date of
determination, all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered, except the following Bonds:

(a) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Paying Agent or delivered to the Paying Agent for
cancellation;

(b) Bonds deemed to be paid in accordance with the provisions of Article VII hereof; and

(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated and
delivered hereunder.

“Owner” when used with respect to any Bond means the Person in whose name such Bond is
registered on the Bond Register.  Whenever consent of the Owners is required pursuant to the terms of this
Bond Resolution, and the Owner of the Bonds, as set forth on the Bond Register, is Cede & Co., the term
Owner shall be deemed to be the Beneficial Owner of the Bonds.

“Participants” means those financial institutions for whom the Securities Depository effects book-
entry transfers and pledges of securities deposited with the Securities Depository, as such listing of
Participants exists at the time of such reference.

“Paying Agent” means the State Treasurer, Topeka, Kansas and any successors and assigns.

“Permitted Investments” shall mean the investments hereinafter described, provided, however,
no moneys or funds shall be invested in a Derivative:  (a) investments authorized by K.S.A. 12-1675 and
amendments thereto; (b) the municipal investment pool established pursuant to K.S.A. 12-1677a, and
amendments thereto; (c) direct obligations of the United States Government or any agency thereof; (d) the
Issuer's temporary notes issued pursuant to K.S.A. 10-123 and amendments thereto; (e) interest-bearing
time deposits in commercial banks or trust companies located in the Issuer which are insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or collateralized by securities described in (c); (f) obligations of the federal
national mortgage association, federal home loan banks, federal home loan mortgage corporation or
government national mortgage association; (g) repurchase agreements for securities described in (c) or (f);
(h) investment agreements or other obligations of a financial institution the obligations of which at the time
of investment are rated in either of the three highest rating categories by Moody's or Standard & Poor's; (i)
investments and shares or units of a money market fund or trust, the portfolio of which is comprised entirely
of securities described in (c) or (f); (j) receipts evidencing ownership interests in securities or portions
thereof described in (c) or (f); (k) municipal bonds or other obligations issued by any municipality of the
State as defined in K.S.A. 10-1101 which are general obligations of the municipality issuing the same; or
(l) bonds of any municipality of the State as defined in K.S.A. 10-1101 which have been refunded in
advance of their maturity and are fully secured as to payment of principal and interest thereon by deposit
in trust, under escrow agreement with a bank, of securities described in (c) or (f), all as may be further
restricted or modified by amendments to applicable State law.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

8

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, firm, joint-
stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision
thereof or other public body.

“Purchase Price” means the amount set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

“Purchaser” means Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Kansas City, Missouri, the original
purchaser of the Bonds, and any successor and assigns.

“Rating Agency” means any company, agency or entity that provides, pursuant to request of the
Issuer, financial ratings for the Bonds.

“Record Dates” for the interest payable on any Interest Payment Date means the fifteenth day
(whether or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding such Interest Payment Date.

“Redemption Date” means, when used with respect to any Bond to be redeemed, the date fixed
for the redemption of such Bond pursuant to the terms of this Bond Resolution.

“Redemption Fund” means the Redemption Fund for Refunded Bonds created pursuant to Section
501 hereof.

“Redemption Price” means, when used with respect to any Bond to be redeemed, the price at
which such Bond is to be redeemed pursuant to the terms of this Bond Resolution, including the applicable
redemption premium, if any, but excluding installments of interest whose Stated Maturity is on or before
the Redemption Date.

“Refunded Bonds” means the Series 2010 Bonds maturing in the years 2021 to 2025, inclusive,
in the aggregate principal amount of $70,000.

“Refunded Bonds Paying Agent” means the  paying agent for the Refunded Bonds as designated
in the Refunded Bonds Resolution, and any successor or successors at the time acting as paying agent of
the Refunded Bonds.

“Refunded Bonds Redemption Date” means March 1, 2021.

“Refunded Bonds Resolution” means the resolution which authorized the Refunded Bonds.

“Refunded Notes” means the Series 2019 Notes maturing in the year 2021, in the aggregate
principal amount of $6,250,000.

“Refunded Notes Paying Agent” means the paying agent for the Refunded Notes as designated
in the Refunded Notes Resolution, and any successor or successors at the time acting as paying agent of the
Refunded Notes.

“Refunded Notes Redemption Date” means March 1, 2021.

“Refunded Notes Resolution” means the resolution which authorized the Refunded Notes.

“Replacement Bonds” means Bonds issued to the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds in accordance
with Section 213 hereof.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

9

“SEC Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

“Securities Depository” means, initially, DTC, and its successors and assigns.

“Series 2010 Bonds” means the Issuer's General Obligation Bonds, Series 2010, dated May 15,
2010.

“Series 2019 Notes” means the Issuer's General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2019, dated
December 5, 2019.

“Special Record Date” means the date fixed by the Paying Agent pursuant to Article II hereof for
the payment of Defaulted Interest.

“Standard & Poor's” or “S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, and its successors and assigns,
and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities
rating agency, Standard & Poor's shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating
agency designated by the Issuer.

“State” means the state of Kansas.

“State Treasurer” means the duly elected Treasurer or, in the Treasurer's absence, the duly
appointed Deputy Treasurer or acting Treasurer of the State.

“Stated Maturity” when used with respect to any Bond or any installment of interest thereon
means the date specified in such Bond and this Bond Resolution as the fixed date on which the principal of
such Bond or such installment of interest is due and payable.

“Substitute Improvements” means the substitute or additional improvements of the Issuer
described in Article V hereof.

[ “____ Term Bonds” means the Bonds scheduled to mature in the year ____.]

[ “Term Bonds” means collectively the [____] Term Bonds[, the [____] Term Bonds] and the 20__
Term Bonds.]

“Treasurer” means the duly appointed and/or elected Treasurer of the Issuer or, in the Treasurer's
absence, the duly appointed Deputy Treasurer or acting Treasurer of the Issuer.

“United States Government Obligations” means bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness,
treasury bills or other securities constituting direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest
on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed as to full and timely payment by, the United States of
America, including evidences of a direct ownership interest in future interest or principal payment on
obligations issued by the United States of America (including the interest component of obligations of the
Resolution Funding Corporation), or securities which represent an undivided interest in such obligations,
which obligations are rated in the highest rating category by a nationally recognized rating service and such
obligations are held in a custodial account for the benefit of the Issuer.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

10

ARTICLE II

AUTHORIZATION AND DETAILS OF THE BONDS

Authorization of the Bonds. There shall be issued and hereby are authorized and
directed to be issued the General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021, of the Issuer
in the principal amount of $11,995,000*, for the purpose of providing funds to:  (a) pay costs of the
Improvements; (b) pay Costs of Issuance; (c) retire the Refunded Notes; and (d) refund the Refunded Bonds.

Description of the Bonds. The Bonds shall consist of fully registered bonds in an
Authorized Denomination, and shall be numbered in such manner as the Bond Registrar shall determine.
All of the Bonds shall be dated as of the Dated Date, shall become due in the amounts, on the Stated
Maturities, subject to redemption and payment prior to their Stated Maturities as provided in Article III
hereof, and shall bear interest at the rates per annum as follows:

SERIAL BONDS

Stated Maturity
September 1

Principal
Amount

Annual Rate
of Interest

Stated Maturity
September 1

Principal
Amount

Annual Rate
of Interest

2021 $135,000 _______% 2029 $650,000 _______%
2022 920,000 _______% 2030 670,000 _______%
2023 1,040,000 _______% 2031 700,000 _______%
2024 1,085,000 _______% 2032 725,000 _______%
2025 1,120,000 _______% 2033 755,000 _______%
2026 575,000 _______% 2034 775,000 _______%
2027 600,000 _______% 2035 800,000 _______%
2028 620,000 _______% 2036 825,000 _______%

[TERM BONDS

Stated Maturity
September 1

Principal
Amount

Annual Rate
of Interest

20__ $_______ _____%]

The Bonds shall bear interest at the above specified rates (computed on the basis of a 360-day year
of twelve 30-day months) from the later of the Dated Date or the most recent Interest Payment Date to
which interest has been paid on the Interest Payment Dates in the manner set forth in Section 204 hereof.

Each of the Bonds, as originally issued or issued upon transfer, exchange or substitution, shall be
printed in accordance with the format required by the Attorney General of the State and shall be
substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A or as may be required by the Attorney General
pursuant to the Notice of Systems of Registration for Kansas Municipal Bonds, 2 Kan. Reg. 921 (1983), in
accordance with the Kansas Bond Registration Law, K.S.A. 10-620 et seq.

Designation of Paying Agent and Bond Registrar. The State Treasurer, Topeka,
Kansas, is hereby designated as the Paying Agent for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds
and Bond Registrar with respect to the registration, transfer and exchange of Bonds.  The Chairman of the
Issuer is hereby authorized and empowered to execute on behalf of the Issuer an agreement with the Bond
Registrar and Paying Agent for the Bonds.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

11

The Issuer will at all times maintain a Paying Agent and Bond Registrar meeting the qualifications
herein described for the performance of the duties hereunder.  The Issuer reserves the right to appoint a
successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar by (a) filing with the Paying Agent or Bond Registrar then
performing such function a certified copy of the proceedings giving notice of the termination of such Paying
Agent or Bond Registrar and appointing a successor, and (b) causing notice of appointment of the successor
Paying Agent and Bond Registrar to be given by first class mail to each Owner.  No resignation or removal
of the Paying Agent or Bond Registrar shall become effective until a successor has been appointed and has
accepted the duties of Paying Agent or Bond Registrar.

Every Paying Agent or Bond Registrar appointed hereunder shall at all times meet the requirements
of K.S.A. 10-501 et seq. and K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., respectively.

Method and Place of Payment of the Bonds. The principal of, or Redemption
Price, and interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency which, on the respective dates of
payment thereof, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

The principal or Redemption Price of each Bond shall be paid at Maturity to the Person in whose
name such Bond is registered on the Bond Register at the Maturity thereof, upon presentation and surrender
of such Bond at the principal office of the Paying Agent.

The interest payable on each Bond on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the Owner of such
Bond as shown on the Bond Register at the close of business on the Record Date for such interest (a) by
check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the address of such Owner shown on the Bond Register or at
such other address as is furnished to the Paying Agent in writing by such Owner; or (b) in the case of an
interest payment to Cede & Co. or any Owner of $500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds,
by electronic transfer to such Owner upon written notice given to the Bond Registrar by such Owner, not
less than 15 days prior to the Record Date for such interest, containing the electronic transfer instructions
including the bank ABA routing number and account number to which such Owner wishes to have such
transfer directed.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, any Defaulted Interest with respect to
any Bond shall cease to be payable to the Owner of such Bond on the relevant Record Date and shall be
payable to the Owner in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on the Special Record
Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which Special Record Date shall be fixed as hereinafter
specified in this paragraph.  The Issuer shall notify the Paying Agent in writing of the amount of Defaulted
Interest proposed to be paid on each Bond and the date of the proposed payment (which date shall be at
least 30 days after receipt of such notice by the Paying Agent) and shall deposit with the Paying Agent at
the time of such notice an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect
of such Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Paying Agent for such deposit
prior to the date of the proposed payment.  Following receipt of such funds the Paying Agent shall fix a
Special Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest which shall be not more than 15 nor less
than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment.  The Paying Agent shall promptly notify the Issuer
of such Special Record Date and, in the name and at the expense of the Issuer, shall cause notice of the
proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and the Special Record Date therefore to be mailed, by first
class mail, postage prepaid, to each Owner of a Bond entitled to such notice at the address of such Owner
as it appears on the Bond Register not less than 10 days prior to such Special Record Date.

The Paying Agent shall keep a record of payment of principal and Redemption Price of and interest
on all Bonds and at least annually shall forward a copy or summary of such records to the Issuer.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

12

Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. In any case where a Bond
Payment Date is not a Business Day, then payment of principal, Redemption Price or interest need not be
made on such Bond Payment Date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same
force and effect as if made on such Bond Payment Date, and no interest shall accrue for the period after
such Bond Payment Date.

Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds. The Issuer covenants that, as
long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, it will cause the Bond Register to be kept at the office of the
Bond Registrar as herein provided.  Each Bond when issued shall be registered in the name of the Owner
thereof on the Bond Register.

Bonds may be transferred and exchanged only on the Bond Register as provided in this Section.
Upon surrender of any Bond at the principal office of the Bond Registrar, the Bond Registrar shall transfer
or exchange such Bond for a new Bond or Bonds in any Authorized Denomination of the same Stated
Maturity and in the same aggregate principal amount as the Bond that was presented for transfer or
exchange.

Bonds presented for transfer or exchange shall be accompanied by a written instrument or
instruments of transfer or authorization for exchange, in a form and with guarantee of signature satisfactory
to the Bond Registrar, duly executed by the Owner thereof or by the Owner's duly authorized agent.

In all cases in which the privilege of transferring or exchanging Bonds is exercised, the Bond
Registrar shall authenticate and deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Bond Resolution.
The Issuer shall pay the fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar for the registration, transfer and exchange
of Bonds provided for by this Bond Resolution and the cost of printing a reasonable supply of registered
bond blanks.  Any additional costs or fees that might be incurred in the secondary market, other than fees
of the Bond Registrar, are the responsibility of the Owners of the Bonds.  In the event any Owner fails to
provide a correct taxpayer identification number to the Paying Agent, the Paying Agent may make a charge
against such Owner sufficient to pay any governmental charge required to be paid as a result of such failure.
In compliance with Code § 3406, such amount may be deducted by the Paying Agent from amounts
otherwise payable to such Owner hereunder or under the Bonds.

The Issuer and the Bond Registrar shall not be required (a) to register the transfer or exchange of
any Bond that has been called for redemption after notice of such redemption has been mailed by the Paying
Agent pursuant to Article III hereof and during the period of 15 days next preceding the date of mailing of
such notice of redemption; or (b) to register the transfer or exchange of any Bond during a period beginning
at the opening of business on the day after receiving written notice from the Issuer of its intent to pay
Defaulted Interest and ending at the close of business on the date fixed for the payment of Defaulted Interest
pursuant to this Article II.

The Issuer and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Bond is
registered on the Bond Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond, whether such Bond is overdue or not,
for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or Redemption Price of and interest
on said Bond and for all other purposes.  All payments so made to any such Owner or upon the Owner's
order shall be valid and effective to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the
sum or sums so paid, and neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the
contrary.

At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations established by the Bond Registrar, the Bond
Register may be inspected and copied by the Owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 10% or



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

13

more in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or any designated representative of such Owners
whose authority is evidenced to the satisfaction of the Bond Registrar.

Execution, Registration, Authentication and Delivery of Bonds. Each of the
Bonds, including any Bonds issued in exchange or as substitutions for the Bonds initially delivered, shall
be executed for and on behalf of the Issuer by the manual, electronic or facsimile signature of the Chairman,
attested by the manual, electronic or facsimile signature of the Clerk, and the seal of the Issuer shall be
affixed thereto or imprinted thereon.  The Chairman and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to prepare
and execute the Bonds in the manner herein specified, and to cause the Bonds to be registered in the office
of the Clerk, which registration shall be evidenced by the manual, electronic or facsimile signature of the
Clerk with the seal of the Issuer affixed thereto or imprinted thereon.  The Bonds shall also be registered in
the office of the State Treasurer, which registration shall be evidenced by the manual, electronic or facsimile
signature of the State Treasurer with the seal of the State Treasurer affixed thereto or imprinted thereon.  In
case any officer whose signature appears on any Bonds ceases to be such officer before the delivery of such
Bonds, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, as if such person had
remained in office until delivery.  Any Bond may be signed by such persons who at the actual time of the
execution of such Bond are the proper officers to sign such Bond although at the date of such Bond such
persons may not have been such officers.

The Chairman and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to prepare and execute the Bonds as
herein specified, and when duly executed, to deliver the Bonds to the Bond Registrar for authentication.

The Bonds shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form
attached hereto as EXHIBIT A hereof, which shall be manually executed by an authorized officer or
employee of the Bond Registrar, but it shall not be necessary that the same officer or employee sign the
certificate of authentication on all of the Bonds that may be issued hereunder at any one time.  No Bond
shall be entitled to any security or benefit under this Bond Resolution or be valid or obligatory for any
purpose unless and until such certificate of authentication has been duly executed by the Bond Registrar.
Such executed certificate of authentication upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has
been duly authenticated and delivered under this Bond Resolution.  Upon authentication, the Bond Registrar
shall deliver the Bonds to the Purchaser upon instructions of the Issuer or its representative.

Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. If (a) any mutilated Bond is
surrendered to the Bond Registrar or the Bond Registrar receives evidence to its satisfaction of the
destruction, loss or theft of any Bond, and (b) there is delivered to the Issuer and the Bond Registrar such
security or indemnity as may be required by each of them, then, in the absence of notice to the Issuer or the
Bond Registrar that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Issuer shall execute and,
upon the Issuer's request, the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of
any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond, a new Bond of the same Stated Maturity and of like
tenor and principal amount.

If any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond has become or is about to become due and
payable, the Issuer, in its discretion, may pay such Bond instead of issuing a new Bond.

Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this Section, the Issuer and the Paying Agent may require
the payment by the Owner of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be
imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent)
connected therewith.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

14

Every new Bond issued pursuant to this Section shall constitute a replacement of the prior
obligation of the Issuer, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Bond Resolution equally and ratably
with all other Outstanding Bonds.

Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment. All Bonds that have
been paid or redeemed or that otherwise have been surrendered to the Paying Agent, either at or before
Maturity, shall be cancelled by the Paying Agent immediately upon the payment, redemption and surrender
thereof to the Paying Agent and subsequently destroyed in accordance with the customary practices of the
Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent shall execute a certificate in duplicate describing the Bonds so cancelled
and destroyed and shall file an executed counterpart of such certificate with the Issuer.

Book-Entry Bonds; Securities Depository. The Issuer and Paying Agent have
entered into a DTC Representation Letter with DTC.  The Bonds shall initially be registered to Cede & Co.,
the nominee for the Securities Depository, and no Beneficial Owner will receive certificates representing
their respective interests in the Bonds, except in the event the Bond Registrar issues Replacement Bonds as
provided in this Section.  It is anticipated that during the term of the Bonds, the Securities Depository will
make book-entry transfers among its Participants and receive and transmit payment of principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on, the Bonds to the Participants until and unless the Bond Registrar
authenticates and delivers Replacement Bonds to the Beneficial Owners as described in the following
paragraph.

The Issuer may decide, subject to the requirements of the Operational Arrangements of DTC (or a
successor Securities Depository), and the following provisions of this section to discontinue use of the
system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor Securities Depository):

(a) If the Issuer determines (1) that the Securities Depository is unable to properly discharge
its responsibilities, or (2) that the Securities Depository is no longer qualified to act as a securities depository
and registered clearing agency under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or (3) that the
continuation of a book-entry system to the exclusion of any Bonds being issued to any Owner other than
Cede & Co. is no longer in the best interests of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; or

(b) if the Bond Registrar receives written notice from Participants having interests in not less
than 50% of the Bonds Outstanding, as shown on the records of the Securities Depository (and certified to
such effect by the Securities Depository), that the continuation of a book-entry system to the exclusion of
any Bonds being issued to any Owner other than Cede & Co. is no longer in the best interests of the
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, then the Bond Registrar shall notify the Owners of such determination or
such notice and of the availability of certificates to Owners requesting the same, and the Bond Registrar
shall register in the name of and authenticate and deliver Replacement Bonds to the Beneficial Owners or
their nominees in principal amounts representing the interest of each, making such adjustments as it may
find necessary or appropriate as to accrued interest and previous calls for redemption; provided, that in the
case of a determination under (a)(1) or (a)(2) of this paragraph, the Issuer, with the consent of the Bond
Registrar, may select a successor securities depository in accordance with the following paragraph to effect
book-entry transfers.

In such event, all references to the Securities Depository herein shall relate to the period of time
when the Securities Depository has possession of at least one Bond.  Upon the issuance of Replacement
Bonds, all references herein to obligations imposed upon or to be performed by the Securities Depository
shall be deemed to be imposed upon and performed by the Bond Registrar, to the extent applicable with
respect to such Replacement Bonds.  If the Securities Depository resigns and the Issuer, the Bond Registrar
or Owners are unable to locate a qualified successor of the Securities Depository in accordance with the
following paragraph, then the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and cause delivery of Replacement Bonds



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

15

to Owners, as provided herein.  The Bond Registrar may rely on information from the Securities Depository
and its Participants as to the names of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.  The cost of printing, registration,
authentication, and delivery of Replacement Bonds shall be paid for by the Issuer.

In the event the Securities Depository resigns, is unable to properly discharge its responsibilities,
or is no longer qualified to act as a securities depository and registered clearing agency under the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Issuer may appoint a successor Securities Depository provided
the Bond Registrar receives written evidence satisfactory to the Bond Registrar with respect to the ability
of the successor Securities Depository to discharge its responsibilities.  Any such successor Securities
Depository shall be a securities depository which is a registered clearing agency under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or other applicable statute or regulation that operates a securities
depository upon reasonable and customary terms.  The Bond Registrar upon its receipt of a Bond or Bonds
for cancellation shall cause the delivery of Bonds to the successor Securities Depository in an Authorized
Denominations and form as provided herein.

Nonpresentment of Bonds. If any Bond is not presented for payment when the
principal thereof becomes due at Maturity, if funds sufficient to pay such Bond have been made available
to the Paying Agent all liability of the Issuer to the Owner thereof for the payment of such Bond shall
forthwith cease, determine and be completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Paying
Agent to hold such funds, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Owner of such Bond,
who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds for any claim of whatever nature on his part
under this Bond Resolution or on, or with respect to, said Bond.  If any Bond is not presented for payment
within four (4) years following the date when such Bond becomes due at Maturity, the Paying Agent shall
repay, without liability for interest thereon, to the Issuer the funds theretofore held by it for payment of such
Bond, and such Bond shall, subject to the defense of any applicable statute of limitation, thereafter be an
unsecured obligation of the Issuer, and the Owner thereof shall be entitled to look only to the Issuer for
payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid to it by the Paying Agent, and the Issuer shall
not be liable for any interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money.

Preliminary and Final Official Statement. The Preliminary Official Statement
dated January 22, 2021, is hereby ratified and approved.

The Official Statement is hereby authorized to be prepared by supplementing, amending and
completing the Preliminary Official Statement, with such changes and additions thereto as are necessary to
conform to and describe the transaction.  The Chairman and Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the
Official Statement as so supplemented, amended and completed, and the use and public distribution of the
Official Statement by the Purchaser in connection with the reoffering of the Bonds is hereby authorized.
The proper officials of the Issuer are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a certificate pertaining to
such Official Statement as prescribed therein, dated as of the Issue Date.

The Issuer agrees to provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the date of the sale of
Bonds sufficient copies of the Official Statement to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirements
of the SEC Rule and Rule G-32 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

Sale of the Bonds – Bond Purchase Agreement. The execution of the Bond
Purchase Agreement by the Chairman is hereby ratified and confirmed. Pursuant to the Bond Purchase
Agreement, the Issuer agrees to sell the Bonds to the Purchaser for the Purchase Price, upon the terms and
conditions set forth therein.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

16

ARTICLE III

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Redemption by Issuer.

Optional Redemption.  At the option of the Issuer, Bonds maturing on September 1 in the years
2029, and thereafter, will be subject to redemption and payment prior to their Stated Maturity on
September 1, 2028, and thereafter, as a whole or in part (selection of maturities and the amount of Bonds
of each maturity to be redeemed to be determined by the Issuer in such equitable manner as it may
determine) at any time, at the Redemption Price of 100% (expressed as a percentage of the principal
amount), plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date.

[ Mandatory Redemption. [(a) [____] Term Bonds.]  The [____] Term Bonds shall be subject to
mandatory redemption and payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption
requirements of this Section at a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest to the Redemption Date.  The taxes levied in Article IV hereof which are to be deposited
into the Debt Service Account shall be sufficient to redeem, and the Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in
each year, the following principal amounts of such [____] Term Bonds:

Principal
Amount Year

$

*
_______________

*Final Maturity

[ (b) [____] Term Bonds.  The [____] Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption
and payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption requirements of this Section at
a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption
Date.  The taxes levied in Article IV hereof which are to be deposited into the Debt Service Account shall
be sufficient to redeem, and the Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in each year, the following principal
amounts of such [____] Term Bonds:

Principal
Amount Year

$

[____]*
_______________

*Final Maturity]

[ (c) 20__ Term Bonds.]  The 20__ Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption and
payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption requirements of this Section at a
Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption
Date.  The taxes levied in Article IV hereof which are to be deposited into the Debt Service Account shall
be sufficient to redeem, and the Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in each year, the following principal
amounts of such 20__ Term Bonds:



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

17

Principal
Amount Year

$

20__*
_______________

*Final Maturity]

At its option, to be exercised on or before the 45th day next preceding any mandatory Redemption
Date, the Issuer may:  (1) deliver to the Paying Agent for cancellation Term Bonds subject to mandatory
redemption on said mandatory Redemption Date, in any aggregate principal amount desired; or (2) furnish
the Paying Agent funds, together with appropriate instructions, for the purpose of purchasing any Term
Bonds subject to mandatory redemption on said mandatory Redemption Date from any Owner thereof
whereupon the Paying Agent shall expend such funds for such purpose to such extent as may be practical;
or (3) receive a credit with respect to the mandatory redemption obligation of the Issuer under this Section
for any Term Bonds subject to mandatory redemption on said mandatory Redemption Date which, prior to
such date, have been redeemed (other than through the operation of the mandatory redemption requirements
of this subsection) and cancelled by the Paying Agent and not theretofore applied as a credit against any
redemption obligation under this subsection.  Each Term Bond so delivered or previously purchased or
redeemed shall be credited at 100% of the principal amount thereof on the obligation of the Issuer to redeem
Term Bonds of the same Stated Maturity on such mandatory Redemption Date, and any excess of such
amount shall be credited on future mandatory redemption obligations for Term Bonds of the same Stated
Maturity as designated by the Issuer, and the principal amount of Term Bonds to be redeemed by operation
of the requirements of this Section shall be accordingly reduced.  If the Issuer intends to exercise any option
granted by the provisions of clauses (1), (2) or (3) above, the Issuer will, on or before the 45th day next
preceding each mandatory Redemption Date, furnish the Paying Agent a written certificate indicating to
what extent the provisions of said clauses (1), (2) and (3) are to be complied with, with respect to such
mandatory redemption payment.]

Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed. Bonds shall be redeemed only in an
Authorized Denomination.  When less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed and paid prior to their Stated
Maturity, such Bonds shall be redeemed in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.  Bonds of less than
a full Stated Maturity shall be selected by the Bond Registrar in a minimum Authorized Denomination of
principal amount in such equitable manner as the Bond Registrar may determine.

In the case of a partial redemption of Bonds by lot when Bonds of denominations greater than a
minimum Authorized Denomination are then Outstanding, then for all purposes in connection with such
redemption a minimum Authorized Denomination of face value shall be treated as though it were a separate
Bond of the denomination of a minimum Authorized Denomination.  If it is determined that one or more,
but not all, of a minimum Authorized Denomination of face value represented by any Bond is selected for
redemption, then upon notice of intention to redeem a minimum Authorized Denomination, the Owner or
the Owner’s duly authorized agent shall forthwith present and surrender such Bond to the Bond Registrar:
(1) for payment of the Redemption Price and interest to the Redemption Date of a minimum Authorized
Denomination of face value called for redemption, and (2) for exchange, without charge to the Owner
thereof, for a new Bond or Bonds of the aggregate principal amount of the unredeemed portion of the
principal amount of such Bond.  If the Owner of any such Bond fails to present such Bond to the Paying
Agent for payment and exchange as aforesaid, such Bond shall, nevertheless, become due and payable on
the redemption date to the extent of a minimum Authorized Denomination of face value called for
redemption (and to that extent only).



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

18

Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption. In the event the Issuer desires to call
the Bonds for redemption prior to maturity, written notice of such intent shall be provided to the Bond
Registrar in accordance with K.S.A. 10-129, as amended, not less than 45 days prior to the Redemption
Date.  The Bond Registrar shall call Bonds for redemption and payment and shall give notice of such
redemption as herein provided upon receipt by the Bond Registrar at least 45 days prior to the Redemption
Date of written instructions of the Issuer specifying the principal amount, Stated Maturities, Redemption
Date and Redemption Prices of the Bonds to be called for redemption. [The foregoing provisions of this
paragraph shall not apply in the case of any mandatory redemption of Term Bonds hereunder, and Term
Bonds shall be called by the Paying Agent for redemption pursuant to such mandatory redemption
requirements without the necessity of any action by the Issuer and whether or not the Paying Agent holds
moneys available and sufficient to effect the required redemption.]

Unless waived by any Owner of Bonds to be redeemed, if the Issuer shall call any Bonds for
redemption and payment prior to the Stated Maturity thereof, the Issuer shall give written notice of its
intention to call and pay said Bonds to the Bond Registrar and the Purchaser.  In addition, the Issuer shall
cause the Bond Registrar to give written notice of redemption to the Owners of said Bonds.  Each of said
written notices shall be deposited in the United States first class mail not less than 30 days prior to the
Redemption Date.

All official notices of redemption shall be dated and shall contain the following information:

(a) the Redemption Date;

(b) the Redemption Price;

(c) if less than all Outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case
of partial redemption of any Bonds, the respective principal amounts) of the Bonds to be redeemed;

(d) a statement that on the Redemption Date the Redemption Price will become due and
payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for redemption and that interest thereon shall cease
to accrue from and after the Redemption Date; and

(e) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price,
which shall be the principal office of the Paying Agent.

The failure of any Owner to receive notice given as heretofore provided or an immaterial defect
therein shall not invalidate any redemption.

Prior to any Redemption Date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Paying Agent an amount of money
sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of all the Bonds or portions of Bonds that are to be redeemed on
such Redemption Date.

For so long as the Securities Depository is effecting book-entry transfers of the Bonds, the Bond
Registrar shall provide the notices specified in this Section to the Securities Depository.  It is expected that
the Securities Depository shall, in turn, notify its Participants and that the Participants, in turn, will notify
or cause to be notified the Beneficial Owners.  Any failure on the part of the Securities Depository or a
Participant, or failure on the part of a nominee of a Beneficial Owner of a Bond (having been mailed notice
from the Bond Registrar, the Securities Depository, a Participant or otherwise) to notify the Beneficial
Owner of the Bond so affected, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of such Bond.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

19

Official notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, the Bonds or portions of Bonds to be
redeemed shall become due and payable on the Redemption Date, at the Redemption Price therein specified,
and from and after the Redemption Date (unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the Redemption Price)
such Bonds or portion of Bonds shall cease to bear interest. Upon surrender of such Bonds for redemption
in accordance with such notice, the Redemption Price of such Bonds shall be paid by the Paying Agent.
Installments of interest due on or prior to the Redemption Date shall be payable as herein provided for
payment of interest.  Upon surrender for any partial redemption of any Bond, there shall be prepared for
the Owner a new Bond or Bonds of the same Stated Maturity in the amount of the unpaid principal as
provided herein.  All Bonds that have been surrendered for redemption shall be cancelled and destroyed by
the Paying Agent as provided herein and shall not be reissued.

In addition to the foregoing notice, the Issuer shall provide such notices of redemption as are
required by the Disclosure Undertaking.  Further notice may be given by the Issuer or the Bond Registrar
on behalf of the Issuer as set out below, but no defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or any
portion of such further notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for redemption if official
notice thereof is given as above prescribed:

(a) Each further notice of redemption given hereunder shall contain the information required
above for an official notice of redemption plus (1) the CUSIP numbers of all Bonds being redeemed; (2)
the date of issue of the Bonds as originally issued; (3) the rate of interest borne by each Bond being
redeemed; (4) the maturity date of each Bond being redeemed; and (5) any other descriptive information
needed to identify accurately the Bonds being redeemed.

(b) Each further notice of redemption shall be sent at least one day before the mailing of notice
to Owners by first class, registered or certified mail or overnight delivery, as determined by the Bond
Registrar, to all registered securities depositories then in the business of holding substantial amounts of
obligations of types comprising the Bonds and to one or more national information services that disseminate
notices of redemption of obligations such as the Bonds.

(c) Each check or other transfer of funds issued for the payment of the Redemption Price of
Bonds being redeemed shall bear or have enclosed the CUSIP number of the Bonds being redeemed with
the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

The Paying Agent is also directed to comply with any mandatory standards then in effect for
processing redemptions of municipal securities established by the State or the Securities and Exchange
Commission.  Failure to comply with such standards shall not affect or invalidate the redemption of any
Bond.

ARTICLE IV

SECURITY FOR BONDS

Security for the Bonds. The Bonds shall be general obligations of the Issuer
payable as to both principal and interest from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as
to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the
Issuer.  The full faith, credit and resources of the Issuer are hereby irrevocably pledged for the prompt
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

20

Levy and Collection of Annual Tax; Transfer to Debt Service Account. The
Governing Body shall annually make provision for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds as the same become due by, to the extent necessary, levying and collecting the
necessary taxes upon all of the taxable tangible property within the Issuer in the manner provided by law.

The taxes referred to above shall be extended upon the tax rolls in each of the several years,
respectively, and shall be levied and collected at the same time and in the same manner as the other ad
valorem taxes of the Issuer are levied and collected.  The proceeds derived from said taxes shall be deposited
in the Bond and Interest Fund, shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds of the Issuer shall
thereafter be transferred to the Debt Service Account and shall be used solely for the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when the same become due, taking into account any scheduled
mandatory redemptions, and the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent.

If at any time said taxes are not collected in time to pay the principal of or interest on the Bonds
when due, the Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to pay said principal or interest out of the general
funds of the Issuer and to reimburse said general funds for money so expended when said taxes are
collected.

ARTICLE V

ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
DEPOSIT AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS

Creation of Funds and Accounts. Simultaneously with the issuance of the
Bonds, there shall be created within the Treasury of the Issuer the following Funds and Accounts:

(a) Improvement Fund for General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series
2021.

(b) Redemption Fund for Refunded Bonds.

(c) Debt Service Account for General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series
2021 (within the Bond and Interest Fund).

(d) Costs of Issuance Account for General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds,
Series 2021.

The Funds and Accounts established herein shall be administered in accordance with the provisions
of this Bond Resolution so long as the Bonds are Outstanding.

Deposit of Bond Proceeds. The net proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds
shall be deposited simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds as follows:

(a) All accrued interest received from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited in the Debt
Service Account.

(b) An amount necessary to pay the Costs of Issuance ($[____]) shall be deposited in the Costs
of Issuance Account.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

21

(c) An amount to pay costs of the Improvements ($[____]) shall be deposited in the
Improvement Fund.

(d) The remaining balance of the proceeds derived from the sale of the Bonds ($[____]) shall
be deposited into the Redemption Fund.

Application of Moneys in the Improvement Fund; Redemption of Refunded
Notes. Moneys in the Improvement Fund shall be used for the sole purpose of paying the costs of the
Improvements, in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor prepared by the Consulting
Engineer heretofore approved by the Governing Body and on file in the office of the Clerk, including any
alterations in or amendments to said plans and specifications deemed advisable by the Consulting Engineer
and approved by the Governing Body.

Withdrawals from the Improvement Fund shall be made only when authorized by the Governing
Body.  Each authorization for costs of the Improvements shall be supported by a certificate executed by the
Clerk (or designate) stating that such payment is being made for a purpose within the scope of this Bond
Resolution and that the amount of such payment represents only the contract price of the property,
equipment, labor, materials or service being paid for or, if such payment is not being made pursuant to an
express contract, that such payment is not in excess of the reasonable value thereof.  Authorizations for
withdrawals for other authorized purposes shall be supported by a certificate executed by the Clerk (or
designate) stating that such payment is being made for a purpose within the scope of this Bond Resolution.
Upon completion of the Improvements, any surplus remaining in the Improvement Fund shall be deposited
in the Debt Service Account.

Substitution of Improvements; Reallocation of Proceeds.

(a) The Issuer may elect for any reason to substitute or add other public improvements to be
financed with proceeds of the Bonds provided the following conditions are met:  (1) the Substitute
Improvement and the issuance of general obligation bonds to pay the cost of the Substitute Improvement
has been duly authorized by the Governing Body in accordance with the laws of the State; (2) a resolution
authorizing the use of the proceeds of the Bonds to pay the Financeable Costs of the Substitute Improvement
has been duly adopted by the Governing Body pursuant to this Section, (3) the Attorney General of the
State has approved the amendment made by such resolution to the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds
to include the Substitute Improvements; and (4) the use of the proceeds of the Bonds to pay the Financeable
Cost of the Substitute Improvement will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds under State
or federal law.

(b) The Issuer may reallocate expenditure of Bond proceeds among all Improvements financed
by the Bonds; provided the following conditions are met:  (1) the reallocation is approved by the Governing
Body; (2) the reallocation shall not cause the proceeds of the Bonds allocated to any Improvement to exceed
the Financeable Costs of the Improvement; and (3) the reallocation will not adversely affect the tax-exempt
status of the Bonds under State or federal law.

Application of Moneys in the Redemption Fund. Moneys in the Redemption
Fund shall be paid and transferred to the Refunded Bonds Paying Agent and Refunded Notes Paying Agent,
with irrevocable instructions to apply such amount to the payment of the Refunded Bonds on the Refunded
Bonds Redemption Date and the Refunded Notes on the Refunded Notes Redemption Date. The Refunded
Bonds and Refunded Notes have been called for redemption and payment. Any moneys remaining in the
Redemption Fund not needed to retire the Refunded Bonds and Refunded Notes shall be transferred to the
Debt Service Account.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

22

Application of Moneys in Debt Service Account. All amounts paid and credited
to the Debt Service Account shall be expended and used by the Issuer for the sole purpose of paying the
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds as and when the same become due and the usual
and customary fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent.  The Treasurer is authorized and
directed to withdraw from the Debt Service Account sums sufficient to pay both principal or Redemption
Price of and interest on the Bonds and the fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent as
and when the same become due, and to forward such sums to the Paying Agent in a manner which ensures
that the Paying Agent will receive immediately available funds in such amounts on or before the Business
Day immediately preceding the dates when such principal, interest and fees of the Bond Registrar and
Paying Agent will become due.  If, through the lapse of time or otherwise, the Owners of Bonds are no
longer entitled to enforce payment of the Bonds or the interest thereon, the Paying Agent shall return said
funds to the Issuer.  All moneys deposited with the Paying Agent shall be deemed to be deposited in
accordance with and subject to all of the provisions contained in this Bond Resolution and shall be held in
trust by the Paying Agent for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds entitled to payment from such moneys.

Any moneys or investments remaining in the Debt Service Account after the retirement of the
Bonds shall be transferred and paid into the Bond and Interest Fund.

Deposits and Investment of Moneys. Moneys in each of the Funds and Accounts
shall be deposited in accordance with laws of the State, in a bank, savings and loan association or savings
bank organized under the laws of the State, any other state or the United States which has a main or branch
office located in the Issuer.  All such depositaries shall be members of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, or otherwise as permitted by State law.  All such deposits shall be invested in Permitted
Investments as set forth in this Article or shall be adequately secured as provided by the laws of the State.
All moneys held in the Funds and Accounts shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds of the
Issuer so that there shall be no commingling with any other funds of the Issuer.

Moneys held in any Fund or Account other than the Redemption Fund may be invested in
accordance with this Bond Resolution and the Federal Tax Certificate in Permitted Investments; provided,
however, that no such investment shall be made for a period extending longer than to the date when the
moneys invested may be needed for the purpose for which such fund was created.  All earnings on any
investments held in any Fund or Account shall accrue to and become a part of such Fund or Account;
provided that, during the period of construction of the Improvements, earnings on the investment of such
funds shall be credited to the Debt Service Account.

Application of Moneys in the Costs of Issuance Account. Moneys in the Costs
of Issuance Account shall be used by the Issuer to pay the Costs of Issuance. Any funds remaining in the
Costs of Issuance Account, after payment of all Costs of Issuance, but not later than the later of 30 days
prior to the first Stated Maturity of principal or one year after the date of issuance of the Bonds, shall be
transferred to the Improvement Fund until completion of the Improvements and thereafter to the Debt
Service Account.

ARTICLE VI

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Remedies. The provisions of the Bond Resolution, including the covenants and
agreements herein contained, shall constitute a contract between the Issuer and the Owners of the Bonds.
If an Event of Default occurs and shall be continuing, the Owner or Owners of not less than 10% in principal



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

23

amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding shall have the right for the equal benefit and protection of all
Owners of Bonds similarly situated:

(a) by mandamus or other suit, action or proceedings at law or in equity to enforce the rights
of such Owner or Owners against the Issuer and its officers, agents and employees, and to require and
compel duties and obligations required by the provisions of the Bond Resolution or by the Constitution and
laws of the State;

(b) by suit, action or other proceedings in equity or at law to require the Issuer, its officers,
agents and employees to account as if they were the trustees of an express trust; and

(c) by suit, action or other proceedings in equity or at law to enjoin any acts or things which
may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Owners of the Bonds.

Limitation on Rights of Owners. The covenants and agreements of the Issuer
contained herein and in the Bonds shall be for the equal benefit, protection, and security of the Owners of
any or all of the Bonds, all of which Bonds shall be of equal rank and without preference or priority of one
Bond over any other Bond in the application of the funds herein pledged to the payment of the principal of
and the interest on the Bonds, or otherwise, except as to rate of interest, date of maturity and right of prior
redemption as provided in this Bond Resolution.  No one or more Owners secured hereby shall have any
right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security granted and
provided for herein, or to enforce any right hereunder, except in the manner herein provided, and all
proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained for the equal benefit of all
Outstanding Bonds.

Remedies Cumulative. No remedy conferred herein upon the Owners is intended
to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each such remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every
other remedy and may be exercised without exhausting and without regard to any other remedy conferred
herein.  No waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the Owner of any Bond shall extend to
or affect any subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or shall impair any rights or remedies thereon.
No delay or omission of any Owner to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair
any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or acquiescence therein.
Every substantive right and every remedy conferred upon the Owners of the Bonds by this Bond Resolution
may be enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  If action or
proceedings taken by any Owner on account of any default or to enforce any right or exercise any remedy
has been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to such Owner,
then, and in every such case, the Issuer and the Owners of the Bonds shall, subject to any determination in
such action or proceeding or applicable law of the State, be restored to their former positions and rights
hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the Owners shall continue as if no
such suit, action or other proceedings had been brought or taken.

ARTICLE VII

DEFEASANCE

Defeasance. When any or all of the Bonds, redemption premium, if any, or
scheduled interest payments thereon have been paid and discharged, then the requirements contained in this
Bond Resolution and the pledge of the Issuer's faith and credit hereunder and all other rights granted hereby
shall terminate with respect to the Bonds or scheduled interest payments thereon so paid and discharged.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

24

Bonds, redemption premium, if any, or scheduled interest payments thereon shall be deemed to have been
paid and discharged within the meaning of this Bond Resolution if there has been deposited with the Paying
Agent, or other commercial bank or trust company located in the State and having full trust powers, at or
prior to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date of said Bonds or the interest payments thereon, in trust for
and irrevocably appropriated thereto, moneys and/or Defeasance Obligations which, together with the
interest to be earned on any such Defeasance Obligations, will be sufficient for the payment of the principal
of or Redemption Price of said Bonds and/or interest accrued to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date,
or if default in such payment has occurred on such date, then to the date of the tender of such payments.  If
the amount to be so deposited is based on the Redemption Price of any Bonds, no such satisfaction shall
occur until (a) the Issuer has elected to redeem such Bonds, and (b) either notice of such redemption has
been given, or the Issuer has given irrevocable instructions, or shall have provided for an escrow agent to
give irrevocable instructions, to the Bond Registrar to give such notice of redemption in compliance with
Article III hereof.  Any money and Defeasance Obligations that at any time shall be deposited with the
Paying Agent or other commercial bank or trust company by or on behalf of the Issuer, for the purpose of
paying and discharging any of the Bonds, shall be and are hereby assigned, transferred and set over to the
Paying Agent or other bank or trust company in trust for the respective Owners of the Bonds, and such
moneys shall be and are hereby irrevocably appropriated to the payment and discharge thereof.  All money
and Defeasance Obligations deposited with the Paying Agent or such bank or trust company shall be
deemed to be deposited in accordance with and subject to all of the provisions of this Bond Resolution.

ARTICLE VIII

TAX COVENANTS

General Covenants. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will comply with:
(a) all applicable provisions of the Code necessary to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal
income tax purposes of the interest on the Bonds; and (b) all provisions and requirements of the Federal
Tax Certificate. The Chairman and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the Federal Tax
Certificate in a form approved by Bond Counsel, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the Issuer.
The Issuer will, in addition, adopt such other resolutions and take such other actions as may be necessary
to comply with the Code and with all other applicable future laws, regulations, published rulings and
judicial decisions, in order to ensure that the interest on the Bonds will remain excluded from federal gross
income, to the extent any such actions can be taken by the Issuer.

Survival of Covenants. The covenants contained in this Article and in the Federal
Tax Certificate shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the defeasance of the Bonds pursuant
to Article VII hereof or any other provision of this Bond Resolution until such time as is set forth in the
Federal Tax Certificate.

ARTICLE IX

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

Disclosure Requirements. The Issuer hereby covenants with the Purchaser and
the Beneficial Owners to provide and disseminate such information as is required by the SEC Rule and as
further set forth in the Disclosure Undertaking, the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference.
Such covenant shall be for the benefit of and enforceable by the Purchaser and the Beneficial Owners.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

25

Failure to Comply with Continuing Disclosure Requirements. In the event the
Issuer fails to comply in a timely manner with its covenants contained in the preceding section, the
Purchaser and/or any Beneficial Owner may make demand for such compliance by written notice to the
Issuer.  In the event the Issuer does not remedy such noncompliance within 10 days of receipt of such
written notice, the Purchaser or any Beneficial Owner may in its discretion, without notice or demand,
proceed to enforce compliance by a suit or suits in equity for the specific performance of such covenant or
agreement contained in the preceding section or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or
equitable remedy, as the Purchaser and/or any Beneficial Owner shall deem effectual to protect and enforce
any of the duties of the Issuer under such preceding section.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Bond Resolution, failure of the Issuer to comply with its covenants contained in the preceding section shall
not be considered an Event of Default under this Bond Resolution.

ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Annual Audit. Annually, promptly after the end of the Fiscal Year, the Issuer will
cause an audit to be made of the financial statements of the Issuer for the preceding Fiscal Year by an
Independent Accountant.  Within 30 days after the completion of each such audit, a copy thereof shall be
filed in the office of the Clerk, and a duplicate copy of the audit shall be mailed to the Purchaser.  Such
audit shall at all times during the usual business hours be open to the examination and inspection by any
taxpayer, any Owner of any of the Bonds, or by anyone acting for or on behalf of such taxpayer or Owner.
Upon payment of the reasonable cost of preparing and mailing the same, a copy of any annual audit will,
upon request, be sent to any Owner or prospective Owner.  As soon as possible after the completion of the
annual audit, the Governing Body shall review such audit, and if the audit discloses that proper provision
has not been made for all of the requirements of this Bond Resolution, the Issuer shall promptly cure such
deficiency.

Amendments. The rights and duties of the Issuer and the Owners, and the terms
and provisions of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution, may be amended or modified at any time in any
respect by resolution of the Issuer with the written consent of the Owners of not less than a majority in
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be evidenced by an instrument or
instruments executed by such Owners and duly acknowledged or proved in the manner of a deed to be
recorded, and such instrument or instruments shall be filed with the Clerk, but no such modification or
alteration shall:

(a) extend the maturity of any payment of principal or interest due upon any Bond;

(b) effect a reduction in the amount which the Issuer is required to pay as principal of or interest
on any Bond;

(c) permit preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond; or

(d) reduce the percentage in principal amount of Bonds required for the written consent to any
modification or alteration of the provisions of this Bond Resolution.

Any provision of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution may, however, be amended or modified by
resolution duly adopted by the Governing Body at any time in any legal respect with the written consent of
the Owners of all of the Bonds at the time Outstanding.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

26

Without notice to or the consent of any Owners, the Issuer may amend or supplement this Bond
Resolution for the purpose of curing any formal defect, omission, inconsistency or ambiguity herein, to
grant to or confer upon the Owners any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully
be granted to or conferred upon the Owners, to more precisely identify the Improvements, to reallocate
proceeds of the Bonds among Improvements, to provide for Substitute Improvements, to conform this Bond
Resolution to the Code or future applicable federal law concerning tax-exempt obligations, or in connection
with any other change therein which is not materially adverse to the interests of the Owners.

Every amendment or modification of the provisions of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution, to
which the written consent of the Owners is given, as above provided, shall be expressed in a resolution
adopted by the Governing Body amending or supplementing the provisions of this Bond Resolution and
shall be deemed to be a part of this Bond Resolution.  A certified copy of every such amendatory or
supplemental resolution, if any, and a certified copy of this Bond Resolution shall always be kept on file in
the office of the Clerk, and shall be made available for inspection by the Owner of any Bond or a prospective
purchaser or owner of any Bond authorized by this Bond Resolution, and upon payment of the reasonable
cost of preparing the same, a certified copy of any such amendatory or supplemental resolution or of this
Bond Resolution will be sent by the Clerk to any such Owner or prospective Owner.

Any and all modifications made in the manner hereinabove provided shall not become effective
until there has been filed with the Clerk a copy of the resolution of the Issuer hereinabove provided for,
duly certified, as well as proof of any required consent to such modification by the Owners of the Bonds
then Outstanding.  It shall not be necessary to note on any of the Outstanding Bonds any reference to such
amendment or modification.

The Issuer shall furnish to the Paying Agent a copy of any amendment to the Bonds or this Bond
Resolution which affects the duties or obligations of the Paying Agent under this Bond Resolution.

Notices, Consents and Other Instruments by Owners. Any notice, consent,
request, direction, approval or other instrument to be signed and executed by the Owners may be in any
number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Owners in person
or by agent appointed in writing.  Proof of the execution of any such instrument or of the writing appointing
any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall be sufficient for any
of the purposes of this Bond Resolution, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Issuer and the Paying Agent
with regard to any action taken, suffered or omitted under any such instrument, namely:

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such instrument may be proved by
a certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take acknowledgments within such
jurisdiction that the person signing such instrument acknowledged before such officer the execution thereof,
or by affidavit of any witness to such execution.

(b) The fact of ownership of Bonds, the amount or amounts, numbers and other identification
of Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the Bond Register.

In determining whether the Owners of the requisite principal amount of Bonds Outstanding have
given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under this Bond Resolution,
Bonds owned by the Issuer shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding under this Bond
Resolution, except that, in determining whether the Owners shall be protected in relying upon any such
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver, only Bonds which the Owners know
to be so owned shall be so disregarded.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds so owned which have been



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

27

pledged in good faith shall not be disregarded as aforesaid if the pledgee establishes to the satisfaction of
the Owners the pledgee's right so to act with respect to such Bonds and that the pledgee is not the Issuer.

Notices. Any notice, request, complaint, demand or other communication required
or desired to be given or filed under this Bond Resolution shall be in writing, given to the Notice
Representative at the Notice Address and shall be deemed duly given or filed if the same shall be:  (a) duly
mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid; or (b) communicated via fax, with electronic or
telephonic confirmation of receipt.  Copies of such notices shall also be given to the Paying Agent.  The Issuer,
the Paying Agent and the Purchaser may from time to time designate, by notice given hereunder to the others
of such parties, such other address to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be
sent.

All notices given by:  (a) certified or registered mail as aforesaid shall be deemed duly given as of the
date they are so mailed; (b) fax as aforesaid shall be deemed duly given as of the date of confirmation of
receipt.  If, because of the temporary or permanent suspension of regular mail service or for any other reason,
it is impossible or impractical to mail any notice in the manner herein provided, then such other form of notice
as shall be made with the approval of the Paying Agent shall constitute a sufficient notice.

Electronic Transactions. The transactions described in this Bond Resolution may
be conducted, and documents related to the Bonds may be sent, received, executed, and stored, by electronic
means or transmissions. Copies, telecopies, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed
documents (or documents executed by electronic means or transmissions) shall be deemed to be authentic
and valid counterparts of such documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit
in the appropriate court of law.

Further Authority. The officers and officials of the Issuer, including the
Chairman and Clerk, are hereby authorized and directed to execute all documents and take such actions as
they may deem necessary or advisable in order to carry out and perform the purposes of this Bond
Resolution and to make ministerial alterations, changes or additions in the foregoing agreements,
statements, instruments and other documents herein approved, authorized and confirmed which they may
approve, and the execution or taking of such action shall be conclusive evidence of such necessity or
advisability.

Severability. If any section or other part of this Bond Resolution, whether large
or small, is for any reason held invalid, the invalidity thereof shall not affect the validity of the other
provisions of this Bond Resolution.

Governing Law. This Bond Resolution shall be governed exclusively by and
construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State.

Effective Date. This Bond Resolution shall take effect and be in full force from
and after its adoption by the Governing Body.



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

(Signature Page to Bond Resolution)

ADOPTED by the Commission on February 9, 2021.

(SEAL)
Chairman

Commissioner

Commissioner

ATTEST:

Clerk

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Bond Resolution of
the Issuer adopted by the Governing Body on February 9, 2021, as the same appears of record in my office.

DATED: February 9, 2021.

Clerk

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
01/27/2021

EXCERPT OF MINUTES OF A MEETING
OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS
HELD ON FEBRUARY 9, 2021

The Commission (the “Governing Body”) met in regular session at the usual meeting place in the
County, at 9:00 A.M., the following members being present and participating, to-wit:

Absent:

The Chairman declared that a quorum was present and called the meeting to order.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *
(Other Proceedings)

There was presented a Resolution entitled:

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE ISSUANCE, SALE
AND DELIVERY OF GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND
IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2021, OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS;
PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL TAX FOR
THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON SAID
BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS AND
AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT AND SECURITY
THEREOF; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND
ACTIONS CONNECTED THEREWITH.

Commissioner ____________________ moved that the Resolution be adopted.  The motion was
seconded by Commissioner ____________________.  The Resolution was duly read and considered, and
upon being put, the motion for the adoption of the Resolution was carried by the vote of the Governing
Body as follows:

Yea: .

Nay: .

The Chairman declared the Resolution duly adopted and the Resolution was then duly numbered
Resolution No. [_____], and was signed by the Chairman and attested by the Clerk.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *
(Other Proceedings)

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
2021-06



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

(Signature Page to Excerpt of Minutes)

On motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting thereupon adjourned.

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing Excerpt of Minutes is a true and correct excerpt of the
proceedings of the Governing Body of Reno County, Kansas, held on the date stated therein, and that the
official minutes of such proceedings are on file in my office.

(SEAL)
Clerk



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

B-1

EXHIBIT A
(FORM OF BONDS)

REGISTERED REGISTERED
NUMBER $

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository
Trust Company, a New York Corporation (“DTC”), to the Issuer or its agent for
registration of transfer, exchange or payment, and any certificate issued is registered
in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested by an authorized
representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to such other
entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER,
PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO
ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede &
Co., has an interest herein.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF KANSAS
COUNTY OF RENO

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BOND
SERIES 2021

Interest Maturity Dated CUSIP:
Rate: Date: Date: February 25, 2021

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That Reno County, State of Kansas (the
“Issuer”), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself to be indebted and promises to pay to the
Registered Owner shown above, or registered assigns, but solely from the source and in the manner herein
specified, the Principal Amount shown above on the Maturity Date shown above, unless called for
redemption prior to the Maturity Date, and to pay interest thereon at the Interest Rate per annum shown
above (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), from the Dated Date shown
above, or from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, payable
semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing September 1, 2021 (the “Interest
Payment Dates”), until the Principal Amount has been paid.

Method and Place of Payment. The principal or redemption price of this Bond shall be paid at
maturity or upon earlier redemption to the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the maturity or
redemption date thereof, upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the principal office of the
Treasurer of the State of Kansas, Topeka, Kansas (the “Paying Agent” and “Bond Registrar”).  The interest
payable on this Bond on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the person in whose name this Bond is
registered on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar at the close of business on the Record
Date(s) for such interest, which shall be the 15th day (whether or not a business day) of the calendar month
next preceding the Interest Payment Date.  Such interest shall be payable (a) by check or draft mailed by



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

B-2

the Paying Agent to the address of such Registered Owner shown on the Bond Register or at such other
address as is furnished to the Paying Agent in writing by such Registered Owner; or (b) in the case of an
interest payment to Cede & Co. or any Owner of $500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds
by electronic transfer to such Owner upon written notice given to the Bond Registrar by such Registered
Owner, not less than 15 days prior to the Record Date for such interest, containing the electronic transfer
instructions including the bank, ABA routing number and account number to which such Registered Owner
wishes to have such transfer directed. The principal or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds shall
be payable in any coin or currency that, on the respective dates of payment thereof, is legal tender for the
payment of public and private debts.  Interest not punctually paid will be paid in the manner established in
the within defined Bond Resolution.

Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings assigned to such terms in the hereinafter defined Bond Resolution.

Authorization of Bonds. This Bond is one of an authorized series of Bonds of the Issuer
designated “General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021,” aggregating the
principal amount of $11,995,000* (the “Bonds”) issued for the purposes set forth in the Resolution of the
Issuer authorizing the issuance of the Bonds (the “Bond Resolution”).  The Bonds are issued by the authority
of and in full compliance with the provisions, restrictions and limitations of the Constitution and laws of
the State of Kansas, including Charter Resolution No. XXV of the Issuer, K.S.A. 19-101 et seq., K.S.A. 68-
1103 et seq., K.S.A 19-2658 et seq. and K.S.A. 10-427 et seq., as amended, and all other provisions of the
laws of the State of Kansas applicable thereto.

General Obligations. The Bonds constitute general obligations of the Issuer payable as to both
principal and interest from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount
upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The full
faith, credit and resources of the Issuer are hereby irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due.

Redemption Prior to Maturity. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as set forth
in the Bond Resolution.

Book-Entry System. The Bonds are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no
physical distribution of bond certificates to be made except as provided in the Bond Resolution.  One Bond
certificate with respect to each date on which the Bonds are stated to mature or with respect to each form
of Bonds, registered in the nominee name of the Securities Depository, is being issued and required to be
deposited with the Securities Depository and immobilized in its custody.  The book-entry system will
evidence positions held in the Bonds by the Securities Depository's participants, beneficial ownership of
the Bonds in authorized denominations being evidenced in the records of such participants.  Transfers of
ownership shall be effected on the records of the Securities Depository and its participants pursuant to rules
and procedures established by the Securities Depository and its participants.  The Issuer and the Bond
Registrar will recognize the Securities Depository nominee, while the Registered Owner of this Bond, as
the owner of this Bond for all purposes, including (i) payments of principal of, and redemption premium,
if any, and interest on, this Bond, (ii) notices and (iii) voting.  Transfer of principal, interest and any
redemption premium payments to participants of the Securities Depository, and transfer of principal,
interest and any redemption premium payments to beneficial owners of the Bonds by participants of the
Securities Depository will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees of such beneficial
owners.  The Issuer and the Bond Registrar will not be responsible or liable for such transfers of payments
or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records maintained by the Securities Depository, the
Securities Depository nominee, its participants or persons acting through such participants.  While the
Securities Depository nominee is the owner of this Bond, notwithstanding the provision hereinabove



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

B-3

contained, payments of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on this Bond shall be made
in accordance with existing arrangements among the Issuer, the Bond Registrar and the Securities
Depository.

Transfer and Exchange. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE BOND
RESOLUTION, THIS GLOBAL BOND MAY BE TRANSFERRED, IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN
PART, ONLY TO ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR TO A
SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR TO A NOMINEE OF A SUCCESSOR
SECURITIES DEPOSITORY.  This Bond may be transferred or exchanged, as provided in the Bond
Resolution, only on the Bond Register kept for that purpose at the principal office of the Bond Registrar,
upon surrender of this Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer or authorization for exchange
satisfactory to the Bond Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or the Registered Owner's duly
authorized agent, and thereupon a new Bond or Bonds in any Authorized Denomination of the same
maturity and in the same aggregate principal amount shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor
as provided in the Bond Resolution and upon payment of the charges therein prescribed. The Issuer shall
pay all costs incurred in connection with the issuance, payment and initial registration of the Bonds and the
cost of a reasonable supply of bond blanks.  The Issuer and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the person
in whose name this Bond is registered on the Bond Register as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose
of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or redemption price hereof and interest due hereon
and for all other purposes.  The Bonds are issued in fully registered form in Authorized Denominations.

Authentication. This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled
to any security or benefit under the Bond Resolution until the Certificate of Authentication and Registration
hereon shall have been lawfully executed by the Bond Registrar.

IT IS HEREBY DECLARED AND CERTIFIED that all acts, conditions, and things required to
be done and to exist precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond have been properly done and performed
and do exist in due and regular form and manner as required by the Constitution and laws of the State of
Kansas, and that the total indebtedness of the Issuer, including this series of bonds, does not exceed any
constitutional or statutory limitation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Bond to be executed by the manual,
electronic or facsimile signature of its Chairman and attested by the manual, electronic or facsimile
signature of its Clerk, and its seal to be affixed hereto or imprinted hereon.

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

(Facsimile Seal) By: (facsimile)
Chairman

ATTEST:

By: (facsimile)
Clerk



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

B-4

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION

This Bond is one of a series of General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series
2021, of Reno County, Kansas, described in the within-mentioned Bond Resolution.

Registration Date:

Office of the State Treasurer,
Topeka, Kansas,

as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent

By

Registration Number:

LEGAL OPINION

The following is a true and correct copy of the approving legal opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C.,
Bond Counsel, which was dated and issued as of the date of original issuance and delivery of such Bonds:

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.
Attorneys at Law

100 N. Main Suite 800
Wichita, Kansas  67202

(PRINTED LEGAL OPINION)

BOND ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned do(es) hereby sell, assign and transfer to

__________________________________________________________
(Name and Address)

__________________________________________________________
(Social Security or Taxpayer Identification No.)

the Bond to which this assignment is affixed in the outstanding principal amount of $___________, standing
in the name of the undersigned on the books of the Bond Registrar.  The undersigned do(es) hereby
irrevocably constitute and appoint ____________________ as agent to transfer said Bond on the books of
said Bond Registrar with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated
Name



600868.20105\BASICDOCS

B-5

Social Security or
Taxpayer Identification No.

Signature (Sign here exactly as name(s)
appear on the face of Certificate)

Signature guarantee:

By

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK

STATE OF KANSAS )
)  SS.

COUNTY OF RENO )

The undersigned, Clerk of Reno County, Kansas, does hereby certify that the within Bond has been
duly registered in my office according to law as of February 25, 2021.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

(Facsimile Seal) By: (facsimile)
Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF STATE TREASURER

OFFICE OF THE TREASURER, STATE OF KANSAS

LYNN W. ROGERS, Treasurer of the State of Kansas, does hereby certify that a transcript of the
proceedings leading up to the issuance of this Bond has been filed in the office of the State Treasurer, and
that this Bond was registered in such office according to law on ________________.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

(Facsimile Seal) By: (facsimile)
Treasurer of the State of Kansas



600868.20105\BPA

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/02/2021

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

AND

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

_______________________________________

$11,995,000*

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS

SERIES 2021

DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 25, 2021



600868.20105\BPA

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

February 9, 2021

Chairman and
Board of County Commissioners
Reno County, Kansas

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On the basis of the representations, warranties and covenants and upon the terms and conditions
contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement, Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Kansas City, Missouri
(the “Purchaser”), hereby offers to purchase all (but not less than all) of the above-described bonds (the
“Bonds”) to be issued by Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”), under and pursuant to a Resolution to be
adopted by the Commission of the Issuer (the “Governing Body”) on February 9, 2021 (the “Bond
Resolution”).  All capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the same meaning as defined
in the Bond Resolution, unless some other meaning is plainly indicated.

This offer is made subject to acceptance of this Bond Purchase Agreement by or on behalf of the
Governing Body on or before 11:59 p.m., applicable Central time, on this date (the “Sale Date”).

SECTION 1. PURCHASE, SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE BONDS

(a) On the basis of the representations, warranties and covenants contained herein and in the
other agreements and documents referred to herein, and subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth,
the Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Issuer and the Issuer agrees to sell to the Purchaser the Bonds
not later than 12:00 Noon, applicable Central time on February 25, 2021, or such other place, time or date
as shall be mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the Purchaser, at the purchase price set forth on
Exhibit A-1 attached hereto, without accrued interest (the “Purchase Price”).  The date of such delivery and
payment is herein called the “Closing Date,” the hour and date of such delivery and payment is herein called
the “Closing Time” and the transactions to be accomplished for delivery of the Bonds on the Closing Date
shall be herein called the “Closing.”  The Bonds shall be issued under and secured as provided in the Bond
Resolution and the Bonds shall have the maturities and interest rates as set forth therein and on Exhibit A-1
attached hereto, which also contains a summary of the redemption provisions of the Bonds.  The Bonds
shall contain such other provisions as are described in the Bond Resolution and the Official Statement (as
hereinafter defined).

(b) The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that: (1) the primary role of the Purchaser, as an
underwriter is to purchase securities for resale to investors in an arms-length commercial transaction
between the Issuer and the Purchaser and that the Purchaser has financial and other interests that differ from
those of the Issuer; (2) the Purchaser is not acting as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to
the Issuer or any other person or entity and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the
Issuer with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings and
proceedings leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Purchaser has provided other services or is
currently providing other services to the Issuer on other matters); (3) the only obligations the Purchaser has
to the Issuer with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby expressly are set forth in this Agreement;



600868.20105\BPA

2

and (4) the Issuer has consulted its own legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as applicable,
to the extent it has deemed appropriate in connection with the transaction contemplated herein.

(c) Payment of the Purchase Price for the Bonds shall be made by federal wire transfer in
immediately available federal funds, payable to the order of a financial institution to be designated by the
Issuer for the account of the Issuer on or before the Closing Time on the Closing Date.  Upon such payment,
the Bonds shall be delivered and released upon the instructions of the Purchaser to The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).

(d) The delivery of the Bonds shall be made in “book-entry-only” fully registered form duly
executed and authenticated and bearing CUSIP numbers (provided neither the printing of a wrong CUSIP
number on any Bond nor the failure to print a number thereon shall constitute cause to refuse delivery of
any Bond); provided, however, that the Bonds may be delivered in temporary form.  The Bonds shall be
available at DTC for examination and packaging by the Purchaser at least 24 hours prior to the Closing
Time.

(e) The Purchaser agrees to offer the Bonds to the public initially at the offering prices or
yields set forth in Exhibit A-1 attached hereto, but may subsequently change such offering prices [(except
to the extent the Purchaser may have agreed otherwise in Section 2 by committing to the Hold-The-
Offering-Price Rule)].  The Purchaser agrees to notify the Issuer of such changes, if such changes occur
prior to the Closing Time, but failure so to notify shall not invalidate such changes.  The Purchaser may
offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts) at
prices lower than the offering prices set forth in Exhibit A-1 attached hereto.

SECTION 2. ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE

(a) The Purchaser agrees to assist the Issuer in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and
shall execute and deliver to the Issuer at the Closing Time an “issue price” or similar certificate, together
with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, substantially in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit A-3 with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of
the Purchaser, the Issuer and Bond Counsel, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or
the initial offering price or prices to the public of the Bonds (the “Issue Price Certificate”). The Purchaser
confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or before the Sale Date at the offering price or prices
(the “Initial Offering Price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A-1 attached
hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein. The Purchaser acknowledges that it is an “underwriter” as
said term is defined in subsection (c) hereof.

(b) Unless Exhibit A-2 is attached hereto, the Issuer will treat the price at which the first 10%
of each maturity of the Bonds is sold to the public (the “10% Test”) as the issue price of that maturity (if
different interest rates apply within a maturity, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity will be
subject to the 10% Test).  At or promptly after the execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the
Purchaser shall report to the Issuer the price at which it has sold to the public 10% of each maturity of
Bonds; provided that, if the first 10% of any maturity of the Bonds is sold at different prices, the Purchaser
shall report to the Issuer the prices at which such maturity of the Bonds are sold until the Purchaser sells
10% of such maturity at a single price. Exhibit A-2 sets forth, as of the Sale Date, the maturities of the
Bonds for which the 10% Test has been satisfied.  Exhibit A-2 also sets forth, as of the Sale Date, the
maturities of the Bonds for which the 10% Test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the
Purchaser agree that the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Issuer
to treat the Initial Offering Price to the public of each such maturity as of the Sale Date as the issue price
of that maturity (the “Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule”).  So long as the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule
remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Purchaser will neither offer nor sell unsold Bonds of



600868.20105\BPA

3

that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price to the public during the
period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of the following:

(1) the close of the fifth (5th) Business Day after the Sale Date; or

(2) the date on which the Purchaser has sold at least 10% of that maturity of the Bonds
to the public at a price that is no higher than the Initial Offering Price to the public.

The Purchaser shall promptly advise the Issuer when it has sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds
to the public at a price that is no higher than the Initial Offering Price to the public, if that occurs prior to
the close of the fifth (5th) Business Day after the Sale Date.

The Purchaser confirms that any selling group agreement and any retail distribution agreement
relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will
contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of the selling group and each broker-dealer that
is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the
public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the Purchaser that either the
10% Test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to
the public and (B) comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so
long as directed by the Purchaser.  The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in
this subsection, the Purchaser will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in connection
with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling
group to comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable, as set forth in a selling group
agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a retail distribution agreement was
employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer
that is a party to such agreement to comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable, as set
forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  The Issuer further acknowledges
that the Purchaser shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of
any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding
agreement regarding the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule as applicable to the Bonds..]

(c) The Purchaser acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party
to the Purchaser shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this section.  Further, for purposes
of this section:

(1) “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party;

(2) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with
the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the
initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract
directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the
Bonds to the public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public); and

(3) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the
underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at least 50% common
ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations
(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership
of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct
ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value
of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the



600868.20105\BPA

4

partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership
(including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other).]

(d) In conjunction with:  (1) an audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
or the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) relating to the pricing of the Bonds, or (2) the
implementation of future regulation or similar guidance from the IRS, the SEC or other federal or state
regulatory authority regarding the retention of pricing data for the Bonds, at the request of the Issuer, the
Purchaser will provide information explaining the factual basis for the Purchaser’s representations in the
Issue Price Certificate relating to the pricing of the Bonds, other than information that would identify
customers (e.g., name or account number).  This agreement by the Purchaser to provide such information
will continue to apply after the Closing Time but shall not extend to any customer data or other confidential
or proprietary information of the Purchaser.

SECTION 3. OFFICIAL STATEMENT

(a) The Issuer has previously furnished to the Purchaser the Preliminary Official Statement,
dated January 22, 2021, relating to the Bonds, including all appendices thereto and maps and pictorial
information included therein, as may have been amended or supplemented (the “Preliminary Official
Statement”).  For the purpose of enabling the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12
of the SEC (the “Rule”), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934
Act”), the Issuer has heretofore deemed the Preliminary Official Statement “final” as of its date, except for
the omission of such information as is permitted by such Rule, such as offering prices, interest rates, selling
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, delivery dates, ratings, identity
of the underwriters and other terms of the Bonds depending on such matters.  The Issuer hereby ratifies and
confirms the Purchaser's use and public distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement in connection
with the offering for sale of the Bonds.

(b) The Issuer will cause the Preliminary Official Statement to be amended and supplemented
into a final official statement to be dated the Sale Date (the “Official Statement”).  The Issuer agrees to
provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the Sale Date or within sufficient time to accompany
any confirmation that requests payment from any customer of the Purchaser, whichever is earlier, sufficient
copies of the Official Statement to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of the Rule and
with the requirements of Rule G-32 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”).  The
Issuer hereby confirms the authority of the Purchaser to use, and consents to the use of, the Official
Statement in connection with the public offering and sale of the Bonds.

(c) The Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement may be delivered in printed
and/or electronic form to the extent permitted by the applicable rules of the MSRB and as may be agreed
to by the Issuer and the Purchaser.

(d) If, prior to the earlier of:  (1) 90 days after the “end of the underwriting period” (as defined
in the Rule); or (2) the time when the Official Statement is available to any person from a nationally
recognized municipal securities information repository, specifically including the MSRB’s Electronic
Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”), but in no case earlier than 25 days after the end of the
underwriting period, any event shall occur relating to or affecting the Issuer, as a result of which it is
necessary to amend or supplement the Official Statement in order to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances existing when the Official Statement is delivered to a purchaser, not materially
misleading, or the Official Statement is required to be amended or supplemented to comply with law, the
Issuer shall promptly prepare and furnish, at the expense of the Issuer, to the Purchaser and to the dealers
(whose names and addresses the Purchaser will furnish to the Issuer) to which Bonds may have been sold
by the Purchaser and to any other dealers upon request, such amendments or supplements to the Official



600868.20105\BPA

5

Statement as may be necessary so that the statements in the Official Statement as so amended or
supplemented will not, in the light of the circumstances existing when the Official Statement is delivered
to a purchaser of the Bonds, be misleading or so that the Official Statement will comply with law.

(e) From the Sale Date until the Closing Time, the Issuer shall furnish the Purchaser with a
copy of any proposed amendment or supplement to the Official Statement for review and shall not use any
such proposed amendment or supplement to which the Purchaser reasonably objects.

(f) The Issuer authorizes the Purchaser to file, to the extent required by applicable SEC or
MSRB rule, and the Purchaser agrees to file or cause to be filed, the Official Statement with:  (1) the MSRB
or its designee, including EMMA; or (2) other repositories approved from time to time by the SEC (either
in addition to or in lieu of the filings referred to above).  If an amended Official Statement is prepared in
accordance with Section 3(d), the Purchaser also shall make the required filings of the amended Official
Statement in the manner set forth in this section.

SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF
THE PURCHASER

By the execution hereof the Purchaser hereby represents, warrants and agrees with the Issuer that
as of the date hereof and at the Closing Time the Purchaser is duly authorized to enter into this Bond
Purchase Agreement and to take all actions required or contemplated to be performed by the Purchaser
under this Bond Purchase Agreement.

SECTION 5. ISSUER'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

By the Issuer's acceptance hereof the Issuer hereby represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the
Purchaser that as of the date hereof and at the Closing Time:

(a) The Issuer is a political subdivision duly organized under the laws of the State of Kansas
(the “State”).

(b) The Issuer has complied with all provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State and
has full power and authority to consummate all transactions contemplated by the Bond Resolution and this
Bond Purchase Agreement, and all other agreements relating thereto.

(c) The Issuer has duly authorized by all necessary action to be taken by the Issuer:  (1) the
adoption and performance of the Bond Resolution; (2) the execution, delivery and performance of this Bond
Purchase Agreement; (3) the approval of the Official Statement; (4) the execution and performance of any
and all such other agreements and documents as may be required to be executed, delivered and performed
by the Issuer in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions contemplated by the
Bond Resolution and this Bond Purchase Agreement; and (5) the carrying out, giving effect to and
consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Bond Resolution and this Bond Purchase
Agreement.  Executed counterparts of the Bond Resolution and all such other agreements and documents
specified herein will be made available to the Purchaser by the Issuer at the Closing Time.

(d) The Bond Resolution and this Bond Purchase Agreement, when executed and delivered by
the Issuer, will be the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with their
terms, except to the extent that enforcement thereof may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy,
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other law or laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights
generally or against entities such as the Issuer and further subject to the availability of equitable remedies.



600868.20105\BPA

6

(e) The Bonds have been duly authorized by the Issuer, and when issued, delivered and paid
for as provided for herein and in the Bond Resolution, will have been duly executed, authenticated, issued
and delivered and will constitute valid and binding general obligations of the Issuer enforceable in
accordance with their terms and entitled to the benefits and security of the Bond Resolution (subject to any
applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other law or laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors' rights generally or against entities such as the Issuer and further subject to the
availability of equitable remedies).  The Bonds are general obligations of the Issuer, payable as to both
principal and interest, if necessary, from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate
or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.

(f) The execution and delivery of the Bond Resolution, this Bond Purchase Agreement, the
Official Statement and the Bonds, and compliance with the provisions thereof, will not conflict with or
constitute on the part of the Issuer a violation or breach of, or a default under, any existing law, regulation,
court or administrative decree or order, or any agreement, resolution, mortgage, lease or other instrument
to which it is subject or by which it is or may be bound.

(g) The Issuer is not, or with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both would not be, in
violation of or in default under its organizational documents or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan
agreement, bonds or other agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which it is or may
be bound, except for violations and defaults which individually and in the aggregate are not material to the
Issuer and will not be material to the beneficial owners of the Bonds.  As of the Closing Time, no event
will have occurred and be continuing which with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would
constitute an event of default under the Bond Resolution or the Bonds.

(h) The Preliminary Official Statement did not, and the Official Statement and in any
amendment or supplement thereto, will not, as of the Closing Time, contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, the Issuer makes no
statement as to the Excluded Sections (as defined in Section 7(b)(2) hereof).

(i) The financial statements of the Issuer attached to the Official Statement as Appendix B
thereto, except as noted therein, present fairly and accurately the financial condition of the Issuer as of the
dates indicated and the results of its operations for the periods specified, and such financial statements are
prepared in the method stated therein consistently applied in all material respects for the periods involved.

(j) The Issuer has not, since the date of such financial statements, incurred any material
liabilities and there has been no material adverse change in the condition of the Issuer, financial or
otherwise, other than as set forth in the Official Statement.

(k) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity or before
or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened against or
affecting the Issuer (or, to its knowledge, any basis therefor) wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or
finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Bond Resolution or the
validity of the Bonds, the Bond Resolution, this Bond Purchase Agreement or any agreement or instrument
to which the Issuer is a party and which is used or contemplated for use in the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or by the Bond Resolution.

(l) The Issuer has authorized the execution of a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the
“Disclosure Undertaking”) in which the Issuer covenants to provide and disseminate certain financial
information, operating data and event notices in the manner and to the extent required by the Rule.  The
Bond Resolution contains a covenant of the Issuer to apply the provisions of the Disclosure Undertaking to



600868.20105\BPA

7

the Bonds.  A copy of the Disclosure Undertaking is attached to the Preliminary Official Statement and
Official Statement.  Except to the extent disclosed in the Official Statement, at no time in the last five years
has the Issuer failed to comply in any material respect with any of the informational reporting undertakings
contained in any previous continuing disclosure undertakings made by the Issuer pursuant to the Rule.

Any certificate signed by any of the authorized officials of the Issuer and delivered to the Purchaser
in connection with the Closing shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Issuer to the Purchaser
as to the statements made therein.

SECTION 6. COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE ISSUER

The Issuer covenants and agrees with the Purchaser for the time period specified, and if no period
is specified, for so long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, as follows:

(a) The proceeds of the Bonds will be used as provided in the Bond Resolution in accordance
with the laws of the State.

(b) The proceeds of the Bonds shall not be used in a manner which would jeopardize the
exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

(c) To cooperate with the Purchaser and its counsel in any reasonable endeavor to qualify the
Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or “Blue Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United
States as the Purchaser may reasonably request; provided that nothing contained herein shall require the
Issuer to file written consents to suit and file written consents to service of process in any jurisdiction in
which such consent may be required by law or regulation so that the Bonds may be offered or sold.  The
Issuer consents to the use of drafts of the Preliminary Official Statement, the Preliminary Official Statement
and drafts of the Official Statement prior to the availability of the Official Statement, by the Purchaser in
obtaining such qualification.  The Purchaser shall pay all expenses and costs (including legal, registration
and filing fees) incurred in connection therewith.

SECTION 7. CONDITIONS TO THE PURCHASER'S OBLIGATIONS

The Purchaser's obligations hereunder shall be subject to the due performance by the Issuer of the
Issuer's obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder at or prior to the Closing Time and to the
accuracy of and compliance with the Issuer's representations and warranties contained herein, as of the date
hereof and as of the Closing Time, and are also subject to the following conditions:

(a) The Bond Resolution and the Bonds shall have been duly authorized, executed and
delivered in the form heretofore approved by the Purchaser with only such changes therein as shall be
mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the Purchaser.

(b) At the Closing Time, the Purchaser shall receive:

(1) An opinion dated as of the Closing Date, of Messrs. Gilmore & Bell, P.C. (“Bond
Counsel”), substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.

(2) A certificate of the Issuer, satisfactory in form and substance to the Purchaser,
dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that:  (A) since the date of the Official Statement there
has not been any material adverse change in the business, properties, financial condition or results
of operations of the Issuer, whether or not arising from transactions in the ordinary course of
business, from that set forth in the Official Statement, and except in the ordinary course of business



600868.20105\BPA

8

or as set forth in the Official Statement, the Issuer has not incurred any material liability; (B) there
is no action, suit, proceeding or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any inquiry or investigation at law
or in equity or before or by any public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer,
threatened against or affecting the Issuer, its officers or its property or, to the best of the knowledge
of the Issuer, any basis therefor, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely
affect the Issuer, the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Bond Resolution or the Official
Statement or the validity or enforceability of the Bonds or the Bond Purchase Agreement, which
are not disclosed in the Official Statement; (C) to the knowledge of the Issuer, the information
contained in the Official Statement, other than the sections entitled “The Depository Trust
Company,” “Rating,” “Legal Matters,” “Tax Matters,” and Appendices B and C (collectively, the
“Excluded Sections”), for which the Issuer expresses no opinion, is true in all material respects and
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; (D) the Issuer has duly authorized, by all necessary action, the
execution, delivery and due performance by the Issuer of this Bond Purchase Agreement; and (E)
the representations and warranties of the Issuer set forth herein were accurate and complete as of
the date hereof and are accurate and complete as of the Closing Time.

(3) An executed Federal Tax Certificate, satisfactory in form and substance to the
Purchaser, dated as of the Closing Date, with an attached completed and executed IRS Form 8038-
G.

(4) An executed copy of the Disclosure Undertaking.

(5) Receipt of a municipal bond rating by Moody's of at least “Aa3.”

(6) Such additional certificates, legal and other documents, listed on a closing agenda
to be approved by Bond Counsel and counsel to the Purchaser, as the Purchaser may reasonably
request to evidence performance or compliance with the provisions hereof and the transactions
contemplated hereby and by the Bond Resolution, or as Bond Counsel shall require in order to
render its opinion, all such certificates and other documents to be satisfactory in form and substance
to the Purchaser.

Subsequent to Closing, the Purchaser shall receive a complete Transcript of the Proceedings
relating to the issuance of the Bonds in electronic format, which shall specifically include each of the
foregoing documents.

SECTION 8. CONDITIONS TO THE ISSUER'S OBLIGATIONS

The obligations of the Issuer hereunder are subject to the Purchaser's performance of its obligations
hereunder.

SECTION 9. THE PURCHASER'S RIGHT TO CANCEL

The Purchaser shall have the right to cancel the obligation hereunder to purchase the Bonds (such
cancellation shall not constitute a default for purposes of Section 1 hereof) by notifying the Issuer in writing
or by facsimile of its election to make such cancellation prior to the Closing Time, if at any time after the
execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement and prior to the Closing Time, the market price or marketability
of the Bonds, or the ability of the Purchaser to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds, shall be materially
adversely affected by any of the following events:



600868.20105\BPA

9

(a) A committee of the House of Representatives or the Senate of the Congress of the United
States shall have pending before it legislation which, if enacted in its form as introduced or as amended,
would have the purpose or effect of imposing federal income taxation upon revenues or other income of
the general character to be derived by the Issuer or by any similar body or upon interest received on
obligations of the general character of the Bonds, or the Bonds.

(b) A tentative decision with respect to legislation shall be reached by a committee of the
House of Representatives or the Senate of the Congress of the United States, or legislation shall be favorably
reported by such a committee or be introduced, by amendment or otherwise, in or be passed by the House
of Representatives or the Senate, or be recommended to the Congress of the United States for passage by
the President of the United States, or be enacted by the Congress of the United States, or a decision by a
court established under Article III of the Constitution of the United States or the Tax Court of the United
States shall be rendered, or a ruling, regulation or order of the Treasury Department of the United States or
the IRS shall be made or proposed having the purpose or effect of imposing federal income taxation, or any
other event shall have occurred which results in the imposition of federal income taxation, upon revenues
or other income of the general character to be derived by the Issuer or by any similar body or upon interest
received on obligations of the general character of the Bonds, or the Bonds.

(c) Any legislation, ordinance, rule or regulation shall be introduced in or be enacted by the
Legislature of the State or by any other governmental body, department or agency of the State, or a decision
by any court of competent jurisdiction within the State shall be rendered, or litigation challenging the law
under which the Bonds are to be issued shall be filed in any court in the State.

(d) A stop order, ruling, regulation or official statement by, or on behalf of, the SEC or any
other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be issued or made to the effect
that the issuance, offering or sale of obligations of the general character of the Bonds, or the issuance,
offering or sale of the Bonds, including all underlying obligations, as contemplated hereby or by the Official
Statement, is in violation or would be in violation of any provision of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “1933 Act”), the 1934 Act, as amended, or the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

(e) Legislation shall be enacted by the Congress of the United States of America, or a decision
by a court of the United States of America shall be rendered, to the effect that obligations of the general
character of the Bonds, or the Bonds, including all the underlying obligations, are not exempt from
registration under or from other requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act.

(f) The marketability of the Bonds or the market price thereof, in the opinion of the Purchaser,
has been materially and adversely affected by disruptive events, occurrences or conditions in the securities
or debt markets; or a material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services affecting
the Bonds shall have occurred; or additional material restrictions not in force as of the date hereof shall
have been imposed upon trading in securities generally by any governmental authority or by any national
securities exchange.

(g) The New York Stock Exchange or any other national securities exchange, or any
governmental authority, shall impose, as to the Bonds or obligations of the general character of the Bonds,
any material restrictions not now in force, or increase materially those now in force, with respect to the
extension of credit by, or the charge to the net capital requirements of, the Purchaser.

(h) Any general banking moratorium shall have been established by federal, New York or State
authorities.



600868.20105\BPA

10

(i) A material default has occurred with respect to the obligations of, or proceedings have been
instituted under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any similar state laws by or against, any state of the United
States or any city located in the United States having a population in excess of one million persons or any
entity issuing obligations on behalf of such a city or state.

(j) Any proceeding shall be pending or threatened by the SEC against the Issuer.

(k) A war involving the United States shall have been declared, or any conflict involving the
armed forces of the United States shall have escalated, or any other national emergency relating to the
effective operation of government or the financial community shall have occurred.

(l) Any financial rating assigned to the Bonds shall have been downgraded or withdrawn, or
there shall have occurred, or any notice shall have been given of any intended downgrading, suspension,
withdrawal or negative change in credit watch status by any national rating service to any of the Issuer’s
obligations.

(m) A default by or a moratorium initiated by the United States in respect to payment of any
direct obligation of, or obligation the principal of and interest on which is fully and unconditionally
guaranteed as to full and timely payment by, the United States of America.

(n) Any event shall have occurred, or information become known, which makes untrue in any
material respect, any statement or information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement, or has the
effect that the Preliminary Official Statement contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading.

(o) The Official Statement makes material modifications to the Preliminary Official Statement
deemed “final” by the Issuer pursuant to the Rule, other than modifications permitted by the Rule, such as
offering prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal per maturity,
delivery dates, ratings and other terms of the Bonds depending on such matters.

SECTION 10. PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

(a) Whether or not the Bonds are sold by the Issuer to the Purchaser (unless such sale be
prevented at the Closing Time by the Purchaser's default), the Purchaser, unless otherwise contracted for,
shall be under no obligation to pay any expenses incident to the performance of the obligations of the Issuer
hereunder; nor shall the Issuer, unless otherwise contracted for, be under any obligation to pay any expenses
incident to the performance of the obligations of the Purchaser hereunder (unless such sale be prevented at
the Closing Time by the Issuer's default).

(b) If the Bonds are sold by the Issuer to the Purchaser, except as hereinafter set forth, all
expenses and costs to effect the authorization, preparation, issuance, delivery and sale of the Bonds shall
be paid by the Issuer out of the proceeds of the Bonds or other Issuer funds.  Such expenses and costs shall
include, but not be limited to:  (1) the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel; (2) the fees and
disbursements of the Issuer's legal counsel; (3) costs associated with obtaining the Bond Insurance Policy
or municipal bond ratings relating to the Bonds and the Refunded Bonds; (4) the expenses and costs for the
preparation, printing, photocopying, execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Official Statement, this Bond
Purchase Agreement and all other agreements and documents contemplated hereby; (5) fees of the Bond
Registrar and Paying Agent designated by the Issuer pursuant to the Bond Resolution; and (6) all costs and
expenses of the Issuer relating to the issuance of the Bonds. The Purchaser shall be responsible for payment
of the costs of qualifying the Bonds for sale in the various states chosen by the Purchaser, all advertising



600868.20105\BPA

11

expenses in connection with the offering of the Bonds, the fees and disbursements of the Purchaser’s legal
counsel and all other expenses incurred by the Purchaser in connection with the offering, sale and
distribution of the Bonds.

SECTION 11. NOTICE

Any notice or other communication to be given under this Bond Purchase Agreement may be given
in the manner set forth in the Bond Resolution, as follows:

(a) If to the Issuer at: Reno County, Kansas, 206 West First Street, Hutchinson, Kansas 67501,
Attention: Clerk.

(b) If to the Purchaser at: Raymond James & Associates, Inc., 1201 Walnut, 21st Floor, Kansas
City, Missouri 64106, Attention:  Manager, Public Finance Department.

SECTION 12. INDEMNIFICATION

(a) The Issuer agrees, to the extent legally permitted, to indemnify and hold harmless the
Purchaser, and each person, if any, who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or
Section 20 of the 1934 Act) the Purchaser (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), against any and all
losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses whatsoever caused by any untrue statements or misleading
statement or allegedly misleading statement of a material fact contained in the Official Statement or caused
by any omission or alleged omission from the Official Statement of any material fact necessary in order to
make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; provided that the Issuer shall have no indemnification obligation with respect to any statement
or omission in the information contained in the Official Statement under the heading “Underwriting.”

In case any action shall be brought against one or more of the Indemnified Parties based upon the
Official Statement and in respect of which indemnity may be sought against the Issuer, the Indemnified
Parties shall promptly notify the Issuer in writing and the Issuer shall promptly assume the defense thereof,
including the employment of counsel, the payment of all expenses and the right to negotiate and consent to
settlement.  Any one or more of the Indemnified Parties shall have the right to employ separate counsel in
any such action and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be
at the expense of such Indemnified Party or Indemnified Parties unless employment of such counsel has
been specifically authorized by the Issuer.  The Issuer shall not be liable for any settlement of any such
action effected without its consent by any of the Indemnified Parties, but if settled with the consent of the
Issuer or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff in any such action against the Issuer or any of the
Indemnified Parties, with or without the consent of the Issuer, the Issuer agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Indemnified Parties to the extent provided herein.

(b) The Purchaser agrees, to the extent legally permitted, to indemnify and hold harmless the
Issuer and any Governing Body member, officer, official or employee of the Issuer, against any and all
losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses whatsoever caused by any untrue statements or misleading
statement or allegedly misleading statement of a material fact in the information supplied by the Purchaser
or the Purchaser’s representatives that are included in the Official Statement.

In case any action shall be brought against one or more of the persons or entities identified in the
preceding paragraph and in respect of which indemnity may be sought against the Purchaser, such parties
shall promptly notify the Purchaser in writing and the Purchaser shall promptly assume the defense thereof,
including the employment of counsel, the payment of all expenses and the right to negotiate and consent to
settlement.  Any one or more of such parties shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such



600868.20105\BPA

12

action and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the
expense of such party unless employment of such counsel has been specifically authorized by the Purchaser.
The Purchaser shall not be liable for any settlement of any such action effected without its consent by any
of such parties, but if settled with the consent of the Purchaser or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff
in any such action against the Purchaser or any of such parties, with or without the consent of the Purchaser,
the Purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold harmless such parties to the extent provided herein.

SECTION 13. MISCELLANEOUS

(a) This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be binding upon the Purchaser, the Issuer, and their
respective successors. This Bond Purchase Agreement and the terms and provisions hereof are for the sole
benefit of only those persons, except that the representations, warranties, indemnities and agreements of
the Issuer contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall also be deemed to be for the benefit of the
person or persons, if any, who control the Purchaser (within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or
Section 20 of the 1934 Act).  Nothing in this Bond Purchase Agreement is intended or shall be construed
to give any person, other than the persons referred to in this Paragraph, any legal or equitable right, remedy
or claim under or in respect of this Bond Purchase Agreement or any provision contained herein.  All of the
representations, warranties and agreements of the Issuer contained herein shall remain in full force and
effect, regardless of:  (1) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Purchaser, (2) delivery of and
payment for the Bonds; or (3) any termination of this Bond Purchase Agreement.

(b) For purposes of this Bond Purchase Agreement, “business day” means any day on which
the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading.

(c) This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State.

(d) This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and if
executed in more than one counterpart, the executed counterparts shall together constitute a single
instrument.

(e) This Bond Purchase Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the express
written consent of the other party.

(f) This Bond Purchase Agreement and the transactions related thereto and described herein
may be conducted and documents may be stored by electronic means.

SECTION 14. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Bond Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon acceptance hereof by the Issuer.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\BPA

(Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement)

Upon your acceptance of the offer, this Bond Purchase Agreement will be binding upon the Issuer
and the Purchaser.  Please acknowledge your agreement with the foregoing by executing the enclosed copy
of this Bond Purchase Agreement prior to the date and time specified on page 1 hereof and returning it to
the undersigned.

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

Date: February 9, 2021
Time: ____:____ __.m.

By:
Title: ____________________________

Accepted and agreed to as of
the date first above written.

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

Date: February 9, 2021
Time: ____:____ __.m.

By:
Chairman

ATTEST: (Seal)

By:
Clerk



600868.20105\BPA

A-1-1

EXHIBIT A-1

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

CALCULATION OF PURCHASE PRICE

Principal Amount $11,995,000*.00
Less Underwriter's Discount -
Plus Original Issue Premium
Less Original Issue Discount -

Total Purchase Price and Net Amount

MATURITY SCHEDULE

[SERIAL BONDS]

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price
2021 $135,000 _______% _______% 2029 $650,000 _______% _______%
2022 920,000 _______% _______% 2030 670,000 _______% _______%
2023 1,040,000 _______% _______% 2031 700,000 _______% _______%
2024 1,085,000 _______% _______% 2032 725,000 _______% _______%
2025 1,120,000 _______% _______% 2033 755,000 _______% _______%
2026 575,000 _______% _______% 2034 775,000 _______% _______%
2027 600,000 _______% _______% 2035 800,000 _______% _______%
2028 620,000 _______% _______% 2036 825,000 _______% _______%

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price
$ % %

20__

(Plus accrued interest from February 25, 2021)

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Redemption by Issuer.

Optional Redemption.  At the option of the Issuer, Bonds maturing on September 1 in the years
2029, and thereafter, will be subject to redemption and payment prior to maturity on September 1, 2028,
and thereafter, as a whole or in part (selection of maturities and the amount of Bonds of each maturity to



600868.20105\BPA

A-1-2

be redeemed to be determined by the Issuer in such equitable manner as it may determine) at any time, at
the redemption price of 100% (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount), plus accrued interest to
the date of redemption.

[ Mandatory Redemption.  [(a) [____] Term Bonds. The [____] Term Bonds shall be subject to
mandatory redemption and payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption
requirements hereinafter set forth a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest to the Redemption Date.  The Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in each year, the
following principal amounts of such [____] Term Bonds:

Principal
Amount Year

$

20__*
_______________

*Final Maturity]

[(b)] 20__ Term Bonds. The 20__ Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption and
payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption requirements hereinafter set forth
a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption
Date.  The Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in each year, the following principal amounts of such 20__
Term Bonds:

Principal
Amount Year

$

20__*
_______________

*Final Maturity]

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\BPA

A-2-1

EXHIBIT A-2

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

ISSUE PRICE DETERMINATION

GENERAL RULE MATURITIES
MATURITIES FOR WHICH 10% SOLD AS OF THE DATE OF THE

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

[SERIAL BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % % $ % %

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % %

20__ ]

HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES
MATURITIES FOR WHICH 10% NOT SOLD AS OF THE DATE OF THE

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

[SERIAL BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % % $ % %

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

20__ ]



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-1

EXHIBIT A-3

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

This Receipt and Representation (the “Certificate”) is being delivered by Raymond James &
Associates, Inc., Kansas City, Missouri (the “Purchaser”) in connection with the issuance of the above-
described bonds (the “Bonds”), being issued on the date of this Receipt by the Reno County, Kansas (the
“Issuer”).  Based on its records and information available to the undersigned which the undersigned believes
to be correct, the Purchaser represents as follows:

1. Authorized Representative. The undersigned is the duly authorized representative of the
Purchaser.

2. Receipt for Bonds.  The Purchaser acknowledges receipt by the Depository Trust
Company on behalf of the Purchaser on the Issue Date of the Bonds consisting of fully registered “book-
entry-only” bonds in Authorized Denominations in a form acceptable to the Purchaser.

3. Issue Price.

(a) Public Offering. On or before the sale date of the Bonds (February 8, 2021) the Purchaser
offered all the Bonds to the Public in a bona fide initial offering at the initial public offering prices set forth
on Schedule 1 attached to this Certificate (the “Initial Offering Prices”).  Included in Schedule 1-A is a
copy of the pricing wire or similar communication used by the Purchaser in connection with the initial
offering of the Bonds to the public at the Initial Offering Prices.

(b) General Rule Maturities. As of the date of this Certificate, for each Maturity of the Bonds
listed on Schedule 2 as the “General Rule Maturities,” the price or prices at which the first 10% of each
such General Rule Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule 2. All of the
Bonds comprising the first 10% of sales for each General Rule Maturity were sold at the same price.
Schedule 2-A contains documentation of the price, date, time and amount of individual sales that comprise
10% of such General Rule Maturity.

(c) Hold-the-Offering Prices. For each Maturity listed on Schedule 2 as the “Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturities” in the Bond Purchase Agreement the Purchaser has agreed in writing that (i) it
would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than
the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “Hold-the-
Offering-Price Rule”), and (ii) any selling group agreement contains the agreement of each dealer who is a
member of the selling group, and any retail distribution agreement contains the agreement of each broker-
dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply with the Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule.
Pursuant to such agreement, the Purchaser has not offered or sold any Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities
at a price that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity during the Holding Period.



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-2

(d) Defined Terms.

(i) The term “Maturity” means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds
with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest
rates, are treated as separate maturities.

(ii) The term “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate,
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to
an Underwriter.  The term “related party” is defined in U.S. Treasury Regulation § 1.150-1(b)
which generally provides that the term related party means any two or more persons who have a
greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(iii) The term “Underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to
a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) of this paragraph to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a
party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

(iv) The term “Holding Period” means the period starting on the sale date of the Bonds
and ending on the earlier of (A) the close of the fifth business day after such sale date October 20,
2020), or (B) the date on which the Purchaser has sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-
Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-
the-Offering-Price Maturity.

4. Compliance with Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Purchaser acknowledges that it has
timely received in satisfactory form and manner all proceedings, certificates, opinions, letters and other
documents required to be submitted to it pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement on the date of the
delivery of and payment for the Bonds (except to the extent the Purchaser has waived or consented to
modification of certain provisions thereof), and that the Issuer has in all respects complied with and satisfied
all of its obligations to us which are required under the Bond Purchase Agreement to be complied with and
satisfied on or before the date hereof

5. Reliance. The representations set forth in this Certificate are limited to factual matters
only.  The Issuer may rely on the statements made herein in connection with making the representations set
forth in the Federal Tax Certificate to which this Certificate is attached and in its efforts to comply with the
conditions imposed by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations
thereunder (the “Code”).  Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Bond Counsel, may also rely on this Issue Price Certificate
for purposes of its opinion regarding the treatment of interest on the Bonds as excludable from gross income
for federal income tax purposes, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from
time to time relating to the Bonds.  Except as expressly set forth above, the certifications set forth herein
may not be relied upon or used by any third party or for any other purpose. Notwithstanding anything set
forth herein, the Purchaser is not engaged in the practice of law. Accordingly, the Purchaser makes no
representation as to the legal sufficiency of the factual matters set forth herein.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-3

Dated: February 25, 2021.

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

By:
Title:



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-S-1

SCHEDULE 1

INITIAL OFFERING PRICES

[SERIAL BONDS]

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price
2021 $135,000 _______% _______% 2029 $650,000 _______% _______%
2022 920,000 _______% _______% 2030 670,000 _______% _______%
2023 1,040,000 _______% _______% 2031 700,000 _______% _______%
2024 1,085,000 _______% _______% 2032 725,000 _______% _______%
2025 1,120,000 _______% _______% 2033 755,000 _______% _______%
2026 575,000 _______% _______% 2034 775,000 _______% _______%
2027 600,000 _______% _______% 2035 800,000 _______% _______%
2028 620,000 _______% _______% 2036 825,000 _______% _______%

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Initial
Offering

Price
$ % %

20__



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-S-1-A

SCHEDULE 1-A

PRICING WIRE DOCUMENTATION



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-S-2-

SCHEDULE 2

GENERAL RULE MATURITIES
MATURITIES FOR WHICH 10% SOLD AS OF THE DATE OF THE

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

[SERIAL BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % % $ % %

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % %

20__ ]

HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES
MATURITIES FOR WHICH 10% NOT SOLD AS OF THE DATE OF THE

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

[SERIAL BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % % $ % %

[TERM BONDS

Stated
Maturity

September 1
Principal
Amount

Annual
Rate of
Interest

Sale
Price

$ % %

20__ ]



600868.20105\BPA

A-3-S-2-A

SCHEDULE 2-A

PRICING DOCUMENTATION



600868.20105\BPA

D-1

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.
Attorneys at Law

100 N. Main            Suite 800
Wichita, Kansas  67202

[February 25, 2021]

Governing Body Raymond James & Associates, Inc.
Reno County, Kansas Kansas City, Missouri

Re: $11,995,000* General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds,
Series 2021, of Reno County, Kansas, Dated February 25, 2021

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by Reno County, Kansas (the
“Issuer”), of the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”).  In this capacity, we have examined the law and the
certified proceedings, certifications and other documents that we deem necessary to render this opinion.
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the resolution
adopted by the governing body of the Issuer authorizing the issuance and prescribing the details of the
Bonds.

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied on the certified proceedings
and other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify them by
independent investigation.

Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer and are valid
and legally binding general obligations of the Issuer.

2. The Bonds are payable as to both principal and interest from ad valorem taxes which may
be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal,
within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The Issuer is required by law to include in its annual tax levy the
principal and interest coming due on the Bonds to the extent that necessary funds are not provided from
other sources.

3. The interest on the Bonds [(including any original issue discount properly allocable to an
owner of a Bond)] is:  (a) excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes; and (b) not an
item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. The opinions set forth in this
paragraph are subject to the condition that the Issuer complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in
order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply with all of these requirements.  Failure to comply with
certain of these requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal
income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Bonds have not been designated



600868.20105\BPA

D-2

as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Code § 265(b)(3). We express no opinion regarding
other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.

4. The interest on the Bonds is exempt from income taxation by the State of Kansas.

We express no opinion regarding the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official
Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds (except to the extent, if any, stated in the Official
Statement).  Further, we express no opinion regarding tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds
other than as expressly set forth in this opinion.

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by
equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

This opinion is given as of its date, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this
opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may come to our attention or any changes in law that may
occur after the date of this opinion.

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE

OF

$11,995,000*

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

Legal Opinion

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
Wichita, Kansas



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

i

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

___________

CLOSING LIST
___________

The transcript of proceedings will be prepared in electronic format unless otherwise noted, for the
above referenced issue (the “Bonds”), and distributed as follows:

1. Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”)

2. Attorney General of the State of Kansas

3. State Treasurer, Topeka, Kansas (the “Paying Agent”)

4. Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Kansas City, Missouri (the “Original Purchaser”)

5. Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Wichita, Kansas (“Bond Counsel”)

Document
Number

PROCEEDINGS AUTHORIZING THE IMPROVEMENTS

1. Bridge Improvements
·Excerpt of Minutes of the governing body meeting evidencing adoption of Resolution

No. 2019-20 and Excerpt of Minutes of the governing body meeting evidencing
adoption of amending Resolution No. 2020-08

·Resolution No. 2019-20 authorizing bridge improvements and Resolution No. 2020-08
amending Resolution No. 2019-20

2. Courthouse Improvements
·Excerpt of Minutes of the governing body meeting evidencing

adoption of Resolution No. 2020-30
·Resolution No. 2020-30 calling authorizing courthouse improvements
·Affidavit of Publication of Resolution No. 2020-30

3. Refuse Disposal Improvements
·Excerpt of Minutes of the governing body meeting evidencing

adoption of Resolution No. 2020-31
·Resolution No. 2020-31 authorizing refuse disposal improvements
·Affidavit of Publication of Notice of Intent
·Certificate of No Protest



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

ii

PROCEEDINGS AUTHORIZING THE SALE
AND ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS

4. Excerpt of Minutes of the governing body meeting evidencing adoption of Resolution
No. 2021-04

5. Resolution No. 2021-04 authorizing the offering for sale of the Bonds

6. Preliminary Official Statement and Certificate Deeming Preliminary Official Statement Final

7. Official Statement

8. Bond Purchase Agreement

9. Continuing Disclosure Undertaking

10. Excerpt of Minutes evidencing adoption of Resolution No. [_____]

11. Resolution No. [_____] authorizing the issuance of the Bonds and prescribing the form and
details of the Bonds

12. Resolution authorizing Refunded Bonds

13. Refunded Bonds and Refunded Notes Redemption Documents
·Call for Redemption
·Notice of Call for Redemption
·Paying Agent’s Certification
·Event Notice Pursuant to SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(C)

CLOSING DOCUMENTS

14. Transcript Certificate
Exhibit A – Statement of Costs
Exhibit B – Schedule of Outstanding General Obligation Indebtedness

15. Uniform Facsimile of Signature Certificate

16. Authorization of State Treasurer to use facsimile signature and seal

17. Specimen Bond and Bond Printer's Certificate

18. Agreement Between Issuer and Agent

19. DTC Documents
Blanket Letter of Representations
Underwriting Safekeeping Agreement

20. Rating Letter
Moody’s



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

iii

21. Closing Certificate

22. Federal Tax Certificate with attachments as follows:
Exhibit A – Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G and evidence of filing
Exhibit B – Receipt for Purchase Price
Exhibit C – Receipt and Representation
Exhibit D – Description of Property Comprising the Financed Improvements[ and List of

Reimbursement Expenditures]
Exhibit E – Sample Annual Compliance Checklist
Exhibit F – Sample Final Written Allocation
Exhibit G – Allocation of Sources and Uses
Schedule 1 – Debt Service Schedule & Proof of Yield

LEGAL OPINIONS

23. Approving legal opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C.

24. Approval letter of Attorney General

MISCELLANEOUS DOCUMENTS

25. Closing Letter

*  *  *  *  *



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

TRANSCRIPT CERTIFICATE

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

The undersigned Chairman and Clerk of Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”), do hereby make this
certificate for inclusion in the transcript of and as a part of the proceedings authorizing and providing for
the issuance of the above described bonds (the “Bonds”); and do hereby certify as of February 9, 2021, as
follows:

1. Meaning of Words and Terms. Capitalized words and terms used herein, unless
otherwise defined herein or the context requires otherwise, shall have the same meanings ascribed to such
words and terms in the hereinafter defined Bond Resolution authorizing the Bonds.

2. Organization. The Issuer is a legally constituted political subdivision organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Kansas.

3. Transcript of Proceedings.  The transcript of proceedings (the “Transcript”) relating to
the authorization and issuance of the Bonds is to the best of our knowledge, information and belief full and
complete; none of such proceedings have been modified, amended or repealed, except as might be shown
in the Transcript, and the facts stated in the Transcript still exist.  In each and every instance where copies
appear in the Transcript, such copies are true and correct duplicates of the original instruments now on file
with the Clerk.

4. Newspaper.  The Hutchinson News was the official newspaper of the Issuer at all times
during these proceedings.

5. Meetings.  All of the meetings of the governing body of the Issuer at which action was
taken as shown in the Transcript were either regular meetings or duly adjourned regular meetings or special
meetings duly called and held in accordance with law and the rules of the Issuer.

6. Incumbency of Officers.  The following named persons were and are the duly qualified
and acting officers of the Issuer at and during all the times when action was taken as indicated in the
Transcript as follows:

Name Title Term of Office
Ron Hirst Chairman 01/2021 to 01/2025

Commissioner 01/2017 to 01/2021
Ron Sellers Chairman 10/2020 to 01/2021

Commissioner 01/2019 to 01/2023
Daniel Friesen Commissioner 01/2021 to 01/2025
Mark Steffen Commissioner 11/2020 to 01/2021
Bob Bush Chairman 01/2019 to 10/2020

Commissioner 01/2017 to 10/2020



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

2

Donna Patton Clerk N/A
Brenda Kowitz Treasurer N/A

7. Execution of Bonds.  The Bonds have been executed with facsimile signatures; and the
facsimile signatures appearing on the face of the Bonds are facsimiles of the true and genuine signatures of
the Chairman[ and Clerk of the Issuer; which facsimiles are ratified as a proper execution of said Bonds.
Each signature has either been duly filed in the office of the Secretary of State of Kansas pursuant to
K.S.A. 75-4001 et seq or executed in accordance with K.S.A. 16-1601 et seq. A facsimile of the seal of the
Issuer is affixed to or imprinted on each of the Bonds and on the reverse side of each of the Bonds at the
place where the Clerk has executed by facsimile signature the Certificate of Registration; and each Bond
bears a Certificate of Registration evidencing the fact that it has been registered in the office of the Clerk.
A true impression of the seal is set forth adjacent to the signature of the Clerk below.  The specimen bond
included in the Transcript is in the form adopted by the governing body of the Issuer for the Bonds.

8. Authorization and Purpose of the Bonds.  The Bonds are being issued pursuant to and
in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the State, including particularly Charter Resolution
No. XXV of the Issuer, K.S.A. 19-101 et seq., K.S.A. 68-1103 et seq., K.S.A 19-2658 et seq. and K.S.A.
10-427 et seq., as amended, and Resolution No. [_____] of the Issuer duly adopted by the Governing Body
of the Issuer on February 9, 2021 (the “Bond Resolution”) for the purpose of:

(a) paying costs of certain courthouse, bridge and refuse disposal improvements (the
“Improvements”).

(b) retiring on March 1, 2021 the following temporary notes of the Issuer, issued to temporarily
finance certain of the Improvements (the “Refunded Notes”):

Description Series Dated Date Maturity Dates Amount
General

Obligation
Temporary Notes

2019 December 5, 2019 December 1, 2021 $6,250,000

(c) refunding the following bonds of the Issuer (the “Refunded Bonds”):

Description Series Dated Date Years Amount
General

Obligation Bonds
2010 May 15, 2010 2021 to 2025 $70,000

The total principal amount of the Bonds does not exceed the cost of the Improvements for which
the Bonds are issued. The total principal amount of the Bonds issued to refund the Refunded Bonds does
not exceed the aggregate amounts prescribed in K.S.A. 10-427, as amended.  A Statement of Cost is attached
hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof by reference as though fully set out herein.

The interest rates on the Bonds on the date of the sale of the Bonds were within the maximum legal
limit for interest rates under K.S.A. 10-1009, as amended.

9. Bonded Indebtedness.  The currently outstanding applicable indebtedness of the Issuer,
including the Bonds, does not exceed any applicable constitutional or statutory limitations.  A Schedule of
Bonded Indebtedness, which sets forth all currently outstanding general obligation indebtedness of the
Issuer, is attached hereto as Exhibit B and made a part hereof by reference as though fully set out herein.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

3

10. Valuation.  The total assessed valuation of the taxable tangible property within the Issuer
for the year 2020 is as follows:

Equalized Assessed Valuation of

Taxable Tangible Property ............................................................. $615,937,145

Tangible Valuation of Motor Vehicles (2019) ...................................... 65,032,974

Equalized Assessed Tangible Valuation

for Computation of Bonded Debt Limitations ................................ $680,970,119

11. Non-litigation. There is no controversy, suit or other proceedings of any kind pending or
threatened wherein or whereby any question is raised or may be raised, questioning, disputing or affecting
in any way:  (a) the legal organization of the Issuer or its boundaries; (b) the right or title of any of its
officers to their respective offices; (c) the legality of any official act shown to have been done in the
Transcript; (d) the constitutionality or validity of the indebtedness represented by the Bonds shown to be
authorized in the Transcript; (e) the validity of the Bonds, or any of the proceedings had in relation to the
authorization, issuance or sale thereof; or (f) the levy and collection of a tax to pay the principal of and
interest on the Bonds.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

(Signature Page to Transcript Certificate)

WITNESS our true and genuine manual signatures and the seal of the Issuer.

Chairman

(SEAL)

Clerk



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

A-1

EXHIBIT A

STATEMENT OF COST

Re: General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021, Dated
February 25, 2021, of Reno County, Kansas

Sources of Funds:
Principal Amount of the Bonds $11,995,000*.00
[Available funds of the Issuer]
[Underwriter’s Discount/Compensation] -
[Original Issue Premium]
[Original Issue Discount] -

Total $

Uses of Funds:
Deposit to Improvement Fund - Improvements $
Deposit to Improvement Fund – Refunded Notes
Deposit to Redemption Fund
[Capitalized Interest]
Costs of Issuance

Total $



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

B-1

EXHIBIT B

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

SCHEDULE OF OUTSTANDING GENERAL OBLIGATION INDEBTEDNESS
(as of February 25, 2021)

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

Description of
Indebtedness

Date of
Indebtedness Final Maturity

Original
Principal
Amount

Amount
Outstanding

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2010 (Cedar
Ridge)* 05/15/2010 09/01/2025 $165,000 $0
General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series
2012 12/18/2012 09/01/2028 5,925,000 2,335,000
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015 09/10/2015 09/01/2035 260,000 210,000
General Obligation Refunding and Improvement
Bonds, Series 2021** 02/25/2021 09/01/2036 11,995,000* 11,995,000*

Total $14,540,000

*To be refunded by Series 2021 as of March 1, 2021
**This issue

TEMPORARY NOTES

Description of
Indebtedness

Date of
Indebtedness Final Maturity

Original
Principal
Amount

Amount
Outstanding

Taxable General Obligation Temporary Notes,
Series 2017-2

03/16/2017 $662,000 $662,000 $167,225

General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series
2019***

12/05/2019 6,250,000 6,250,000 0

Total $167,225

***To be retired as of March 1, 2021 by Series 2021



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

CERTIFICATE OF MANUAL SIGNATURE
OF THE CHAIRMAN OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

IN THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS )
)  SS.

COUNTY OF RENO )

I, the undersigned, Ron Hirst, being duly sworn on oath certify that I am the duly qualified
Chairman of Reno County, Kansas, and that the signature appearing below is my signature and I file
herewith this certificate pursuant to K.S.A. 75-4001 to 75-4007, inclusive.

Ron Hirst

Subscribed and sworn to before me as of February __, 2021.

Notary Public in and for said County and State
(SEAL)

My commission expires: .



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

AGREEMENT BETWEEN ISSUER AND AGENT

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

THIS AGREEMENT, dated as of February 25, 2021, between Reno County, Kansas, a political
subdivision (the “Issuer”), and the State Treasurer of Kansas, as Agent (the “Agent”).

WHEREAS, for its lawful purposes, the Issuer has duly authorized the issue of the above-
captioned bonds (the “Securities”), and the Issuer wishes the Agent to act as its Paying Agent, Bond
Registrar, and Transfer Agent for the Securities:

Now, therefore, it is hereby agreed as follows:

I. APPOINTMENT

Issuer hereby appoints or has heretofore appointed the State Treasurer of Kansas to act as Paying
Agent, Bond Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Securities.  The State Treasurer of Kansas hereby accepts
its appointment as the Paying Agent, Bond Registrar and Transfer Agent.

II. BASIC DUTIES

A. Issuer or its duly authorized representative agrees to furnish Agent the name(s) and
address(es) of the initial registered owner(s) of the Securities together with such registered
owners' tax identification (social security) number(s), the maturity date(s), denomination(s)
and interest rate(s) for each Security.

B. Agent shall manually authenticate the originally issued Securities upon the written order
of one or more authorized officers of Issuer.  Thereafter, Agent shall manually authenticate
all Securities resulting from transfer or exchange of Securities.

C. Agent shall maintain an office in the City of Topeka, Kansas, where Securities may be
presented for registration, transfer and exchange; and shall also maintain an office in the
City of Topeka, Kansas, where Securities may be presented for payment.  Agent shall keep
a register of the Securities and their transfer and exchange.

D. Agent may rely upon any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed
or presented by the proper person.  Agent need not investigate any fact or matter stated in
the document.  Agent undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties set forth in
K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., except as specifically provided in this Agreement.

E. Agent shall notify the owners of the Securities upon default in payment of principal or
interest on the Securities and the Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities thereafter.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

2

III. COMPENSATION

A. Issuer covenants and agrees to pay to Agent, as reasonable compensation for the services
provided as Agent, an initial setup fee of $300, a registration fee of $30, plus a fee of
$4,000.00, which is based on “Book-entry Only” Securities.

This amount will be due at the time of registration unless such fee is to be paid from the
proceeds of the bond issue in which case Issuer agrees to pay such fee within two (2)
business days of the closing of the bond issue.  In addition to the aforementioned fee, Issuer
covenants and agrees to pay to Agent the fee as stated and required by K.S.A. 10-505 for
performing the duties of paying the principal of the Securities.

IV. STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE

Issuer shall provide, or shall cause to be provided to Agent, a designation of whether its Securities
are to be issued in certificated or uncertificated form, or both.

A. STATEMENTS OF OWNERSHIP

Agent agrees to provide Statements of Ownership to the owner of uncertificated Securities.
Such Statements shall be in accordance with the standards set forth by the Attorney
General.  All Statements shall be issued in the denominations of $1,000 or $5,000 or
integral multiples thereof except for one additional Security in another denomination,
which additional Security shall mature in the initial maturity year of the series of the
Securities.  Interest is computed on the basis of $1,000 or $5,000 units and in all
transactions involving the payment of interest, fractions of a cent equaling or exceeding
five mills shall be regarded as one cent; fractions of a cent less than five mills shall be
disregarded.  Agent shall at all times maintain an adequate supply of Statements of
Ownership for any anticipated transfers or exchanges of the Statements.

B. CERTIFICATED SECURITIES

All certificated Securities issued by Issuer under this Agreement shall be in accordance
with the standards set forth by the Attorney General and unless otherwise authorized by
Agent, the principal thereof shall be payable only upon surrender of the Security to Agent.
All certificates shall be issued in the denomination of $1,000 or $5,000 or integral multiples
thereof except one authorized Security in another denomination which additional Security
shall mature in the initial maturity year of the series of Securities.  Interest is computed on
the basis of $1,000 or $5,000 units and in all transactions involving the payment of interest,
fractions of a cent equaling or exceeding five mills shall be regarded as one cent; fractions
of a cent less than five mills shall be disregarded.  Issuer shall at Issuer's cost provide Agent
with an adequate supply of certificates for any anticipated transfers or exchanges of the
certificates.  Issuer shall be responsible for the payment of the printing or other expenses
for such certificates.  Issuer shall be responsible for obtaining appropriate “CUSIP”
number(s) and shall notify Agent of each number(s) prior to the issuance of the applicable
Securities.

C. INTEREST CALCULATIONS

Agent shall calculate interest on the basis of $1,000 and $5,000 units, or in the case of one
odd denomination, calculate the unit separately.  Each intermediate unit calculation is first



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

3

determined, then rounded to the sixth decimal position; i.e. whenever the seventh decimal
place is equal to or greater than five the sixth decimal place is increased by one.  The final
per unit calculation is subsequently rounded to two decimal positions.  (See Attachment
“A” for sample calculation.)

D. SURRENDER

Securities surrendered for payment, cancellation or partial redemption shall be cancelled
by Agent and returned to Issuer in accordance with K.S.A. 10-111.

E. TRANSFERS AND EXCHANGES

1. When Securities are presented to Agent for transfer or exchange, Agent shall so
transfer or exchange such Securities if the requirements of Section 8-401(1) of the
Uniform Commercial Code are met.

2. In accordance with the authorizing Resolution or Ordinance of the Issuer (the
“Bond Resolution”), payments of interest shall be made to the owner of record of
each Security as of the close of business on the fifteenth day of the month
preceding each interest payment date.  The Agent shall make such payments to the
record owner of each Security as set forth on the registration books maintained by
Agent as of such date.

3. Agent shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Security during a period
beginning on the day following the fifteenth day of the month preceding any
interest payment date for such Securities and ending at the close of business on the
interest payment date, or to transfer or exchange any Security selected or called for
redemption in whole or in part subsequent to the date notice of such redemption is
given in accordance with the Bond Resolution authorizing the Securities.

F. REGISTRATION DATES AND FUNDS FOR PAYMENTS

Date of Registration shall be affixed on the initial Securities.  Subsequent transfers or
exchanges shall bear a Date of Registration as of the date that all the required
documentation is received at the Agent's official place of business.  Issuer will provide
funds to make any interest or principal payments in accordance with K.S.A. 10-130 and
amendments thereto.  Agent is hereby authorized to effect any semiannual payment of
interest or any principal by charging the Issuer's Fiscal Agency account with Agent.

G. REPLACEMENT OF SECURITIES

If the owner of a Security claims that a Security has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully
taken, Issuer shall issue and Agent shall authenticate a replacement Security if the
requirements of Section 8-405 of the Uniform Commercial Code are met.  Only Agent shall
perform this function.  An indemnity bond and affidavit of loss shall be provided to Agent
and Issuer at the expense of the owner of the Security.  Such indemnity bond and affidavit
of loss must be sufficient in the judgment of Issuer and Agent to protect Issuer and Agent
from any loss which any of them may suffer if the Security is replaced.  Issuer may charge
the Security owner for its expenses in the replacement of a Security.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

4

H. REDEMPTIONS

Optional Redemption.  If any Securities are to be redeemed pursuant to an optional
redemption in accordance with their terms, Issuer agrees to give Agent at least fifteen (15)
days written notice thereof prior to the notice to be given the Security owners.  If there is
no provision for notice to the Security owners, Issuer agrees to give at least thirty (30) days
written notice to Agent.

[Mandatory Redemption.  If any Securities are subject to mandatory redemption in
accordance with their terms of the Bond Resolution, no additional notice is required to be
given to the Agent to exercise the mandatory redemption.  The Agent will provide notice
of such redemption utilizing substantially the form of Notice of Mandatory Redemption
attached hereto as Appendix I.]

Notice of Redemption.  Agent shall then notify, by ordinary mail, the owner of such
Securities to be so redeemed.  Agent shall select the Securities to be so redeemed.  Agent
shall not be required to exchange or register a transfer of any Security for a period of fifteen
(15) days preceding the date notice is to be provided to the Security owners for the purpose
of selecting Securities on a partial redemption.  Further, in the event notice is given to
Agent for a complete redemption of the Issue according to the terms of the Bond
Resolution, Agent shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Security beginning on
the day following the 15th day preceding the date set for redemption.

I. MISCELLANEOUS

BEO-Agent hereby acknowledges receipt of numbered Securities of Issuer (in a number
equal to one Security for each maturity) for registration and exchange, and shall safeguard
any “blank” Securities held for purpose of exchange or transfer.

J. REPORTS

Agent shall provide Issuer an annual report of the activity with respect to the issuance of
Securities upon written request of Issuer.

K. CONSTRUCTION

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas and
also the Bond Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Securities.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

(Signature Page to Agreement Between Issuer & Agent)

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

By
(SEAL) Chairman

ATTEST:

By
Clerk

OFFICE OF THE TREASURER
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

(SEAL) By
Director of Fiscal Services



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

A-1

ATTACHMENT “A”

SAMPLE

$5,000.00000 ........................ Bond Unit
x .06875 ........................ Interest Rate
= 343.750000 Rounded to six decimal places

/ 360 ........................ Days per year
= .954861 Rounded to six decimal places

x 180 ........................ Day in interest period
= 171.874980 (Rounded to second decimal = $171.87)

Unit interest is then multiplied by the number of units in the maturity.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

I-1

[APPENDIX I

NOTICE OF CALL FOR MANDATORY REDEMPTION
TO THE OWNERS OF

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS

SERIES 2021, DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

Notice is hereby given that pursuant to the provisions of Article III of Resolution No. [_____] (the
“Bond Resolution”) of Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”) that a portion of the above-mentioned bonds
(the “Bonds”) scheduled to mature [on September 1,][in] [2036][_______][_______] (the “Called Bonds”),
have been called for mandatory redemption and payment on September 1, [_____] (the “Redemption
Date”), at the principal office of the Treasurer of the State of Kansas (the “Bond Registrar and Paying
Agent”).

[Nos.]
Maturity Date
(September 1)

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate

CUSIP
Number

[_________]
2036

On the Redemption Date there shall become due and payable, upon the presentation and surrender
of each such Called Bond, the redemption price thereof equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof
together with interest accrued to the Redemption Date.  Bonds issued in denominations of greater than
$5,000 may be subject to partial redemption.  In such event, a new certificate or certificates will be issued
to the Owner in the principal amount to remain Outstanding.  Interest shall cease to accrue on the Called
Bonds so called for redemption from and after the Redemption Date provided such funds for redemption
are on deposit with the Paying Agent.

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

By
Treasurer of the State of Kansas,
Topeka, Kansas]



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

UNDERWRITING SAFEKEEPING AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN

DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY
AND

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS
AND

THE OFFICE OF THE KANSAS STATE TREASURER

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

In order to induce the Depository Trust Company (the “DTC”) to accept delivery of the above
captioned bonds (the “Bonds”) for safekeeping prior to the delivery of the Bonds on February 25, 2021 (the
“Closing Date”), Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”), and the Treasurer of the State of Kansas (the “Agent”)
hereby agree to place the entire principal amount of the Bonds, in the custody, control and possession of
DTC at least one day prior to the Closing Date.  The Issuer further agrees that by copy of this letter
appropriately executed, it will notify DTC to follow the instructions of Raymond James & Associates, Inc.,
Kansas City, Missouri, as the Underwriter (the “Underwriter”) in distributing the Bonds.

By executing this agreement in the appropriate place DTC acknowledges upon receipt from the
Agent of possession, custody and control of the Bonds, and agrees to safekeep and hold in escrow the Bonds
until it shall have received notification from one of the following authorized representatives of the Issuer
to release or return the Bonds: Donna Patton, Clerk, or Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Bond Counsel.  Notification
may be made by telephone or by receipt of an executed notice, delivered or telecopied to DTC; provided,
however, that if the notification is made by telephone, written notice must be sent within 24 hours of the
original notification.  In the event the Issuer executes the release of the Bonds, DTC will distribute the
Bonds pursuant to written instructions provided by the Underwriter; however, in the event a demand for the
return of the Bonds is received, DTC shall return the Bonds as soon as practicable, but in any event, no later
than the following business day.

DTC agrees to hold the Issuer and the Agent, as their interests may appear, and any of their officers
or employees, harmless from any liability, loss, damage or reasonable expense in connection with the loss,
theft, destruction or other disappearance of the Bonds while they are in the possession, custody or control
of DTC, prior to concluding the Closing with respect to the Bonds and prior to distributing the Bonds in
accordance with the instructions furnished by the Underwriter.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

(Signature Page to Underwriting Safekeeping Agreement)

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

Dated: February 9, 2021

By:
Clerk

OFFICE OF THE TREASURER OF
THE STATE OF KANSAS, As Agent

Dated:  ________________

By:
Title:  Director of Fiscal Services

DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

Dated:  ________________

By:
Title:



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

3

DTC hereby acknowledges receipt from
the Agent of custody, control
and possession of the Bonds.

Dated:  ________________.

DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY

By:
Title:



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

4

Re: General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021, dated February 25, 2021, of
Reno County, Kansas

Dated: February 25, 2021.

The formal Closing of the above-referenced
Bonds has occurred, and DTC is hereby
authorized to distribute the Bonds as
previously agreed:

By:
GILMORE & BELL, P.C.,
as Bond Counsel for the Issuer

The Closing of the above-referenced Bonds
did not occur and DTC is requested to
return the Bonds to the custody, control
and possession of the Agent:

By:
GILMORE & BELL, P.C.,
as Bond Counsel for the Issuer



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

CLOSING CERTIFICATE

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

The undersigned Chairman and Clerk of Reno County, Kansas (the “Issuer”), make this Certificate
for inclusion in the transcript of and as a part of the proceedings authorizing and providing for the issuance
of the above described bonds (the “Bonds”); and certify as of February 25, 2021 (the “Issue Date”), as
follows:

1. Meaning of Words and Terms. Capitalized words and terms used in this Certificate, unless
otherwise defined in this Certificate or the context requires otherwise, have the same meanings ascribed to
such words and terms in the Bond Resolution (defined below) authorizing the Bonds.

2. Transcript of Proceedings.  The transcript of proceedings relating to the authorization and
issuance of the Bonds (the “Transcript”), furnished to the Purchaser of the Bonds, is to the best of our
knowledge, information and belief full and complete; none of such proceedings have been modified,
amended or repealed, except as might be shown in the Transcript; and the facts stated in the Transcript still
exist.  In each instance where copies appear in the Transcript, such copies are true and correct duplicates of
the original instruments now on file with the Clerk.  All certifications made by the Issuer in the Transcript
Certificate dated February 9, 2021 are true and correct as of this date and are incorporated in this Certificate
by reference.

3. Authorization and Purpose of the Bonds. The Issuer is issuing and delivering the Bonds
simultaneously with the delivery of this Certificate, pursuant to and in full compliance with the Constitution
and statutes of the State, including particularly K.S.A. Charter Resolution No. XXV of the Issuer, K.S.A.
19-101 et seq., K.S.A. 68-1103 et seq., K.S.A 19-2658 et seq. and K.S.A. 10-427 et seq., as amended, and
Resolution No. [_____] of the Issuer duly adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer on February 9,
2021 (the “Bond Resolution”) for the purpose of:

(a) paying costs of certain courthouse, bridge and refuse disposal improvements (the
“Improvements”).

(b) retiring on March 1, 2021 the following temporary notes of the Issuer, issued to temporarily
finance the Improvements (the “Refunded Notes”):

Description Series Dated Date Maturity Dates Amount
General

Obligation
Temporary Notes

2019 December 5, 2019 December 1, 2021 $6,250,000

(c) refunding the following bonds of the Issuer (the “Refunded Bonds”):

Description Series Dated Date Years Amount
General

Obligation Bonds
2010 May 15, 2010 2021 to 2025 $70,000



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

2

The purpose of the refunding is to achieve interest cost savings through early redemption of the
Refunded Bonds, and to provide an orderly plan of finance for the Issuer.

4. Security for the Bonds. The Bonds are general obligations of the Issuer payable from ad
valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible
property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The full faith, credit and resources of
the Issuer are pledged under the Bond Resolution to the payment of the principal of and interest on the
Bonds.  In the Bond Resolution, the governing body of the Issuer has covenanted to annually make
provision for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same become
due by, to the extent necessary, by levying and collecting the necessary taxes upon all of the taxable tangible
property within the Issuer in the manner provided by law.

5. Sale of Bonds.  The Bonds have been sold at rates not in excess of the limitations set forth in
K.S.A. 10-1009.

6. Official Statement. The Official Statement contained in the Transcript constitutes a full, true
and correct copy of the Official Statement relating to the Bonds.  To the best of our knowledge, the Official
Statement, other than the sections entitled “The Depository Trust Company,” “Rating,” “Legal Matters,”
“Tax Matters,” and Appendices B and C, about which the Issuer expresses no opinion, is true in all material
respects, and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or does not omit to state a material
fact, necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading. As of this date there has been no material adverse change in the financial
condition or the financial affairs of the Issuer since the date of the Official Statement.  No other event has
occurred which is necessary to be disclosed in the Official Statement in order to make the statements therein
not misleading in any material respect as of the date of this Certificate.  The Issuer has previously caused
to be delivered to the Purchaser copies of the Official Statement.

7. Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. The Issuer has heretofore executed a Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking (the “Disclosure Undertaking”), wherein the Issuer has covenanted to disseminate
such information as is required in accordance with the provisions of the SEC Rule and the Disclosure
Undertaking.  In the Bond Resolution, the Issuer has covenanted to apply the provisions of the Disclosure
Undertaking to the Bonds.  A copy of the Disclosure Undertaking is contained in the Transcript.

8. Non-Litigation.  There is no controversy, action, suit, proceeding, or to the best of our
knowledge, any inquiry or investigation at law or in equity or before or by any public board or body pending
or, to the best or our knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Issuer, its officers or its property, or, to
the best of our knowledge, any basis therefor questioning, disputing or affecting in any way:  (a) the legal
organization of the Issuer or its boundaries; (b) the right or title of any of its officers to their respective
offices; (c) the legality of any official act shown to have been done in the Transcript; (d) the constitutionality
or validity of the indebtedness represented by the Bonds shown to be authorized in the Transcript; (e) the
validity of the Bonds, or any of the proceedings had in relation to the authorization, issuance or sale thereof;
(f) the levy and collection of an ad valorem property tax to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds;
or (g) the federal or state tax-exempt status of the interest on the Bonds; wherein any unfavorable decision,
ruling or finding would adversely affect the Issuer, the transactions contemplated by the Bond Purchase
Agreement, or by the Bond Resolution or the Official Statement, or the validity or enforceability of the
Bonds or the Bond Purchase Agreement, which are not disclosed in the final Official Statement.

9. Representations and Warranties Required by the Bond Purchase Agreement. The Issuer
has duly performed all of its obligations required to be performed at or prior to the date of this Closing
Certificate by the Bond Purchase Agreement and each of the Issuer's representations and warranties
contained in the Bond Purchase Agreement are true as of the Issue Date.



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

(Signature Page to Closing Certificate)

WITNESS our hands and the seal of the Issuer.

Signature Official Title

Chairman

(SEAL)

Clerk



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

A-1

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
02/01/2021

[FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION]

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.
Attorneys at Law

100 N. Main            Suite 800
Wichita, Kansas  67202

[February 25, 2021]

Governing Body Raymond James & Associates, Inc.
Reno County, Kansas Kansas City, Missouri

Re: $11,995,000* General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds,
Series 2021, of Reno County, Kansas, Dated February 25, 2021

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by Reno County, Kansas (the
“Issuer”), of the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”).  In this capacity, we have examined the law and the
certified proceedings, certifications and other documents that we deem necessary to render this opinion.
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the resolution
adopted by the governing body of the Issuer authorizing the issuance and prescribing the details of the
Bonds.

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied on the certified proceedings
and other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify them by
independent investigation.

Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer and are valid
and legally binding general obligations of the Issuer.

2. The Bonds are payable as to both principal and interest from ad valorem taxes which may
be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal,
within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The Issuer is required by law to include in its annual tax levy the
principal and interest coming due on the Bonds to the extent that necessary funds are not provided from
other sources.

3. The interest on the Bonds [(including any original issue discount properly allocable to an
owner of a Bond)] is:  (a) excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes; and (b) not an
item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. The opinions set forth in this
paragraph are subject to the condition that the Issuer complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in
order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply with all of these requirements.  Failure to comply with



600868.20105\CLOSEDOCS

A-2

certain of these requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal
income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Bonds have not been designated
as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Code § 265(b)(3). We express no opinion regarding
other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.

4. The interest on the Bonds is exempt from income taxation by the State of Kansas.

We express no opinion regarding the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official
Statement or other offering material relating to the Bonds (except to the extent, if any, stated in the Official
Statement).  Further, we express no opinion regarding tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds
other than as expressly set forth in this opinion.

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by
equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

This opinion is given as of its date, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this
opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may come to our attention or any changes in law that may
occur after the date of this opinion.

GILMORE & BELL, P.C.



600868.20105\CDU

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
01/14/2021

__________________________________________

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 25, 2021

BY

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

____________________________________

$11,995,000*
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS
SERIES 2021

DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2021

____________________________________



600868.20105\CDU

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING dated as of February 25, 2021
(the “Continuing Disclosure Undertaking”), is executed and delivered by RENO COUNTY, KANSAS
(the “Issuer”).

RECITALS

1. This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is executed and delivered by the Issuer in
connection with the issuance by the Issuer of its General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds,
Series 2021 (the “Bonds”), pursuant to a Resolution adopted by the governing body of the Issuer (the “Bond
Resolution”).

2. The Issuer is entering into this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking for the benefit of the
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with Rule
15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Rule”).  The Issuer is the only “obligated person” with responsibility for continuing disclosure hereunder.

The Issuer covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Bond Resolution, which
apply to any capitalized term used in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking unless otherwise defined in
this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” means any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as described
in, Section 2 of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, which may include the Issuer's CAFR, so long as
the CAFR contains the financial information and operating data described in Section 2(a)(1) and (2).

“Beneficial Owner” means any registered owner of any Bonds and any person which (a) has the
power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds
(including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated
as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

“Business Day” means a day other than (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (b) a day on which
banks located in any city in which the principal office or designated payment office of the paying agent or
the Dissemination Agent is located are required or authorized by law to remain closed, or (c) a day on which
the Securities Depository or the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

“CAFR” means the Issuer's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, if any.

“Dissemination Agent” means any entity designated in writing by the Issuer to serve as
dissemination agent pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and which has filed with the Issuer
a written acceptance of such designation.

“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system for municipal securities
disclosures established and maintained by the MSRB, which can be accessed at www.emma.msrb.org.

“Financial Obligation” means a: (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into in
connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation;
or (c) guarantee of (a) or (b) in this definition; provided however, the term Financial Obligation shall not



600868.20105\CDU

2

include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent
with the Rule.

“Fiscal Year” means the 12-month period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31 or
any other 12-month period selected by the Issuer as the Fiscal Year of the Issuer for financial reporting
purposes.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles, as applied to governmental units, as in
effect at the time of the preparation of the financial information described in Section 2(a)(1).

“Material Events” means any of the events listed in Section 3 of this Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking.

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor repository
designated as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the Rule.

“Participating Underwriter” means any of the original underwriter(s) of the Bonds required to
comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds.

Section 2. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The Issuer shall, not later than the last day of the eighth month after the end of the Issuer’s
Fiscal Year, commencing with the year ending December 31, 2021, file with the MSRB, through EMMA,
the following financial information and operating data (the “Annual Report”):

(1) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior Fiscal Year, prepared
on a statutory basis of accounting other than GAAP which demonstrates compliance with the State's
“cash-basis” and “budget” laws. The Issuer has received a waiver from GAAP accounting from the
State. A more detailed explanation of the accounting basis is contained in the Official Statement
relating to the Bonds. If audited financial statements are not available by the time the Annual
Report is required to be provided pursuant to this Section, the Annual Report shall contain
unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained in the final
Official Statement relating to the Bonds, and the audited financial statements shall be provided in
the same manner as the Annual Report promptly after they become available.

(2) Updates as of the end of the Fiscal Year of certain financial information and
operating data contained in the final Official Statement related to the Bonds, as described in
Exhibit A, in substantially the same format contained in the final Official Statement with such
adjustments to formatting or presentation determined to be reasonable by the Issuer.

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents,
including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Issuer is an “obligated person” (as
defined by the Rule), which have been provided to the MSRB and are available through EMMA or the
Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document included by reference is a final official statement,
it must be available from the MSRB on EMMA.  The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document
so included by reference.

In each case, the Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents
comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in this Section; provided that
the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual
Report and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not available



600868.20105\CDU

3

by that date.  If the Issuer’s Fiscal Year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as
for a Material Event under Section 3, and the Annual Report deadline provided above shall automatically
become the last day of the eighth month after the end of the Issuer’s new fiscal year.

(b) The Annual Report shall be filed with the MSRB in such manner and format as is
prescribed by the MSRB.

Section 3. Reporting of Material Events.  Not later than 10 Business Days after the
occurrence of any of the following events, the Issuer shall give, or cause to be given to the MSRB, through
EMMA, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds (“Material
Events”):

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;
(2) non-payment related defaults, if material;
(3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
(4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
(6) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

(7) modifications to rights of bondholders, if material;
(8) bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
(9) defeasances;
(10) release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
(11) rating changes;
(12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;
(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the obligated person

or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in the
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than
pursuant to its terms, if material;

(14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of the trustee, if
material;

(15) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial
Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material; and

(16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which
reflect financial difficulties.

If the Issuer has not submitted the Annual Report to the MSRB by the date required in Section 2(a),
the Issuer shall send a notice to the MSRB of the failure of the Issuer to file on a timely basis the Annual
Report, which notice shall be given by the Issuer in accordance with this Section 3.

Section 4. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer’s obligations under this
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment
in full of all of the Bonds.  If the Issuer’s obligations under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking are
assumed in full by some other entity, such person shall be responsible for compliance with this Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking in the same manner as if it were the Issuer, and the Issuer shall have no further
responsibility hereunder.  If such termination or substitution occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds,



600868.20105\CDU

4

the Issuer shall give notice of such termination or substitution in the same manner as for a Material Event
under Section 3.

Section 5. Dissemination Agents. The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking, and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor
Dissemination Agent. Any Dissemination Agent may resign as dissemination agent hereunder at any time
upon 30 days prior written notice to the Issuer.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any
manner for the content of any notice or report (including without limitation the Annual Report) prepared
by the Issuer pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.

Section 6. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, the Issuer may amend this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and any provision
of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking may be waived, provided that Bond Counsel or other counsel
experienced in federal securities law matters provides the Issuer with its written opinion that the undertaking
of the Issuer contained herein, as so amended or after giving effect to such waiver, is in compliance with
the Rule and all current amendments thereto and interpretations thereof that are applicable to this
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking,
the Issuer shall describe such amendment or waiver in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as
applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type
(or, in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or
operating data being presented by the Issuer.  In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting
principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (1) notice of such change shall be given in the
same manner as for a Material Event under Section 3, and (2) the Annual Report for the year in which the
change is made should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form)
between the financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those
prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.

Section 7. Additional Information. Nothing in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking
shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of
dissemination set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking or any other means of communication,
or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in
addition to that required by this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.  If the Issuer chooses to include any
information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in addition to that specifically
required by this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report
or notice of occurrence of a Material Event.

Section 8. Default. If the Issuer fails to comply with any provision of this Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, any Participating Underwriter or any Beneficial Owner of the Bonds may take
such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by
court order, to cause the Issuer to comply with its obligations under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.
A default under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall not be deemed an event of default under the
Bond Resolution or the Bonds, and the sole remedy under this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking in the
event of any failure of the Issuer to comply with this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be an action
to compel performance.



600868.20105\CDU

5

Section 9. Beneficiaries. This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall inure solely to the
benefit of the Issuer, the Participating Underwriter, and the Beneficial Owners from time to time of the
Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

Section 10. Severability. If any provision in this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the
Bond Resolution or the Bonds shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 11. Electronic Transactions.  The arrangement described herein may be conducted
and related documents may be sent, received, or stored by electronic means.  Copies, telecopies, facsimiles,
electronic files and other reproductions of original documents shall be deemed to be authentic and valid
counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in
the appropriate court of law.

Section 12. Governing Law.  This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be governed by
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas.

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



600868.20105\CDU

(Signature Page to Disclosure Undertaking)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to be
executed as of the day and year first above written.

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS

(SEAL)
Chairman

Clerk



600868.20105\CDU

EXHIBIT A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OPERATING DATA
TO BE INCLUDED IN ANNUAL REPORT

The financial information and operating data contained in tables in the following sections contained
in Appendix A of the final Official Statement relating to the Bonds:

FINANCIAL INFORMATION DEBT STRUCTURE
·Assessed Valuation ·Current Indebtedness of the Issuer*
·Property Tax Levies and Collections ·Lease Obligations*

Tax Rates ·Underlying Indebtedness
Aggregate Tax Levies
Tax Collection Record
Major Taxpayers

* This Operating Data is also available in the Issuer’s financial information portion of its Annual Report.



Revised: 3/2/2020  

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
 
 

INFORMATION: 
(From and Issue) 

Notice of Award to Conco, Inc. for the construction of new support facilities at 

the Reno County Solid Waste Landfill.

 
 

 
PRESENTED BY:             Megan Davidson, Solid Waste Director 

 

 
 

AGENDA DATE:              February 9, 2021 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND               To extend the life of the Reno County landfill facility and ensure its citizens a 

future location for convenient and economical waste placement, the scalehouse, 

resident drop off area, and Household Hazardous Waste operations at the current 

facility will need to be relocated.  New facilities were designed by the team of 

SCS Engineers and Mann & Company Architects.  The new facilities include a 

scalehouse and customer convenience center.  The customer convenience center 

will serve several purposes including resident household hazardous waste drop- 

off and “swap shop,” employee break area, water tanker storage and filling, and 

garage for field trucks. In November 2020, Reno County issued an Invitation to 

Bid for construction of the new facilities. A total of five general construction 

contractors provided bids for the project.  Conco, Inc was the low bidder and is 

recommended for award.  SCS Engineers will supervise the construction by 

serving as the Resident Engineer. This project will be funded by a bond for 15 

years and has been figured in with the budget on the solid waste’s financial 

model that is utilized for budgeting for the department. 

ALL OPTIONS 
 

 

1.   Award the contract with Conco Inc.  

www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/8448/Landfill-Facilities---Contract  

 

2.   Approve Scope of Services from SCS Engineers for Resident 

Engineering 

3.   Deny the bid/contract from Conco Inc. and SCS Engineers and send out 

for new bids.
 

RECOMMENDATION            1.   Award contract to Conco, Inc. in the amount of $2,654,700 

2.   Award SCS Engineers Resident Engineering Services in the amount of 

$296,500 and a 10% Contingency in the amount of $295,120 (the total 

cost of construction and resident engineering value)

http://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/8448/Landfill-Facilities---Contract
shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7B



Revised: 3/2/2020  

VENDOR/SERVICE COST 

Conco Inc. – Gen. Construction Contractor $ 2,654,700 

SCS Engineers – Resident Engineer $    296,500 

Sub-Total $ 2,951,200 

Contingency (10% of the total cost of construction and 
resident engineering value) 

$    295,120 

Total – Conco, Inc., SCS Engineers, Contingency $ 3,246,320 

Direct Purchase Reno County – Two Scales (Estimate) $ 230,000 

Direct Purchase Reno County–Backup Generator (Estimate) $ 70,000 

Total $ 3,546,320 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total estimated project cost for this agenda item is $3,546,320 which includes 

Conco’s contract in the amount of $2,654,700; SCS’ proposal for resident 

engineering services in the amount of $296,500; and contingency in the amount 

of $295,120 (10% of the construction and resident engineering value). The bid 

price for construction – including construction oversight and contingency – is 

within the project funding. Funding is provided by public bond for 15 years. In 

addition, Reno County will be contracting directly with a scale vendor and a 

generator vendor for the purchases of two new scales and a backup generator, 

respectively, for an approximate combined value of $300,000.  This funding will 

come from the solid waste general funds. 



 

 
 

11120 E. 26th Street N, Suite 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consultants & Contractors 

January 21, 2021 
File No. 27220032.30 
 
 
Ms. Megan Davidson 
Reno County, Kansas 
703 Mohawk Road 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 

Subject: Bid Award Recommendation 
 Reno County New Support Facilities Construction 
 Reno County Solid Waste Landfill 
 Hutchinson, Kansas  
 
Dear Megan: 

SCS Engineers has reviewed the bids received for the Reno County New Support Facilities 
Construction project.  All bids included the required documents for bid submittal and all bids were 
under the Engineer’s Estimate.  The apparent lowest bid was Conco, Inc. of Wichita, Kansas with a 
bid of $2,654,700.  Conco, Inc. is a qualified bidder, and therefore, with the lowest bid, SCS 
recommends awarding the contract to Conco, Inc.   

If you have questions or comments, please feel free to contact us at (316) 315-4501. 

Sincerely,   
   

Steve Linehan, P.E.  Monte R. Markley, P.G. 
Senior Project Manager  Vice President/Sr. Project Director 
SCS Engineers  SCS Engineers 
 

Attachments: 

 Bid Tabulations 



RENO COUNTY, KANSAS BIDS TABULATED BY KSE
BIDS CHECKED BY SML
BID OPENING DATE January 14, 2021

RENO COUNTY MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE LANDFILL FACILITY
NEW SUPPORT FACILITIES CONSTRUCTION

Conco HIEB Multicon Prairie Land Works Wiens & Co. Const.
3051 N Ohio 507 N Whiteside 4715 W Central 905 N. Vanguard St. 219 N Whiteside St
Wichita, KS 67219 Hutchinson, KS 67501 Wichita, KS 67212 McPherson, KS 67460 Hutchinson, KS

Unit
0 Base Bid LS 2,654,700.00$          2,751,000.00$           2,669,087.00$       2,831,795.00$             2,704,000.00$             

1 Drives/Parking Concrete (10", Dowel 
Jointed, Plain) SY 45.00$                      48.00$                       45.00$                   47.00$                         55.00$                         

2 Asphalt Entrance SY 28.00$                      62.30$                       46.00$                   70.00$                         55.00$                         
3 Curbs LF 18.00$                      25.00$                       20.00$                   30.00$                         30.00$                         
4 Sidewalks (4" Concrete) SY 38.00$                      38.00$                       35.00$                   48.00$                         45.00$                         

5 Recycled Concrete Aggregate Base 
(Onsite Source)  CY 16.00$                      17.00$                       10.00$                   5.00$                           15.00$                         

6 Aggregate Base (Offsite Source) CY 45.00$                      35.00$                       44.00$                   18.00$                         48.00$                         
7 Saw cut LF 0.45$                        6.00$                         1.50$                     3.00$                           1.00$                           
8 Bollards EA 188.00$                    400.00$                     225.00$                 750.00$                       350.00$                       
9 Gate (24 ft) EA 1,440.00$                 1,500.00$                  13.43$                   800.00$                       2,000.00$                    
10 Gate (28 ft) EA 1,612.00$                 1,650.00$                  15.03$                   900.00$                       2,500.00$                    
11 Fence LF 18.50$                      19.00$                       17.25$                   24.00$                         30.00$                         
12 Culvert pipe - 18" LF 50.45$                      70.00$                       61.00$                   60.00$                         38.00$                         
13 Culvert End Section EA 1,530.45$                 700.00$                     785.00$                 800.00$                       700.00$                       
14 Culvert Headwall EA 2,609.39$                 2,500.00$                  2,800.00$              3,000.00$                    2,400.00$                    

15 Culvert Rip Rap (includes geotextile 
fabric) SF 70.11$                      15.00$                       14.45$                   15.00$                         10.00$                         

16 6” Water Line LF 48.02$                      20.00$                       20.00$                   22.00$                         30.00$                         
17 2” Water Line LF 39.32$                      10.00$                       10.00$                   11.00$                         15.00$                         
18 1” Water Line  LF 30.74$                      10.00$                       10.00$                   11.00$                         15.00$                         
19 Fire Hydrants EA 5,868.36$                 3,268.00$                  3,268.00$              3,500.00$                    4,500.00$                    
20 San. Sewer Line LF 43.31$                      28.00$                       28.00$                   30.00$                         40.00$                         
21 Silt fence, wattles LF 2.05$                        2.00$                         1.50$                     2.00$                           3.00$                           
22 Parking Blocks EA 30.00$                      35.00$                       45.00$                   150.00$                       80.00$                         

2,654,700.00$          2,751,000.00$           2,669,087.00$       2,831,795.00$             2,704,000.00$             TOTAL

BASE BID

UNIT PRICES

4333s_l
Highlight

4333s_l
Highlight

4333s_l
Highlight

4333s_l
Highlight



 

 

Contract with Conco:   

https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/8448/Lan

dfill-Facilities---Contract 

https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/8448/Landfill-Facilities---Contract
https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/8448/Landfill-Facilities---Contract


 

Notice of Award  www.scsengineers.com 
Reno County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction  

12 

4 NOTICE OF AWARD 
Reno County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction 

To:    Conco, Inc.                                                                        Contractor 

The OWNER, represented by the undersigned, considered your Bid submitted on or 
before January 14, 2021 for the above Project. 

You are hereby notified that your Bid has been accepted in the amount of 
$2,654,700.00                

You are required by the Notice and Instructions to Bidders to execute the Agreement 
with the undersigned Owner, and to furnish the required bond or security in the form of 
a cashier’s check, certified check, or bank draft in the sum of one hundred percent 
(100%) of the proposal amount within seven (7) days from the date of this Notice. 

If you fail to execute said Agreement and to furnish said bond or security in the form of 
a cashier’s check, certified check, or bank draft in the sum of one hundred percent 
(100%) of the proposal amount within seven (7) days from the date of this Notice, said 
Owner will be entitled to consider your Bid as abandoned, your bid security may be 
retained as liquidated damages, and will be entitled to award the work covered by your 
Bid to another or to re-advertise the work or otherwise dispose thereof as the Owner 
may see fit. 

Dated this       day of                          , 20   
 

Reno County_________________________ 
Owner 

 

By                  

Title  Reno County Administrator    

 

END OF SECTION 

  



 

Contract  www.scsengineers.com 
Reno County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction  

13 

5 CONTRACT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this      day of,_______________ 

20___ by and between the Board of County Commissioners of Reno County, Kansas 

First Party, hereinafter referred to as the “Owner”, and   Conco, Inc.         Second Party, 

hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”; 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  It is mutually agreed, that for and in consideration of the sum of 
$2,654,700.00    to the Contractor by the Owner. The Contractor shall furnish all labor, 
equipment, accessories, and material (except material salvaged or otherwise furnished 
as specified) and shall perform all work necessary to construct and complete the Reno 
County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction in a good, substantial, and 
workmanlike manner, ready to use, and in strict accordance with plans and specifications 
as approved and on file with the Director of Owner. 

ARTICLE 2.  It is further agreed, that in consideration of the faithful performance 
of the work by the Contractor, the Owner shall pay the Contractor the sum or sums due 
him by reason of said faithful performance to the work, at stated intervals and in the 
amounts certified by the Director of Owner, in accordance with the provisions of the 
General Specifications, and as set forth in the Proposal as accepted by Owner. 

ARTICLE 3.  It is hereby further agreed that, at the completion of the work and 
its acceptance by the Owner, all sums due the Contractor by reason of his faithful 
completion of the work, taking into consideration additions to or deductions from the 
Contract price by reason of alterations or modifications of the original Contract or by 
reason of “Extra Work” as authorized under the Contract in accordance with the 
provisions of the General Specifications, will be paid the Contractor by the Owner within 
thirty (30) days after said completion and acceptance. 

ARTICLE 4.  It is hereby further agreed that the words “he” or “him” wherever used 
herein as referring to the Contractor shall be deemed to refer to said Contractor, whether 
a corporation, partnership, or individual, and this Contract and all covenants and 
agreements thereof shall be binding upon and for the benefit of the heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns of said Contractor. 



 

Contract  www.scsengineers.com 
Reno County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction  

14 

ARTICLE 5.  It is hereby further agreed that any reference herein to the “Contract” 
shall include all contract documents as specifically set out in the Information for Bidders 
and General Specifications, and are hereby made a part of this agreement as fully as 
if set out at length herein. 

ARTICLE 6.  Owner shall have the right of five (5) days written notice if necessary 
to require Contractor to suspend the work or any part thereof.  Contractor will, however, 
in such event be entitled to receive full payment for all equipment rental, material 
delivered, and supervision proportionate to the amount of work completed by him under 
the Contract, at the prices herein named. Determination of the amount due Contractor 
in this event will be in the same manner except as to amount, as if the work had been 
completed.  Such final payment shall not include any allowance to Contractor for any 
anticipated profits that  might  have  accrued from the  completion  of said  work,  and 
Contractor agrees that he will assert no claim for damages against Owner on account 
thereof. 

At any time after Contractor has suspended operations, either in whole or in part, 
Contractor will resume operations as requested by Owner, and upon receipt of written 
notice from Owner that Owner desires operations resumed, Contractor shall within ten 
(10) days resume work upon the Contract and diligently carry on the same. 

ARTICLE 7.  Contractor assumes all risks of delays occasioned by injunction, 
lawsuits, or restraining orders and it is distinctly understood that Owner shall be in no 
manner held responsible for damages or otherwise for delays or suspension of work 
occasioned by injunction, lawsuits, or restraining orders caused by the default or neglect 
of Contractor. 

ARTICLE 8.  Contractor further agrees to hold Owner free and harmless from 
all loss or damage caused by the neglect of duty or malfeasance of Contractor or their 
agents or employees in the performance of this Contract. 

  



 

Contract  www.scsengineers.com 
Reno County Solid Waste – New Support Facilities Construction  

15 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the First Party and the Second Party, respectively, 
have caused this agreement to be duly executed the day and year first herein written, 
in triplicate, all copies of which to all intents and purposes shall be considered as the 
original. 

OWNER, First Party 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

By 
  
Chairman, Reno County Commission 

 

 

ATTEST: Reno County Commissioner 

 
 
 

Reno County Commissioner 

 

Reno County Clerk 

 

CONTRACTOR, Second Party 

 

           CONCO, INC 

 

ATTEST:                                                  By __________________________________ 

 
 

(Office or position of signer) 

Corporate Seal 

END OF SECTION  



 

 
 

11120 E 26th St. N, Ste. 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

January 29, 2021 
File No. 270037221 
 
  
Ms. Megan Davidson 
Reno County Solid Waste Department 
703 S. Mohawk Road 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Subject: New Support Facilities Resident Engineering Services 
 Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
 

Dear Ms. Davidson: 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility (Reno 
County) this proposal for Resident Engineering services during the upcoming construction of the New 
Support Facilities Project. SCS Engineers has appreciated the opportunity to build a solid professional 
relationship with Reno County, and we look forward to assisting you as your new facilities are 
constructed.  Our scope of services and cost estimate are summarized below.  
 
Scope of Services and Estimated Fees 

The scope of work for this proposal is to provide Reno County Resident Engineering Services during 
construction of the New Support Facilities. As the Resident Engineer, SCS will manage the day-to-day 
activities during construction including: engineering support, coordination and communication, 
submittal reviews, contractor management/coordination (review of pay applications, requests for 
information, change order requests, etc.), construction quality assurance (CQA) services, project 
certification, and other items typical for owners to manage construction projects. These services are 
further detailed in the attached Scope of Work.  The following table provides our cost estimate for 
performing the services: 

Task Description Task Cost Payment Terms 

Resident Engineering Services  $296,500 Time & Materials 

Total  $296,500  

 

SCS Engineers will submit invoices approximately monthly.  
 
Performance 

SCS will perform the Services with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by other consultants 
of the same profession under similar circumstances, at the same time, and in the same locality. SCS 
agrees to perform the Services in as timely a manner as is consistent with the professional standard 
of care and to comply with applicable laws, regulations, codes and standards that relate to the Services 
and that are in effect as of the date when the Services are provided. 
   



Ms. Megan Davidson 
January 29, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Terms and Conditions 
SCS Engineers appreciates the opportunity to submit this task order to Reno County. If the proposed 
scope of work presented herein meets your approval, work may begin immediately by signing the 
attached Terms and Conditions.   
 
We appreciate our continued working relationship with Reno County and look forward to discussing 
any questions or comments you may have concerning this proposal.  Please feel free to contact us at 
(316) 315-4501. 
 

Sincerely,   
   

Steve Linehan, P.E.  Monte R. Markley, P.G. 
Senior Project Manager  Vice President/Sr. Project Director 
SCS Engineer   SCS Engineers  

 

SML/MRM 

 

Attachments: Scope of Work – New Support Facilities Resident Engineering Services 
  Standard Fee Schedule 

Terms & Conditions 
 



  

Scope of Work - New Support Facilities Resident Engineering Services  www.scsengineers.com 
1 

Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 

New Support Facilities Resident Engineering Services 

Scope of Work 

 
SCS will serve as the Resident Engineer for the duration of the project construction.  Resident 
Engineering services will consist of general engineering support, coordination and communication, 
submittal reviews, contractor management/coordination (e.g., review of pay applications, requests for 
information, change order requests, etc.), construction quality assurance (CQA) services, project 
certification, and other items typical for owners to manage construction projects. These services are 
briefly summarized below. SCS anticipates a construction timeline of approximately nine months 
starting in April. However, prior to construction, SCS and Mann & Co. will coordinate with the General 
Contractor on schedules, submittals, etc. As-built drawings will be completed following construction. 
Therefore, the total project timeline is anticipated to be approximately 12 months.     

1 RESIDENT ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 GENERAL ENGINEERING SUPPORT/CONSTRUCTION 
ADMINISTRATION 

SCS will provide miscellaneous engineering support and construction administration services 
throughout construction of the new facilities. In general, engineering support will include field 
determinations by the Resident Engineer for a variety of field applications.  However, this may include 
design revisions as needed to meet the construction means and methods. Design revisions will be 
coordinated with the General Contractor and Reno County to ensure the revisions are satisfactory to 
all parties. In general, SCS anticipates construction administration services to include coordination 
with Reno County, SCS, Mann & Company, General Contractor, and scale vendor. To ensure proper 
lines of communication, coordination with subcontractors and vendors will only be made through the 
General Contractor. SCS will advise Reno County of project tracking and any changes such as approved 
weather delays that may affect the final construction completion date. More detailed construction 
administration services are discussed within the following sections.   

 COORDINATION AND COMMUNICATIONS 
SCS will organize a kick-off meeting with Reno County, SCS, Mann & Co., General Contractor, and 
subcontractors.  During the meeting, several items will be laid out for all parties, including: safety, 
project expectations, lines of communication, inspections, coordination with trades, coordination with 
inspections, housekeeping, etc. SCS anticipates weekly meetings onsite with the General Contractor’s 
superintendent. As the project moves forward, SCS will apprise Reno County of the General 
Contractor’s workmanship and compliance with the project documents and schedule. As Reno County 
will be contracting separately with the scale vendor, SCS will assist with the coordination between the 
General Contractor and the scale vendor.   

 SUBMITTAL REVIEWS 
Prior to installing or using various products in the construction process, the General Contractor will 
submit material specs to SCS. The submittals will be reviewed and approved or rejected depending on 
project design specifications or the Engineer’s or Architect’s approval. SCS will maintain a log of 
submittals. Similarly, shop drawings will also be reviewed and approved/rejected as appropriate.       

http://www.scsengineers.com/


  

Scope of Work - New Support Facilities Resident Engineering Services  www.scsengineers.com 
2 

 CONTRACTOR MANAGEMENT/COORDINATION 
SCS will review contractor’s monthly pay applications to ensure requests are proportionate with the 
work completed.  Pay applications shall be sent on the EJCDC form included in the bid documents.  
Change orders will not be approved until Reno County, Contractor, and SCS agree on the amount of 
the chance order and the resultant time table. SCS will handle contractor’s Requests for Information 
(RFIs) as they are submitted. 

 CONSTRUCTION QUALITY ASSURANCE  
Construction Quality Assurance is needed to ensure the contractors have constructed or installed 
materials to the correct specification, lines, and/or grades. SCS or Mann & Co. will have a 
representative onsite for a majority of the construction timeframe to serve as Resident Engineer and 
CQA technician. Therefore, SCS will coordinate and manage CQA services through that person. We 
anticipate CQA services for this project to include the following: 

• Construction staking 
• Soil testing 
• Field and laboratory testing of concrete 
• Field observation and evaluation of 

shallow foundations 
• Field observation and evaluation of 

structural steel construction 

• Verification of materials delivered and 
installed 

• Conformance with project specs or 
manufacturer’s recommendations 

• Documentation of construction 
activities 

• As-built survey 

Written documentation as well as pictures of construction activities will be developed.  SCS anticipates 
using PEC Field Services to test concrete, evaluate shallow foundations, and inspect structural steel. 
Field and lab test reports will be submitted by PEC and will be included with SCS’ CQA documentation. 
SCS will make the CQA documentation available as needed to interested parties.  

 PROJECT CERTIFICATION 
As the construction is nearing completion, SCS will complete a walk-through of the facilities and 
develop a punch list of items for the General Contractor to complete or repair. Mann & Co., as Architect 
of Record, will assist with this effort. Once the punch list is developed, a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion will be issued to the General Contractor.  Upon completion of the punch list, the General 
Contractor will submit a lien release and transfer of utilities and insurance. SCS will then issue a Final 
Certificate of Completion.  

 

2 ESTIMATED FEES 
SCS’ estimated fees for its Scope of Services detailed above is $296,500. The fees will be on a Time 
& Materials basis according to the attached 2021 Fee Schedule. The duration of the construction 
period is highly dependent on the weather and the progress of the General Contractor and his subs; 
therefore, it is difficult to accurately estimate the cost of the project.  Our invoices will be based on the 
actual number of units performed, charged in accordance with the unit rates shown on the attached 
fee schedule.  If construction is completed in more or less time than assumed, the actual cost for 
construction administration will increase or decrease accordingly.      

http://www.scsengineers.com/


 

 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

2021 STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE 

Labor Category          Rate 

Senior Project Advisor .....................................................................................................................  $235 

Senior Project Director ....................................................................................................................  $210 

Project Director ...............................................................................................................................  $195 

Project Advisor.................................................................................................................................. $180 

Senior Project Manager ................................................................................................................... $165 

Project Manager ............................................................................................................................... $150 

Senior Project Professional ............................................................................................................  $135 

Project Professional ........................................................................................................................  $120 

Staff Professional ............................................................................................................................  $110 

Designer/Graphics ........................................................................................................................... $105 

Associate Professional ......................................................................................................................  $95 

Senior Technician .............................................................................................................................  $80 

Technician .........................................................................................................................................  $70 

Project Administrator ........................................................................................................................  $85 

Administrative Assistant ...................................................................................................................  $65 
Note:  Increase hourly rate by 1.5 for Saturday, Sunday, and holiday work or off-shift work when required by client. 

General Terms: 

1. Rates for Principals, expert services (expert reports and testimony), and special limited 
consultations, may be negotiated on a project-specific basis. 

2. Schedule rates are effective through December 31, 2021.  Work performed thereafter is 
subject to a new Fee Schedule. 

3. Schedule labor rates include overhead and profit on labor.  Costs for sub-consultants, sub-
contractors, job-related employee travel and subsistence, equipment, supplies, and other 
direct costs are billed at cost plus a 15 percent administration fee. 

4. A communication fee of 1 percent of project labor will be charged for telephone, copying, 
postage, IT, and similar project production costs. 

5. Invoices will be prepared monthly or more frequently for work in progress unless otherwise 
agreed.  Invoices are due and payable upon receipt.  Invoices not paid within 30 days are 
subject to a service charge of 1.5 percent per month on the unpaid balance. 

6. Payment of SCS invoices for services performed will not be contingent upon the client’s 
receipt of payment from other parties, unless otherwise agreed in writing. Client agrees to 
pay legal costs, including attorney’s fees, incurred by SCS in collecting any amounts past 
due and owing on client’s account.  



2021 Standard Fee Schedule 
Page 2 

Note:  The rates shown above are effective through December 31, 2021 and are subject to revision. 

 Printing Services 
 24-inch by 36-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 36-inch by 48-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 Additional Report Copies (varies depending on report) ............. $25.00 - $50.00 per report 

 Support Vehicles 
 Support Vehicle ................................................................................................. $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck.......................................................... $40.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck with Trailer ...................................... $60.00 per day plus $0.85 per mile 
 SCS Utility Truck .............................................................. $60.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 Rental Vehicle ..................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 

 Per Diem and Travel 
 Hotel, Airfare ....................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 
 Full-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $46.00 per day 
 Half-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $23.00 per day 

 Field Equipment and Supplies 
 Track-mounted Geoprobe® ............................................................................ $750.00 per day 
 All Terrain Vehicle (ATV/UTV) ........................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Field Sampling Trailer ..................................................................................... $350.00 per day 
 GPS Surveying System ................................................................................... $225.00 per day 
 Total Station Survey Equipment .................................................................... $120.00 per day 
 Misc. Survey Tools/Equipment ........................................................................ $10.00 per day 
 Nuclear Density Gauge ................................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Photoionization Detector (PID) ...................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Water Level Indicator (≤300 foot) ................................................................... $30.00 per day 
 Oil/Water Interface Probe ................................................................................ $60.00 per day 
 pH/Temperature/Conductivity Meter (for water) ........................................... $20.00 per day 
 Peristaltic Pump ................................................................................................ $40.00 per day 
 Hand Augers (10-foot) ...................................................................................... $15.00 per day 
 Measuring Tape/Wheel ...................................................................................... $5.00 per day 
 Hand-held GPS Unit .......................................................................................... $25.00 per day 
 Generator .......................................................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Air Compressor (5 gallon) ................................................................................. $25.00 per day 
 Electro fusion Machine .................................................................................. $120.00 per day 
 Flow-Thru Multi-Parameter Meter .................................................................. $150.00 per day 
 Turbidimeter ........................................................................................................... $35 per day 
 Composite Sampler ................................................................................................ $75 per day 
 QED Pump Controller........................................................................................... $100 per day 
 GEM 2000 ............................................................................................................ $150 per day 
 Flow Probe (15-foot) ............................................................................................... $15 per day 
 Digital Camera ........................................................................................................ $10 per day 
 Expendable Equipment, Supplies & Rentals ......................................................... Cost + 15% 
 

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line



 

 
 

11120 E. 26th Street N, Suite 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consultants & Contractors 

Terms and Conditions 
For Professional Consulting Services 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: SCS Engineers will perform the services set forth in the Scope of Work Proposal for 
this project, of which these terms and conditions are a part. Initiation of services by SCS Engineers will 
automatically incorporate these terms and conditions into this project. All amendments to the Scope of 
Service Proposal shall be made in writing, and signed by SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
2. PAYMENTS: SCS Engineers will submit invoices to Client monthly and a final bill upon completion of 

services. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such in a Scope of Services Proposal, no 
retainage shall be withheld by Client. Time is of the essence in payment of invoices and timely payment 
is a material part of the consideration of this Agreement. Payment is due upon presentation of invoice, 
and is past due thirty 30 days from the date of invoice. Client agrees to pay a finance charge of one and 
one half percent per month on past due accounts. Client also agrees to pay all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorney fees incurred by SCS Engineers relating to collection proceedings on 
overdue accounts. Failure of client to abide by the provisions of this section will be considered grounds 
for termination by SCS Engineers.  

 
3. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS: All documents, including but not limited to, reports, plans, designs, boring 

logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and all electronic media 
prepared by SCS Engineers are considered its work product and to be instruments of service. SCS 
Engineers shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyrights on 
said work product and instruments of service. However, all work product and instruments of service 
specific to an executed Scope of Services Proposal shall be supplied to Client for use, but not ownership. 
SCS Engineers shall not be responsible for any conclusions, interpretations, or recommendations 
generated or made by others, which are based, in whole or in part, on SCS Engineers generated work 
product or instruments of service. Any reuse of work product or instruments of service by Client without 
a specific agreement with SCS Engineers in each case shall be at Client’s risk. At Client’s request, SCS 
Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third party, but 
only if the third party agrees to pay a reliance fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client 

4. INSURANCE: SCS Engineers will maintain appropriate workers compensation/employers liability; 
automobile; general liability; and professional liability insurance coverages at all times. An insurance 
certificate will be provided upon request. 

 
5. INDEMNITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold 

harmless Client, including Client’s officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is caused by SCS Engineers, or its 
employees by the negligent performance of professional services, limited, however, as provided 
elsewhere in this Agreement. 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client hereby indemnifies, releases, and agrees to hold harmless 
SCS Engineers including SCS Engineers’ officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is: (a) caused by any cause other than 
the negligent errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, or (b) is based on a claim that SCS Engineers is a 
generator, disposer, or arranger of hazardous materials or substances at Clients site. 

 
The terms of this Article shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 
6. STANDARD OF CARE: SCS Engineers agrees to perform its services in a manner consistent with that 

level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by other members of its profession currently practicing under 
similar circumstances, in the same locale, at the time the services are performed and with the 
information available to SCS Engineers. 

 
7. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers’ total 

aggregate liability per Scope of Services Proposal to Client for injuries, claims, losses, expenses, 
damages, or claim expenses arising out of this Agreement from any cause(s), shall not exceed the fee in 
the Scope of Services Proposal which included the services under which the claim arose, or $50,000, 
whichever is greater, and Client releases SCS Engineers from any liability above such amount. This 
release applies to any loss and all damages, injuries, claims, and expenses (including attorney’s fees 
and expert witness fees and expenses), regardless of the cause, whether, but not limited to, strict 
liability, statutory liability, the negligence, errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, breach of contract, 
breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation, or other contract or tort claims, and whether, but not 
limited to, special, indirect, or consequential or punitive damages. SCS Engineers  shall not be 
responsible for damages or costs resulting from hidden conditions or latent defects in design, materials, 
or construction of existing facilities. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such on a Scope of 
Services Proposal, there shall be no liquidated damages. 

 
8. MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: SCS Engineers and Client agree that neither shall be 

liable to the other, or anyone claiming on their behalf, for any special, indirect or consequential damages 
of any type, whether arising in tort (including negligence), contract, warranty (express or implied), strict 
liability, statutory liability or any other cause of action, including but not limited to loss of profit, loss of 
use, loss of business, reputation or financing.  

 
9. SAFETY: SCS Engineers is not responsible and shall not be liable for injuries or damages incurred by 

third parties who are not employees of SCS Engineers. It is agreed that SCS Engineers is not responsible 
for job or site safety on this project, unless specifically agreed to in writing. Job site safety in, on or about 
the site is the sole and exclusive responsibility of the contractor. 

 
10. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE: All documents produced by SCS Engineers are for client’s use only.  At Client’s 

request, SCS Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third 
party, but only if the third party agrees to pay a fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
11. UTILITIES AND SUBTERRANEAN STRUCTURES: SCS Engineers will take reasonable precautions to avoid 

causing damage to utilities and subterranean structures. SCS Engineers is not responsible for any loss, 
damage or injury arising from damage to, or contact with, any utilities or subterranean structures that 
were not properly called to SCS Engineers’ attention, were not properly located on drawings, or was 
caused by the providing of inaccurate or incomplete information regarding their location. 

 
12. CHANGED CONDITIONS: If, during the performance of this Agreement, unexpected conditions or 

circumstances are discovered, SCS Engineers will notify Client and the parties will renegotiate the 
previously agreed upon Scope of Services Proposal. SCS Engineers and Client will promptly and in good 
faith enter into a renegotiation process. If renegotiated terms cannot be agreed to within sixty (60) days, 
SCS Engineers will have the right to terminate this Scope of Service Proposal without penalty.  

 
13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: In the event of any dispute between the parties arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement or the services or work contemplated herein, the parties agree to first make a good 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 3 of 4 

 

faith effort to resolve the dispute informally. Negotiations shall take place between the principals of 
each party. If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation within forty-five (45) days, 
then either party may give written notice that it elects to proceed with non-binding mediation pursuant to 
the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In the event that 
mediation is not invoked by the parties within fifty-five (55) days or that the mediation is unsuccessful in 
resolving the dispute, then either party may submit the controversy to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
The foregoing is a condition precedent to the filing of any action other than an action for injunctive relief 
or if a statute of limitations may expire. 

 
Each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs 
incurred in the course of any dispute, mediation, or legal proceeding. The fees of the mediator and any 
filing fees shall be shared equally by the parties. 

 
14. TESTING AND OBSERVATION SERVICES: If SCS Engineers is hired by Client to provide a site 

representative for the purpose of testing or observing specific portions of the work, this work will not 
include supervision or direction of the actual work of any contractors, their employees or agents. SCS 
Engineers will observe only the portion of the work we have been hired for and perform tests, the results 
being delivered to Client or others if directed by Client. Client understands that even with very careful 
field testing and observation, field testing and observation is conducted to reduce, not eliminate, the 
risk of problems arising, and that providing these services does not create a warranty or guarantee of 
any type by SCS Engineers. 

15. SOIL BORING AND TEST LOCATIONS: The accuracy of test locations and elevations will commensurate 
only with pacing and approximate measurements or estimates. SCS Engineers can provide a 
professional surveyor if greater accuracy is required or desired. SCS Engineers reserves the right to 
deviate a reasonable distance from the boring and test locations unless this right is specifically revoked 
in writing. 

 
16. ON SITE SERVICES: Project site visits by SCS Engineers, or the furnishing of employees to work on the 

project, will not make SCS Engineers responsible for construction means, methods, techniques or 
procedures; or for any construction contractor’s failure to perform its work in accordance with the 
drawings and specifications. 

 
17. TERMINATION: Either party may terminate this Agreement or an executed Scope of Services Proposal, or 

both, with or without cause, by providing seven (7) days written notice. SCS Engineers shall be paid for 
all services performed and all expenses incurred prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination, 
and for all additional services or expenses authorized by Client thereafter. Following termination, Client 
shall not utilize any consultant or subcontractor of SCS Engineers for any services related to Client’s 
project without the prior written consent of SCS Engineers. 

 
18. CONFIDENTIALITY: SCS Engineers will keep confidential all documents, reports and information 

generated for Client on this project and will not release or disclose said information without Client’s 
consent, except to the extent required by court order, subpoena, governmental directive, or by law. 

 
19. SEVERABILITY: If any provision contained in this Agreement is held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 

enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired. 
 
20. GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLIENT: Client will, within a reasonable period of time, so as not to 

delay the services of SCS Engineers: place at SCS Engineers’ disposal all available information pertinent 
to the project; SCS Engineers may rely on the information provided as being accurate without 
independent verification; client will provide prompt written notice to SCS Engineers whenever Client 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 4 of 4 

 

observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in SCS Engineers’ services; and Client will arrange 
for access to public and private property as required for SCS Engineers to provide its services. 

 
21. GOVERNING LAW: Unless otherwise provided, the substantive law of the state of Kansas will govern the 

validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and performance and remedies for contract breach or any 
other claims related to this Agreement. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT 

 
During the performance of this Agreement, Client acknowledges the applicability of the Federal 
Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 (“IRCA”). Client agrees to comply with the law in performing 
under this Agreement. 

 
22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT—PRECEDENCE: These Terms and Conditions and SCS Engineers Scope of Service 

Proposal contain the entire agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. All previous or 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, promises and conditions relating to SCS Engineers 
services are superseded. Since terms contained in purchase orders do not generally apply to 
professional services, in the event client issues to SCS Engineers a purchase order, no preprinted terms 
thereon will become part of the agreement of the parties; any purchase order document, whether or not 
signed by SCS Engineers, shall be considered a document for Client’s internal management of its 
operations. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly Authorized 
Representatives, as follows: 

SCS ENGINEERS:  RENO COUNTY, KANSAS: 

BY:   BY:  

NAME:   NAME:  

TITLE:   TITLE:  

DATE:   DATE:  
 

 

 

 



Revised: 3/2/2020 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION: 

(From and Issue) 

2021 Annual Consulting Services, Air Quality and Gas Collection and Control 

System Operation and Maintenance, and Engineering and Planning Services with 

SCS Engineers Consulting  

 

PRESENTED BY: Megan Davidson, Solid Waste Director 

AGENDA DATE: February 9, 2021 

 

BACKGROUND 1. Annual Consulting Services- Reno County Solid Waste is required by 

KDHE and other agencies to complete and comply with annual reports 

and compliance activities throughout the year such as groundwater 

reporting as well as our annual closure/post closure cost reports. Reno 

County and SCS have had a long working relationship to complete and 

keep track of the reporting and keep Solid Waste in compliance with 

KDHE. This cost of this proposal is $95.300 with combined Lump Sum 

Costs as well as Time and Materials. 

 

2. Engineering and Planning Services- These services assist Reno County on 

the planning and development of the landfill and the requirements from 

other agencies. This year there are a few new Tasks that are in regards to 

Cell 7 with the  Gas Collection and Control System Gas wells that are 

required to be installed by the end of 2021 per KDHE regulations. SCS 

will also provide the CQA services for the installation of the Cell 7 

Expansion. The cost of this Proposal is $78,900 with combines Lum Sum 

Costs and Time and Materials. 

 

3. Air Quality and Gas Collection and Control Operations, Monitoring, and 

Maintenance Service- This Proposal will cover all of the support, 

regulatory requirements with KDH, EPA, system performance goals, and 

anticipated operational and maintenance activities of the Gas Collection 

Systems that are at the Reno County Solid Waste. There is a significant 

amount of record keeping, monitoring, and reporting is necessary to 

remain in compliance with New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) 

and other pertinent Air Quality regulations. This proposal has as cost of 

$166,300 that includes Lump Sum Costs as well as Time and Materials 

when needed due to breakdown, shut downs etc.  

 

  

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7C



Revised: 3/2/2020 

 

ALL OPTIONS Annual Services 2021 

1. Approve the Scope of Services from SCS Engineers as presented 

2. Delay the Approval of the Services for further discussion. 

Engineering and Planning Services 2021 

1. Approve the Scope of Service from SCS Engineers as presented 

2. Delay the Approval of the Services for further discussion. 

Air Quality and GCCS OM&M Services Proposal 2021 

1. Approve the Scope of Services from SCS Engineers as presented 

2. Delay the Approval of the Services for further discussion. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 1. Approve the Annual Services 2021 from SCS Engineers as presented by 

staff 

2. Approve the Engineering and Planning Services for 2021 from SCS 

Engineers as presented by staff. 

3. Approve the Air Quality and Control and GCCS OM&M 2021 Services 

from SCS Engineers as presented by staff.  

 

  

FISCAL IMPACT The Scope of Services from SCS Engineers have been accounted for in the 2021 

budget. The Annual Services and Engineering and Planning Scope of Services 

will come out of the Professional Services 008 Fund and the Gas Collection and 

Control System and Operation, Monitoring and Maintenance Scope of Services 

will come out of the Remediation 013 Funds.  

 

 



 

 
 

11120 E 26th St. N, Ste. 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

January 29, 2021 
File No. 270034221 
 
  
Ms. Megan Davidson 
Reno County Solid Waste Department 
703 S. Mohawk Road 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Subject: 2021 Annual Solid Waste Consulting Services Proposal 
  Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
  

Dear Ms. Davidson: 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to provide this Task Order for the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill Facility’s (Reno County MSWLF) 2021 annual solid waste consulting services.  SCS Engineers 
has appreciated the opportunity to build a solid professional relationship with Reno County over the 
past several years and looks forward to serving Reno County in 2021.  Our scope of services and cost 
estimates covered by this proposal are summarized below.  
 
Scope of Services and Estimated Fees 
The scope of work for this proposal is based on ongoing discussions with Reno County MSWLF 
personnel regarding annual reporting and compliance activities, and our experience providing these 
services to Reno County.  A detailed scope of work for each task is attached to this letter.  The following 
table provides the cost breakdown per task: 
 

Task No. Task Description Task Cost Payment Terms 
Task 1 Semi-Annual Groundwater Activities   

1.1 May GW Monitoring Events $16,800 Lump Sum 
1.2 November GW Monitoring Events $16,000 Lump Sum 
1.3 May GW Report Preparation $5,000 Lump Sum 
1.4 November GW Report Preparation $5,000 Lump Sum 

Task 2 Annual Permit Renewal Assistance   
2.1 Closure and Post-Closure Cost Estimates $2,000 Lump Sum 
2.2 Conceptual Closure Plan Update $5,500 Lump Sum 

Task 3 Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring and Reporting $5,000 Lump Sum 

Task 4 On-Call Professional Services $40,000 Time & Materials 

Total for Tasks 1 – 4 Through the End of 2021 $95,300.00  

 



Megan Davidson 
January 29, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

We have provided a lump sum cost for tasks with a well-defined scope of work.  For tasks where the 
scope of work is less defined, an estimated cost is provided.  SCS Engineers will submit invoices 
approximately monthly.  Lump sum tasks will be invoiced on a percent completion basis.  Time and 
materials tasks will be based on the actual number of units expended during the invoice period 
multiplied by the corresponding rate on the attached fee schedule.   
 
Terms and Conditions 
SCS Engineers appreciates the opportunity to submit this task order to Reno County.  If the proposed 
scope of work presented herein meets your approval, work may begin immediately by signing the 
attached Terms and Conditions.   

We appreciate our continued working relationship with Reno County and look forward to discussing 
any questions or comments you may have concerning this proposal.  Please feel free to contact us at 
(316) 315-4501. 
 
Sincerely,   

   

Kelly Hoyt, P.G.  Monte R. Markley, P.G. 

Project Manager  Vice President 
S C S  E N G I N E E R S   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 

 

 

 

Steve Linehan, P.E. 

Senior Project Manager 

S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 

 

Attachments: Scope of Work – 2021 Annual Solid Waste Consulting Services 
  Fee Schedule 
  Terms & Conditions 
  Notice to Proceed 
 

 



 

Scope of Work – 2021 Annual Solid Waste Consulting Services www.scsengineers.com 
 

Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
2021 Annual Solid Waste Consulting Services  

Scope of Work 
 

 
TA SK  1  –  S EM I - AN N UA L  G R O UN DWATE R  AC T I V I T I E S  

Groundwater monitoring activities at the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility (Reno 
County MSWLF) have historically been divided between two facilities: the Closed Landfills (Consisting 
of Sites A, B, and C) and the operating landfill (Site D).  SCS will use the most recent Sampling and 
Analysis Plan (SAP) (approved in 2020) to perform the field activities. There are a total of 39 wells at 
the Reno County MSWLF:  24 wells monitor the Closed Landfills; 11 wells monitor Site D; and 4 wells 
monitor performance levels for the former remediation system.  
 
The closed landfills and Site D are required to follow assessment monitoring procedures due to 
previously detected volatile organic compound (VOC) concentrations in the groundwater samples.  The 
semi-annual sampling events are scheduled to occur during May and November of each year.  
Additionally, the KDHE-BWM currently requires annual leachate sampling and reporting for the active 
facilities.  The closed portion is unlined; therefore, a leachate sample cannot be collected.  
 
In general, SCS Engineers will provide groundwater and leachate sampling, laboratory analyses, and 
report preparation services in accordance with: 
 

• K.A.R. 28-29-113, which specifies regulation requirements for groundwater monitoring of 
landfills; 

• Most recent version of the approved SAP for the Reno County MSWLF; and 
• Correspondence and directives from the KDHE-BWM and KDHE-BER. 

 
The following paragraphs further describe SCS Engineers’ proposed scope of services.  Field activities 
required for the Closed Landfill and Site D will be coordinated to minimize travel and repetitive 
activities.  For instance, the 35 groundwater monitoring wells and 4 performance monitoring wells will 
be gauged for water levels prior to the purging and sampling activities.  

Closed Landfill Groundwater Monitoring 

Groundwater Sample Collection and Analysis 
During May and November, SCS Engineers will collect water levels from the 22 groundwater monitoring 
wells plus the two piezometers (MW-2 and MW-7) associated with the Closed Landfill prior to initiating 
any purging and sampling activities.  Following water level measurements, the Closed Landfill’s 22 
monitoring wells will then be purged and/or sampled in accordance with the procedures specified in 
the approved SAP for the Closed Landfill or using a no purge HydraSleeveTM approved by KDHE: 
  

http://www.scsengineers.com/


S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  2  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 
• MW-1A • MW-9 • MI-2A • MI-4B 
• MW-1B • MW-12 • MI-2B • MI-5A 
• MW-3A • MW-20A • MI-3AR • MI-5B 
• MW-3B • MW-20B • MI-3BR • MI-6 
• MW-8A • MW-20C • MI-3C  
• MW-8B • MI-1 • MI-4A  

 
The 22 wells listed above will be sampled during the May semi-annual event provided adequate 
groundwater is present.  KDHE has approved a reduction in sampling frequency for a subset of the 
Closed Landfill monitoring wells.  In the November semi-annual event only 12 of the 22 are sampled.  
As only 12 of the Closed Landfill monitoring wells are sampled in November a cost reduction is applied 
to the November semi-annual event to reflect the reduction in labor and analytical costs.    
 
In addition, the following Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) samples will be collected during 
each semi-annual sampling event: 
 

• One field duplicate; 
• One rinsate sample; and 
• One trip blank per shipping cooler transporting sample containers for analysis of VOCs. 

 
SCS Engineers will subcontract with an analytical laboratory certified by the State of Kansas to provide 
the appropriate sample bottles, shipping coolers, sample labels, etc. as required for the sampling 
events and perform the required analytical testing. 

Operating Landfill (Site D) Groundwater Monitoring 

Groundwater Sample Collection and Analysis 
During May and November, SCS Engineers will locate and gauge the 11 monitoring wells surrounding 
the Site D landfill prior to initiating any purging and sampling activities.  The following 11 monitoring 
wells will then be purged and/or sampled in accordance with the procedures specified in the approved 
SAP for Site D: 
 

• MW-15A • MW-16B-R • MW-18A • MW-21 
• MW-15B • MW-17A • MW-18B • MW-22 
• MW-16A • MW-17B • MW-19  

 
Monitoring wells MW-15A and MW-15B are considered to be “up-gradient” sampling locations while 
the remaining nine monitoring wells are considered to be “down-gradient”.  A leachate sample will be 
collected from Site D’s leachate collection system during the November event.  In addition, the 
following Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) samples will be collected during each semi-annual 
sampling event: 
 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  3  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

• One field duplicate; 
• One rinsate sample; and 
• One trip blank per shipping cooler transporting sample containers for analysis of VOCs. 

 
SCS Engineers will subcontract with an analytical laboratory certified by the State of Kansas to provide 
the appropriate sample bottles, shipping coolers, sample labels, etc. as required for the sampling 
events, and perform the required analytical testing. 
 
T A S K  1 . 1 :   M A Y  G R O U N D W A T E R  M O N I T O R I N G  E V E N T S  

In accordance with K.A.R. 28-29-113(b) and the approved SAP, groundwater samples collected from 
22 groundwater monitoring wells of the Closed Landfills, 3 groundwater monitoring wells for the former 
remediation system, 11 groundwater monitoring wells of Site D, and the QA/QC samples will be 
submitted to a certified laboratory for analysis.  Laboratory analysis will consist of KDHE Appendix II 
VOCs for all wells sampled and geochemical parameters for Site D’s perimeter wells.   
 
Key Assumptions: 

• The network monitoring wells are accessible by a two-wheel drive vehicle and groundwater 
samples will be obtained from monitoring wells in accordance with the sampling procedures 
outlined in the approved SAPs. 

• A sufficient amount of groundwater will be available to sample each well within a 24-hour 
period to satisfy the necessary laboratory analysis. 

• The monitoring wells indicated are the correct sampling points to provide compliance with the 
SAPs, KDHE requirements, and the K.A.R. 

• The number of collected samples and laboratory parameters indicated will satisfy the approved 
SAP, KDHE requirements, and the K.A.R. 
 

The lump sum cost for Task 1.1 is included in Table 1.   
 

T A S K  1 . 2 :   N O V E M B E R  G R O U N D W A T E R  M O N I T O R I N G  E V E N T S   

In accordance with K.A.R. 28-29-113(b) and the approved SAP, groundwater samples collected from 
12 groundwater monitoring wells of the Closed Landfills, 3 groundwater monitoring wells for the former 
remediation system, 11 groundwater monitoring wells of Site D, and the QA/QC samples will be 
submitted to a certified laboratory for analysis.  Laboratory analysis will consist of KDHE Appendix II 
VOCs for all wells and geochemical parameters for Site D’s perimeter wells.  A leachate sample will be 
collected and submitted for Appendix I VOC’s and geochemicals, TDS, total iron, 5-day Biological 
Oxygen Demand, and pH.  
 
  



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  4  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

Key Assumptions: 
• The network monitoring wells are accessible by a two-wheel drive vehicle and groundwater 

samples will be obtained from monitoring wells in accordance with the sampling procedures 
outlined in the approved SAPs. 

• A sufficient amount of groundwater will be available to sample each well within a 24-hour 
period to satisfy the necessary laboratory analysis. 

• The monitoring wells indicated are the correct sampling points to provide compliance with the 
SAPs, KDHE requirements, and the K.A.R. 

• The number of collected samples and laboratory parameters indicated will satisfy the approved 
SAP, KDHE requirements, and the K.A.R. 

 
The lump sum cost for Task 1.2 is included in Table 1.   
 

T A S K  1 . 3 :  M A Y  G R O U N D W A T E R  M O N I T O R I N G  R E P O R T  

Upon receipt of the analytical data, SCS Engineers will review the QA/QC results, laboratory extraction 
and holding times, and other pertinent laboratory data to qualify the data, as necessary.  The most 
recent SAP indicates that no statistical analysis is required for the Reno County MSWLF.  If statistical 
analysis is eventually required, SCS Engineers will submit a proposal to update the statistical database 
and perform the analysis to meet KDHE requirements. 
 
Upon completion of each sampling event’s data review, SCS Engineers will prepare a semi-annual 
report detailing the monitoring event for the Closed Landfills, the operating landfill and the former 
remediation system.  In accordance with the approved SAP, the report shall include, but not be limited 
to: 
 

• Purpose of sampling; 
• Direction of groundwater flow; 
• Discussion of field sampling activities; 
• Any deviations from the SAP; 
• Copies of the field data sheets/notes; 
• Laboratory analytical results, QA/QC review, and associated chain of custody records; 
• Summarized discussion of the analytical results; and 
• Analytical data on disk. 

 
The report will be in a format suitable for submittal to the KDHE to provide compliance with the 
regulations and SAP.   
 
Key Assumptions: 

• SCS Engineers will provide one draft report for review, followed by three final reports for the 
site.  One copy of the report is for Reno County’s files and one copy will be submitted to the 
KDHE-BWM. 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  5  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

• Statistical analysis of the data is not required at this time. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 1.3 is include in Table 1. 
 

T A S K  1 . 4 :   N O V E M B E R  G R O U N D W A T E R  M O N I T O R I N G  R E P O R T  

Upon receipt of the analytical data, SCS Engineers will review the QA/QC results, laboratory extraction 
and holding times, and other pertinent laboratory data to qualify the data, as necessary.  The most 
recent SAP indicates that no statistical analysis is required for the Reno County MSWLF.  If statistical 
analysis is eventually required, SCS Engineers will submit a proposal to update the statistical database 
and perform the analysis to meet KDHE requirements. 
 
Upon completion of each sampling event’s data review, SCS Engineers will prepare a semi-annual 
report detailing the monitoring event for the Closed Landfills, Site D (including the leachate analytical), 
and the former remediation system.  In accordance with the approved SAP, the report shall include, 
but not be limited to: 
 

• Purpose of sampling; 
• Direction of groundwater flow; 
• Discussion of field sampling activities; 
• Any deviations from the SAP; 
• Copies of the field data sheets/notes; 
• Laboratory analytical results, QA/QC review, and associated chain of custody records; 
• Summarized discussion of the analytical results; and 
• Analytical data on disk. 

 
The report will be in a format suitable for submittal to the KDHE to provide compliance with the 
regulations and SAP.   
 
Key Assumptions: 

• SCS Engineers will provide one draft report for review, followed by three final reports for the 
site.  One copy of the report is for Reno County’s files and one copy will be submitted to the 
KDHE-BWM. 

• Statistical analysis of the data is not required at this time. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 1.4 is included in Table 1 below. 
 
  



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  6  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

Table 1 - Annual Groundwater Monitoring Fees 
Task Description Cost  

1.1 May Groundwater Monitoring $16,800 

1.2 November Groundwater Monitoring $16,000 

1.3 May Groundwater Monitoring Report $5,000 

1.4 November Groundwater Monitoring Report $5,000 

Total $42,800 

  
 
TA S K  2  –  A N N UA L  P E R M I T  R E N E WA L  A S S I S TA N C E  

T A S K  2 . 1 :   C L O S U R E  A N D  P O S T - C L O S U R E  C O S T  E S T I M A T E S  

SCS Engineers will complete the financial assurance forms required by the KDHE for permit 
renewal each year.  The costs will be updated as necessary to reflect the portions of the landfill 
facility that have been constructed or closed during the preceding year.  An estimate of the 
remaining capacity and life of the facility will also be completed in accordance with standard 
KDHE procedures.  SCS Engineers will submit financial assurance forms in the latest format 
available for the 2021 submittal.  In association with these new policies, information including 
an updated disposal area, history, and capacity table and an associated figure will be 
submitted in lieu of an updated Reno County MSWLF Facility Site Map. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 2.1 is included in Table 2.    
 

T A S K  2 . 2 :   C O N C E P T U A L  C L O S U R E  P L A N  U P D A T E  

SCS Engineers will update the conceptual closure plan to provide the basis of costs associated 
with Task 2.1.  The KDHE-BWM requires representative closure and post-closure estimates 
that are based upon third-party costs to close the facility at its current stage of development.  
These estimates take into consideration the work necessary to prepare the site for closure 
under its present conditions.   
 
Several items of consideration identified by the KDHE-BWM include the following: 
 

• Backfilling borrow areas adjacent to currently active cells to prevent excessive 
storm water on a final cover installed at or below surrounding grades; 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  7  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

• Excavation of a drainage path to drain storm water away from a cell at or below 
surrounding grades to be closed; 

• Design, construction, and operation of a sump and pump system for storm water 
and the costs associated with perpetual pumping; 

• Removal of waste to create a clean close pit; and 
• Other appropriate means of closing the site properly in its current state. 

 
The initial permitting of a landfill requires development of a closure and post-closure plan.  
However, these plans are also based upon the full development of the permitted disposal unit.  
Therefore, the KDHE-BWM essentially requires that intermediate closure plans be developed 
to provide a more accurate representation of the third party costs required to close the site 
“as-is”.  In addition, the KDHE-BWM indicated that these interim closure plans should be 
completed at a conceptual level and will not require extensive engineering design to develop 
closure cost estimates.   
 
SCS Engineers will update the conceptual closure plan to accompany the financial assurance 
forms and include a brief letter report describing the intermediate closure plan and 
procedures with accompanying figures. As indicated in Task 2.1, SCS Engineers will develop 
the cost estimates utilizing the KDHE forms for 2021 renewals. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 2.2 is included in Table 2. 
 
Table 2 - Annual Permit Renewal Fees 

Task Description Cost  

2.1 Closure and Post-Closure Cost Estimates $2,000 

2.2 Conceptual Closure Plan Update $5,500 

Total $7,500 

 
 
TA S K  3  –  Q UA R T E R LY  L A N D F I L L  G A S  M O N I TO R I N G  A N D  

R E P O R T I N G  

Reno County MSWLF personnel complete the required monthly and quarterly landfill gas 
monitoring for the site.  Following data submittal from Reno County MSWLF personnel, SCS 
Engineers will tabulate, evaluate, and summarize the landfill gas monitoring results and 
present them to Reno County in a letter report each quarter. The letter report should be 
maintained in onsite records. SCS Engineers will also be responsible for notifying Reno County 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A n n u a l  S o l i d  W a s t e  C o n s u l t i n g  S e r v i c e s  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  8  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 4 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

in the event that methane concentrations above allowable limits are noted and will require 
further notification to the KDHE.   
 
Key Assumptions: 

• Monthly/Quarterly gas monitoring activities will be conducted by Reno County MSWLF 
personnel; and 

• Results will be transmitted to SCS Engineers within 48 hours of the monitoring event. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 3 is included below. 
  
Table 3 - Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring and Reporting 

Task 
Description Cost per 

Quarter 
Total 2021 

Cost 

3 Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring and Reporting $1,250 $5,000 

Total $5,000 

 
  
 
TA S K  4  –  O N - C A L L  P R O F E S S I O N A L  S E R V I C E S  

SCS Engineers will conduct on-call professional services as requested by the Reno County 
MSWLF.  It is anticipated that these services would be provided to Reno County MSWLF for 
compliance, engineering or technical assistance for items that are outside the scope of 
services described in other tasks but may be required due to operational demands, regulatory 
requirements, or other work requests.  SCS Engineers will obtain authorization from Reno 
County MSWLF personnel prior to conducting work for this task.   
 
The estimated cost for Task 4 is included below.  This task will be invoiced on a T&M basis. 
 
Table 4 - On-Call Professional Services Fees 

Task 
Description Estimated 

Cost for 2021 

4 On-Call Professional Services $40,000 

Total $40,000 

 



 

 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

2021 STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE 

Labor Category          Rate 

Senior Project Advisor .....................................................................................................................  $235 

Senior Project Director ....................................................................................................................  $210 

Project Director ...............................................................................................................................  $195 

Project Advisor.................................................................................................................................. $180 

Senior Project Manager ................................................................................................................... $165 

Project Manager ............................................................................................................................... $150 

Senior Project Professional ............................................................................................................  $135 

Project Professional ........................................................................................................................  $120 

Staff Professional ............................................................................................................................  $110 

Designer/Graphics ........................................................................................................................... $105 

Associate Professional ......................................................................................................................  $95 

Senior Technician .............................................................................................................................  $80 

Technician .........................................................................................................................................  $70 

Project Administrator ........................................................................................................................  $85 

Administrative Assistant ...................................................................................................................  $65 
Note:  Increase hourly rate by 1.5 for Saturday, Sunday, and holiday work or off-shift work when required by client. 

General Terms: 

1. Rates for Principals, expert services (expert reports and testimony), and special limited 
consultations, may be negotiated on a project-specific basis. 

2. Schedule rates are effective through December 31, 2021.  Work performed thereafter is 
subject to a new Fee Schedule. 

3. Schedule labor rates include overhead and profit on labor.  Costs for sub-consultants, sub-
contractors, job-related employee travel and subsistence, equipment, supplies, and other 
direct costs are billed at cost plus a 15 percent administration fee. 

4. A communication fee of 1 percent of project labor will be charged for telephone, copying, 
postage, IT, and similar project production costs. 

5. Invoices will be prepared monthly or more frequently for work in progress unless otherwise 
agreed.  Invoices are due and payable upon receipt.  Invoices not paid within 30 days are 
subject to a service charge of 1.5 percent per month on the unpaid balance. 

6. Payment of SCS invoices for services performed will not be contingent upon the client’s 
receipt of payment from other parties, unless otherwise agreed in writing. Client agrees to 
pay legal costs, including attorney’s fees, incurred by SCS in collecting any amounts past 
due and owing on client’s account.  



2021 Standard Fee Schedule 
Page 2 

Note:  The rates shown above are effective through December 31, 2021 and are subject to revision. 

 Printing Services 
 24-inch by 36-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 36-inch by 48-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 Additional Report Copies (varies depending on report) ............. $25.00 - $50.00 per report 

 Support Vehicles 
 Support Vehicle ................................................................................................. $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck.......................................................... $40.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck with Trailer ...................................... $60.00 per day plus $0.85 per mile 
 SCS Utility Truck .............................................................. $60.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 Rental Vehicle ..................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 

 Per Diem and Travel 
 Hotel, Airfare ....................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 
 Full-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $46.00 per day 
 Half-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $23.00 per day 

 Field Equipment and Supplies 
 Track-mounted Geoprobe® ............................................................................ $750.00 per day 
 All Terrain Vehicle (ATV/UTV) ........................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Field Sampling Trailer ..................................................................................... $350.00 per day 
 GPS Surveying System ................................................................................... $225.00 per day 
 Total Station Survey Equipment .................................................................... $120.00 per day 
 Misc. Survey Tools/Equipment ........................................................................ $10.00 per day 
 Nuclear Density Gauge ................................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Photoionization Detector (PID) ...................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Water Level Indicator (≤300 foot) ................................................................... $30.00 per day 
 Oil/Water Interface Probe ................................................................................ $60.00 per day 
 pH/Temperature/Conductivity Meter (for water) ........................................... $20.00 per day 
 Peristaltic Pump ................................................................................................ $40.00 per day 
 Hand Augers (10-foot) ...................................................................................... $15.00 per day 
 Measuring Tape/Wheel ...................................................................................... $5.00 per day 
 Hand-held GPS Unit .......................................................................................... $25.00 per day 
 Generator .......................................................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Air Compressor (5 gallon) ................................................................................. $25.00 per day 
 Electro fusion Machine .................................................................................. $120.00 per day 
 Flow-Thru Multi-Parameter Meter .................................................................. $150.00 per day 
 Turbidimeter ........................................................................................................... $35 per day 
 Composite Sampler ................................................................................................ $75 per day 
 QED Pump Controller........................................................................................... $100 per day 
 GEM 2000 ............................................................................................................ $150 per day 
 Flow Probe (15-foot) ............................................................................................... $15 per day 
 Digital Camera ........................................................................................................ $10 per day 
 Expendable Equipment, Supplies & Rentals ......................................................... Cost + 15% 
 

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line



 

 
 

11120 E. 26th Street N, Suite 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consultants & Contractors 

Terms and Conditions 
For Professional Consulting Services 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: SCS Engineers will perform the services set forth in the Scope of Work Proposal for 
this project, of which these terms and conditions are a part. Initiation of services by SCS Engineers will 
automatically incorporate these terms and conditions into this project. All amendments to the Scope of 
Service Proposal shall be made in writing, and signed by SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
2. PAYMENTS: SCS Engineers will submit invoices to Client monthly and a final bill upon completion of 

services. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such in a Scope of Services Proposal, no 
retainage shall be withheld by Client. Time is of the essence in payment of invoices and timely payment 
is a material part of the consideration of this Agreement. Payment is due upon presentation of invoice, 
and is past due thirty 30 days from the date of invoice. Client agrees to pay a finance charge of one and 
one half percent per month on past due accounts. Client also agrees to pay all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorney fees incurred by SCS Engineers relating to collection proceedings on 
overdue accounts. Failure of client to abide by the provisions of this section will be considered grounds 
for termination by SCS Engineers.  

 
3. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS: All documents, including but not limited to, reports, plans, designs, boring 

logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and all electronic media 
prepared by SCS Engineers are considered its work product and to be instruments of service. SCS 
Engineers shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyrights on 
said work product and instruments of service. However, all work product and instruments of service 
specific to an executed Scope of Services Proposal shall be supplied to Client for use, but not ownership. 
SCS Engineers shall not be responsible for any conclusions, interpretations, or recommendations 
generated or made by others, which are based, in whole or in part, on SCS Engineers generated work 
product or instruments of service. Any reuse of work product or instruments of service by Client without 
a specific agreement with SCS Engineers in each case shall be at Client’s risk. At Client’s request, SCS 
Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third party, but 
only if the third party agrees to pay a reliance fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client 

4. INSURANCE: SCS Engineers will maintain appropriate workers compensation/employers liability; 
automobile; general liability; and professional liability insurance coverages at all times. An insurance 
certificate will be provided upon request. 

 
5. INDEMNITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold 

harmless Client, including Client’s officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is caused by SCS Engineers, or its 
employees by the negligent performance of professional services, limited, however, as provided 
elsewhere in this Agreement. 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client hereby indemnifies, releases, and agrees to hold harmless 
SCS Engineers including SCS Engineers’ officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is: (a) caused by any cause other than 
the negligent errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, or (b) is based on a claim that SCS Engineers is a 
generator, disposer, or arranger of hazardous materials or substances at Clients site. 

 
The terms of this Article shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 
6. STANDARD OF CARE: SCS Engineers agrees to perform its services in a manner consistent with that 

level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by other members of its profession currently practicing under 
similar circumstances, in the same locale, at the time the services are performed and with the 
information available to SCS Engineers. 

 
7. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers’ total 

aggregate liability per Scope of Services Proposal to Client for injuries, claims, losses, expenses, 
damages, or claim expenses arising out of this Agreement from any cause(s), shall not exceed the fee in 
the Scope of Services Proposal which included the services under which the claim arose, or $50,000, 
whichever is greater, and Client releases SCS Engineers from any liability above such amount. This 
release applies to any loss and all damages, injuries, claims, and expenses (including attorney’s fees 
and expert witness fees and expenses), regardless of the cause, whether, but not limited to, strict 
liability, statutory liability, the negligence, errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, breach of contract, 
breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation, or other contract or tort claims, and whether, but not 
limited to, special, indirect, or consequential or punitive damages. SCS Engineers  shall not be 
responsible for damages or costs resulting from hidden conditions or latent defects in design, materials, 
or construction of existing facilities. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such on a Scope of 
Services Proposal, there shall be no liquidated damages. 

 
8. MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: SCS Engineers and Client agree that neither shall be 

liable to the other, or anyone claiming on their behalf, for any special, indirect or consequential damages 
of any type, whether arising in tort (including negligence), contract, warranty (express or implied), strict 
liability, statutory liability or any other cause of action, including but not limited to loss of profit, loss of 
use, loss of business, reputation or financing.  

 
9. SAFETY: SCS Engineers is not responsible and shall not be liable for injuries or damages incurred by 

third parties who are not employees of SCS Engineers. It is agreed that SCS Engineers is not responsible 
for job or site safety on this project, unless specifically agreed to in writing. Job site safety in, on or about 
the site is the sole and exclusive responsibility of the contractor. 

 
10. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE: All documents produced by SCS Engineers are for client’s use only.  At Client’s 

request, SCS Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third 
party, but only if the third party agrees to pay a fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
11. UTILITIES AND SUBTERRANEAN STRUCTURES: SCS Engineers will take reasonable precautions to avoid 

causing damage to utilities and subterranean structures. SCS Engineers is not responsible for any loss, 
damage or injury arising from damage to, or contact with, any utilities or subterranean structures that 
were not properly called to SCS Engineers’ attention, were not properly located on drawings, or was 
caused by the providing of inaccurate or incomplete information regarding their location. 

 
12. CHANGED CONDITIONS: If, during the performance of this Agreement, unexpected conditions or 

circumstances are discovered, SCS Engineers will notify Client and the parties will renegotiate the 
previously agreed upon Scope of Services Proposal. SCS Engineers and Client will promptly and in good 
faith enter into a renegotiation process. If renegotiated terms cannot be agreed to within sixty (60) days, 
SCS Engineers will have the right to terminate this Scope of Service Proposal without penalty.  

 
13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: In the event of any dispute between the parties arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement or the services or work contemplated herein, the parties agree to first make a good 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 3 of 4 

 

faith effort to resolve the dispute informally. Negotiations shall take place between the principals of 
each party. If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation within forty-five (45) days, 
then either party may give written notice that it elects to proceed with non-binding mediation pursuant to 
the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In the event that 
mediation is not invoked by the parties within fifty-five (55) days or that the mediation is unsuccessful in 
resolving the dispute, then either party may submit the controversy to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
The foregoing is a condition precedent to the filing of any action other than an action for injunctive relief 
or if a statute of limitations may expire. 

 
Each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs 
incurred in the course of any dispute, mediation, or legal proceeding. The fees of the mediator and any 
filing fees shall be shared equally by the parties. 

 
14. TESTING AND OBSERVATION SERVICES: If SCS Engineers is hired by Client to provide a site 

representative for the purpose of testing or observing specific portions of the work, this work will not 
include supervision or direction of the actual work of any contractors, their employees or agents. SCS 
Engineers will observe only the portion of the work we have been hired for and perform tests, the results 
being delivered to Client or others if directed by Client. Client understands that even with very careful 
field testing and observation, field testing and observation is conducted to reduce, not eliminate, the 
risk of problems arising, and that providing these services does not create a warranty or guarantee of 
any type by SCS Engineers. 

15. SOIL BORING AND TEST LOCATIONS: The accuracy of test locations and elevations will commensurate 
only with pacing and approximate measurements or estimates. SCS Engineers can provide a 
professional surveyor if greater accuracy is required or desired. SCS Engineers reserves the right to 
deviate a reasonable distance from the boring and test locations unless this right is specifically revoked 
in writing. 

 
16. ON SITE SERVICES: Project site visits by SCS Engineers, or the furnishing of employees to work on the 

project, will not make SCS Engineers responsible for construction means, methods, techniques or 
procedures; or for any construction contractor’s failure to perform its work in accordance with the 
drawings and specifications. 

 
17. TERMINATION: Either party may terminate this Agreement or an executed Scope of Services Proposal, or 

both, with or without cause, by providing seven (7) days written notice. SCS Engineers shall be paid for 
all services performed and all expenses incurred prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination, 
and for all additional services or expenses authorized by Client thereafter. Following termination, Client 
shall not utilize any consultant or subcontractor of SCS Engineers for any services related to Client’s 
project without the prior written consent of SCS Engineers. 

 
18. CONFIDENTIALITY: SCS Engineers will keep confidential all documents, reports and information 

generated for Client on this project and will not release or disclose said information without Client’s 
consent, except to the extent required by court order, subpoena, governmental directive, or by law. 

 
19. SEVERABILITY: If any provision contained in this Agreement is held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 

enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired. 
 
20. GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLIENT: Client will, within a reasonable period of time, so as not to 

delay the services of SCS Engineers: place at SCS Engineers’ disposal all available information pertinent 
to the project; SCS Engineers may rely on the information provided as being accurate without 
independent verification; client will provide prompt written notice to SCS Engineers whenever Client 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 4 of 4 

 

observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in SCS Engineers’ services; and Client will arrange 
for access to public and private property as required for SCS Engineers to provide its services. 

 
21. GOVERNING LAW: Unless otherwise provided, the substantive law of the state of Kansas will govern the 

validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and performance and remedies for contract breach or any 
other claims related to this Agreement. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT 

 
During the performance of this Agreement, Client acknowledges the applicability of the Federal 
Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 (“IRCA”). Client agrees to comply with the law in performing 
under this Agreement. 

 
22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT—PRECEDENCE: These Terms and Conditions and SCS Engineers Scope of Service 

Proposal contain the entire agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. All previous or 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, promises and conditions relating to SCS Engineers 
services are superseded. Since terms contained in purchase orders do not generally apply to 
professional services, in the event client issues to SCS Engineers a purchase order, no preprinted terms 
thereon will become part of the agreement of the parties; any purchase order document, whether or not 
signed by SCS Engineers, shall be considered a document for Client’s internal management of its 
operations. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly Authorized 
Representatives, as follows: 

SCS ENGINEERS:  RENO COUNTY, KANSAS: 

BY:   BY:  

NAME:   NAME:  

TITLE:   TITLE:  

DATE:   DATE:  
 

 

 

 



 

 
 

11120 E 26th St. N, Ste. 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

January 29, 2021 
File No. 270036221 
 
  
Ms. Megan Davidson 
Reno County Solid Waste Department 
703 S. Mohawk Road 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Subject: Engineering and Planning Services Proposal 
 2021 Scope of Services 
 Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
 

Dear Ms. Davidson: 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide this Task Order for the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill Facility’s (Reno County MSWLF) 2021 engineering and planning consulting services. SCS 
Engineers has appreciated the opportunity to build a solid professional relationship with Reno County, 
and we look forward to assisting Reno County continue to provide exceptional solid waste disposal 
services.  Our scope of services and cost estimate are summarized below.  

Scope of Services and Estimated Fees 
The scope of work for this proposal is based on tasks typically performed on an annual basis to 
evaluate landfill performance metrics and ongoing discussions with Reno County MSWLF staff 
regarding landfill planning and development. Four individual tasks were identified for this proposal.  A 
detailed scope of work for each task is attached to this letter. The following table provides the cost 
breakdown per task: 

Task No. Task Description Task Cost Payment Terms 

Task 1 2021 Volume Calculations  $8,900 Lump Sum 

Task 2 Cell 7 GCCS Expansion Design $30,000 Lump Sum 

Task 3 GCCS Expansion Construction Quality Assurance $35,000 Lump Sum 

Task 4 Financial Model and Master Plan Update $5,000 Time & Materials 

Total for Tasks 1 – 4 $78,900  

We have provided a lump sum cost for tasks with a well-defined scope of work.  For tasks where the 
scope of work is less defined, an estimated cost is provided.  SCS Engineers will submit invoices 
approximately monthly. Lump sum tasks will be invoiced on a percent completion basis.  
   
  



Ms. Megan Davidson 
January 29, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Terms and Conditions 
SCS Engineers appreciates the opportunity to submit this task order to Reno County. If the proposed 
scope of work presented herein meets your approval, work may begin immediately by signing the 
attached Terms and Conditions.   
 
We appreciate our continued working relationship with Reno County and look forward to discussing 
any questions or comments you may have concerning this proposal.  Please feel free to contact us at 
(316) 315-4501. 
 

Sincerely,   
   

Steve Linehan, P.E.  Monte R. Markley, P.G. 
Senior Project Manager  Vice President/Sr. Project Director 
SCS Engineers  SCS Engineers  

 

SML/MRM 

 

Attachments: Scope of Work – 2021 Engineering and Planning Services 
  Standard Fee Schedule 

Terms & Conditions 
 



 
 

Scope of Work – 2021 Engineering and Planning Services www.scsengineers.com 
 

Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
2021 Engineering & Planning Services  

Scope of Work 
 

TA S K  1  –  2 0 21  Vo l u m e  C a l c u l a t i o n s  

SCS Engineers (SCS) will complete volume calculations for the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill Facility (Reno County MSWLF) for 2021.  As in previous years, the landfill survey technician 
will provide survey points of landfill areas that have been modified from the previous year. Additionally, 
topographic information will be provided for areas used for soil borrow material.  SCS Engineers will 
utilize AutoCAD® Civil 3D software to create “TIN” surfaces for each year’s survey data which will be 
compared and used to determine volume changes between the two surveys.  
 
A report will be prepared for submittal to the County that describes the total volume of landfill space 
used over the past year (or time period in between the two surveys), soil used during the time between 
the two surveys, remaining airspace in the landfill, remaining soil available for use, and approximate 
waste density.  The County will provide waste acceptance rates between the survey dates for use in 
the volume calculations.  The volume calculation report will utilize new elevation data from the 2021 
survey compared to the previous year’s survey data. The volume calculation package, to include a 
summary letter, calculations, and figures, will be provided to the County no later than June 30, 2021. 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 1 is $8,900.  
 
 
TA S K  2  –  C E L L  7  G C C S  E X PA N S I O N  D E S I G N  

SCS will provide engineering design services to complete construction plans and specifications for the 
GCCS expansion into Cell 7.  The expansion is required to maintain compliance with NSPS regulations.  
In addition, SCS will provide design services for an expansion and rerouting plan of the Site B system 
to the Site A/C/D flare. 
 
Per NSPS regulations, a gas collection system must be implemented within five years after first 
placement of waste. Waste was first placed in Cell 7 on January 9, 2017, and therefore, Cell 7 must 
install a gas collection system by January 9, 2022. SCS anticipates installation of the Cell 7 expansion 
to occur in the fourth quarter of 2021 to allow for Reno County’s operations to reposition to Cell 5 and 
also to maximize the depth of gas wells. By maximizing the depth of wells on Cell 7, Reno County’s 
investment will be optimized. 
 
Currently, the Site B flare experiences inadequate methane concentrations to keep the system running 
continuously and, therefore, is an operations challenge.  In addition, the boundary monitoring probes 
north of Sites A and B have had consistent methane readings in excess of the regulatory threshold.  
An assessment of the methane at the property boundary in 2020 indicated waste was placed outside 
of the cells northeast of Site A and north and northwest of Site B, which is likely contributing to the 
boundary methane exceedances.  Therefore, in addition to the Cell 7 expansion, SCS will layout and 
design an expansion of the Site B system such that the migrating landfill gases can be captured. This 
design will also incorporate taking the Site B flare offline and connecting the Site B system to the Site 
A/C/D flare. System operations and maintenance will be reduced by directing all facility LFG to one 
flare.   
 

http://www.scsengineers.com/


S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  E n g i n e e r i n g  a n d  P l a n n i n g  S e r v i c e s  P r o p o s a l  
R e n o  C o u n t y  M S W L F  
P a g e  2  
 

P r o p o s a l  # 2 7 0 0 3 6 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

The engineering design efforts for this task are necessary to prepare plans and specifications suitable 
for installing the expansion of the GCCS.   The permitted design and accompanying plans will be used 
as the basis for the Cell 7 and Site B expansions engineering design. Revisions to the permitted design 
are necessary to accommodate the existing site conditions and current gas generation rates as well 
as provide additional detail for construction purposes.   
 
The engineering design efforts for this task are expected to consist of the following: 
 

• Engineering design and pressure/flow modeling for expansion of the GCCS for both Cell 7 and 
Site B; 

• Value engineering to evaluate the permitted gas system layout and identify potential areas to 
optimize the system for cost-savings during completion of the engineering design; 

• Detailed design of header/lateral system alignments, including anticipated trench depths, 
invert elevations for system components, etc. to facilitate construction staking and installation; 

• Construction Plans likely to include the following -  
o Title/Cover Sheet 
o Overall Cell 7 GCCS Expansion site layout 
o Rerouting layout of Site B system to the Site A/C/D flare 
o Disposal Unit Layouts/Piping Alignments 
o Well Schedules and Point Tables 
o Extraction Well Details 
o Header/Lateral System Details 
o Condensate Management System Details 
o Vendor-Supplied Specifications. 

• Construction specifications (to be included on the Construction Plans); and 
• Final quantity takeoffs for material procurement  

 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 2 is $30,000.  
 
 
TA S K  3  –  G C C S  E X PA N S I O N  C O N S T R U C T I O N  Q U A L I T Y  

A S S U R A N C E   

Construction quality assurance (CQA) is necessary to ensure materials, lines, and grades are 
constructed to meet the design and to help eliminate future issues.  Observations of construction 
activities and conformance with design documents will be performed at least weekly throughout the 
construction process and may be increased to daily during critical times (e.g. during well installations).  
SCS will provide surveying services to perform construction staking for both the GCCS Cell 7 and Site 
B installations at the Reno County MSWLF.  We will provide construction staking to layout the following 
components for construction: 
 

• Vertical gas extraction wells locations and surface elevations; 
• Lateral and header piping alignments and cuts on 50-foot stations; and 
• Locations of sumps, traps, valves, risers, and similar appurtenances.  

 
SCS will utilize survey-grade GPS equipment currently set up to operate on the landfill’s coordinate 
system to conduct the construction layout and place the appropriate flagging/staking to facilitate 
construction of the GCCS.  Construction layout and staking of piping and appurtenances will performed 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  E n g i n e e r i n g  a n d  P l a n n i n g  S e r v i c e s  P r o p o s a l  
R e n o  C o u n t y  M S W L F  
P a g e  3  
 

P r o p o s a l  # 2 7 0 0 3 6 2 2 1   S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

by or under the supervision of a licensed Kansas professional engineer (PE). However, locations of 
vertical wells will be staked by a licensed Kansas professional land surveyor (PLS) per SCS standard 
operating procedures due to the need for precise documentation of surface data with respect to the 
bottom liner.     
 
We anticipate this task to be performed on an ongoing basis as construction progresses to 
accommodate installation and prevent premature staking that may need replaced if disturbed.  To the 
extent possible, we will attempt to integrate as-built surveying activities with layout surveying to realize 
additional efficiencies and provide opportunities for cost savings. 
 
Once construction is completed SCS will survey final gas well locations, pipeline alignments and 
appurtenances to prepare as-built drawings for the constructed expansions for submittal to KDHE.  
These drawings will be sealed by a Kansas professional engineer (PE). 
 
The lump sum cost for Task 3 is $35,000.  
 
TA S K  4  –  F I N A N C I A L  M O D E L  A N D  M A ST E R  P L A N  U P D AT E   

This task consists of a presentation to the Commission on the Financial Model and Rate Study that 
was developed in 2020.  We have included time to present the results of our analysis and 
recommended next steps for rate and billing changes in a PowerPoint presentation. In addition, this 
task includes responses, as needed, to answer questions throughout the year regarding the financial 
model and master planning of the solid waste department. Our responses under this task will be 
limited to these items. However, additional meetings, presentations, etc. to discuss these items in-
depth will be invoiced under a separate task such as on-call services, unless otherwise instructed.   

The time and materials cost for Task 4 is $5,000. 

 

 



 

 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

2021 STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE 

Labor Category          Rate 

Senior Project Advisor .....................................................................................................................  $235 

Senior Project Director ....................................................................................................................  $210 

Project Director ...............................................................................................................................  $195 

Project Advisor.................................................................................................................................. $180 

Senior Project Manager ................................................................................................................... $165 

Project Manager ............................................................................................................................... $150 

Senior Project Professional ............................................................................................................  $135 

Project Professional ........................................................................................................................  $120 

Staff Professional ............................................................................................................................  $110 

Designer/Graphics ........................................................................................................................... $105 

Associate Professional ......................................................................................................................  $95 

Senior Technician .............................................................................................................................  $80 

Technician .........................................................................................................................................  $70 

Project Administrator ........................................................................................................................  $85 

Administrative Assistant ...................................................................................................................  $65 
Note:  Increase hourly rate by 1.5 for Saturday, Sunday, and holiday work or off-shift work when required by client. 

General Terms: 

1. Rates for Principals, expert services (expert reports and testimony), and special limited 
consultations, may be negotiated on a project-specific basis. 

2. Schedule rates are effective through December 31, 2021.  Work performed thereafter is 
subject to a new Fee Schedule. 

3. Schedule labor rates include overhead and profit on labor.  Costs for sub-consultants, sub-
contractors, job-related employee travel and subsistence, equipment, supplies, and other 
direct costs are billed at cost plus a 15 percent administration fee. 

4. A communication fee of 1 percent of project labor will be charged for telephone, copying, 
postage, IT, and similar project production costs. 

5. Invoices will be prepared monthly or more frequently for work in progress unless otherwise 
agreed.  Invoices are due and payable upon receipt.  Invoices not paid within 30 days are 
subject to a service charge of 1.5 percent per month on the unpaid balance. 

6. Payment of SCS invoices for services performed will not be contingent upon the client’s 
receipt of payment from other parties, unless otherwise agreed in writing. Client agrees to 
pay legal costs, including attorney’s fees, incurred by SCS in collecting any amounts past 
due and owing on client’s account.  



2021 Standard Fee Schedule 
Page 2 

Note:  The rates shown above are effective through December 31, 2021 and are subject to revision. 

 Printing Services 
 24-inch by 36-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 36-inch by 48-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 Additional Report Copies (varies depending on report) ............. $25.00 - $50.00 per report 

 Support Vehicles 
 Support Vehicle ................................................................................................. $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck.......................................................... $40.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck with Trailer ...................................... $60.00 per day plus $0.85 per mile 
 SCS Utility Truck .............................................................. $60.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 Rental Vehicle ..................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 

 Per Diem and Travel 
 Hotel, Airfare ....................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 
 Full-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $46.00 per day 
 Half-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $23.00 per day 

 Field Equipment and Supplies 
 Track-mounted Geoprobe® ............................................................................ $750.00 per day 
 All Terrain Vehicle (ATV/UTV) ........................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Field Sampling Trailer ..................................................................................... $350.00 per day 
 GPS Surveying System ................................................................................... $225.00 per day 
 Total Station Survey Equipment .................................................................... $120.00 per day 
 Misc. Survey Tools/Equipment ........................................................................ $10.00 per day 
 Nuclear Density Gauge ................................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Photoionization Detector (PID) ...................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Water Level Indicator (≤300 foot) ................................................................... $30.00 per day 
 Oil/Water Interface Probe ................................................................................ $60.00 per day 
 pH/Temperature/Conductivity Meter (for water) ........................................... $20.00 per day 
 Peristaltic Pump ................................................................................................ $40.00 per day 
 Hand Augers (10-foot) ...................................................................................... $15.00 per day 
 Measuring Tape/Wheel ...................................................................................... $5.00 per day 
 Hand-held GPS Unit .......................................................................................... $25.00 per day 
 Generator .......................................................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Air Compressor (5 gallon) ................................................................................. $25.00 per day 
 Electro fusion Machine .................................................................................. $120.00 per day 
 Flow-Thru Multi-Parameter Meter .................................................................. $150.00 per day 
 Turbidimeter ........................................................................................................... $35 per day 
 Composite Sampler ................................................................................................ $75 per day 
 QED Pump Controller........................................................................................... $100 per day 
 GEM 2000 ............................................................................................................ $150 per day 
 Flow Probe (15-foot) ............................................................................................... $15 per day 
 Digital Camera ........................................................................................................ $10 per day 
 Expendable Equipment, Supplies & Rentals ......................................................... Cost + 15% 
 

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line



 

 
 

11120 E. 26th Street N, Suite 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consultants & Contractors 

Terms and Conditions 
For Professional Consulting Services 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: SCS Engineers will perform the services set forth in the Scope of Work Proposal for 
this project, of which these terms and conditions are a part. Initiation of services by SCS Engineers will 
automatically incorporate these terms and conditions into this project. All amendments to the Scope of 
Service Proposal shall be made in writing, and signed by SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
2. PAYMENTS: SCS Engineers will submit invoices to Client monthly and a final bill upon completion of 

services. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such in a Scope of Services Proposal, no 
retainage shall be withheld by Client. Time is of the essence in payment of invoices and timely payment 
is a material part of the consideration of this Agreement. Payment is due upon presentation of invoice, 
and is past due thirty 30 days from the date of invoice. Client agrees to pay a finance charge of one and 
one half percent per month on past due accounts. Client also agrees to pay all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorney fees incurred by SCS Engineers relating to collection proceedings on 
overdue accounts. Failure of client to abide by the provisions of this section will be considered grounds 
for termination by SCS Engineers.  

 
3. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS: All documents, including but not limited to, reports, plans, designs, boring 

logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and all electronic media 
prepared by SCS Engineers are considered its work product and to be instruments of service. SCS 
Engineers shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyrights on 
said work product and instruments of service. However, all work product and instruments of service 
specific to an executed Scope of Services Proposal shall be supplied to Client for use, but not ownership. 
SCS Engineers shall not be responsible for any conclusions, interpretations, or recommendations 
generated or made by others, which are based, in whole or in part, on SCS Engineers generated work 
product or instruments of service. Any reuse of work product or instruments of service by Client without 
a specific agreement with SCS Engineers in each case shall be at Client’s risk. At Client’s request, SCS 
Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third party, but 
only if the third party agrees to pay a reliance fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client 

4. INSURANCE: SCS Engineers will maintain appropriate workers compensation/employers liability; 
automobile; general liability; and professional liability insurance coverages at all times. An insurance 
certificate will be provided upon request. 

 
5. INDEMNITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold 

harmless Client, including Client’s officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is caused by SCS Engineers, or its 
employees by the negligent performance of professional services, limited, however, as provided 
elsewhere in this Agreement. 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client hereby indemnifies, releases, and agrees to hold harmless 
SCS Engineers including SCS Engineers’ officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is: (a) caused by any cause other than 
the negligent errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, or (b) is based on a claim that SCS Engineers is a 
generator, disposer, or arranger of hazardous materials or substances at Clients site. 

 
The terms of this Article shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 
6. STANDARD OF CARE: SCS Engineers agrees to perform its services in a manner consistent with that 

level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by other members of its profession currently practicing under 
similar circumstances, in the same locale, at the time the services are performed and with the 
information available to SCS Engineers. 

 
7. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers’ total 

aggregate liability per Scope of Services Proposal to Client for injuries, claims, losses, expenses, 
damages, or claim expenses arising out of this Agreement from any cause(s), shall not exceed the fee in 
the Scope of Services Proposal which included the services under which the claim arose, or $50,000, 
whichever is greater, and Client releases SCS Engineers from any liability above such amount. This 
release applies to any loss and all damages, injuries, claims, and expenses (including attorney’s fees 
and expert witness fees and expenses), regardless of the cause, whether, but not limited to, strict 
liability, statutory liability, the negligence, errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, breach of contract, 
breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation, or other contract or tort claims, and whether, but not 
limited to, special, indirect, or consequential or punitive damages. SCS Engineers  shall not be 
responsible for damages or costs resulting from hidden conditions or latent defects in design, materials, 
or construction of existing facilities. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such on a Scope of 
Services Proposal, there shall be no liquidated damages. 

 
8. MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: SCS Engineers and Client agree that neither shall be 

liable to the other, or anyone claiming on their behalf, for any special, indirect or consequential damages 
of any type, whether arising in tort (including negligence), contract, warranty (express or implied), strict 
liability, statutory liability or any other cause of action, including but not limited to loss of profit, loss of 
use, loss of business, reputation or financing.  

 
9. SAFETY: SCS Engineers is not responsible and shall not be liable for injuries or damages incurred by 

third parties who are not employees of SCS Engineers. It is agreed that SCS Engineers is not responsible 
for job or site safety on this project, unless specifically agreed to in writing. Job site safety in, on or about 
the site is the sole and exclusive responsibility of the contractor. 

 
10. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE: All documents produced by SCS Engineers are for client’s use only.  At Client’s 

request, SCS Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third 
party, but only if the third party agrees to pay a fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
11. UTILITIES AND SUBTERRANEAN STRUCTURES: SCS Engineers will take reasonable precautions to avoid 

causing damage to utilities and subterranean structures. SCS Engineers is not responsible for any loss, 
damage or injury arising from damage to, or contact with, any utilities or subterranean structures that 
were not properly called to SCS Engineers’ attention, were not properly located on drawings, or was 
caused by the providing of inaccurate or incomplete information regarding their location. 

 
12. CHANGED CONDITIONS: If, during the performance of this Agreement, unexpected conditions or 

circumstances are discovered, SCS Engineers will notify Client and the parties will renegotiate the 
previously agreed upon Scope of Services Proposal. SCS Engineers and Client will promptly and in good 
faith enter into a renegotiation process. If renegotiated terms cannot be agreed to within sixty (60) days, 
SCS Engineers will have the right to terminate this Scope of Service Proposal without penalty.  

 
13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: In the event of any dispute between the parties arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement or the services or work contemplated herein, the parties agree to first make a good 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 3 of 4 

 

faith effort to resolve the dispute informally. Negotiations shall take place between the principals of 
each party. If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation within forty-five (45) days, 
then either party may give written notice that it elects to proceed with non-binding mediation pursuant to 
the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In the event that 
mediation is not invoked by the parties within fifty-five (55) days or that the mediation is unsuccessful in 
resolving the dispute, then either party may submit the controversy to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
The foregoing is a condition precedent to the filing of any action other than an action for injunctive relief 
or if a statute of limitations may expire. 

 
Each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs 
incurred in the course of any dispute, mediation, or legal proceeding. The fees of the mediator and any 
filing fees shall be shared equally by the parties. 

 
14. TESTING AND OBSERVATION SERVICES: If SCS Engineers is hired by Client to provide a site 

representative for the purpose of testing or observing specific portions of the work, this work will not 
include supervision or direction of the actual work of any contractors, their employees or agents. SCS 
Engineers will observe only the portion of the work we have been hired for and perform tests, the results 
being delivered to Client or others if directed by Client. Client understands that even with very careful 
field testing and observation, field testing and observation is conducted to reduce, not eliminate, the 
risk of problems arising, and that providing these services does not create a warranty or guarantee of 
any type by SCS Engineers. 

15. SOIL BORING AND TEST LOCATIONS: The accuracy of test locations and elevations will commensurate 
only with pacing and approximate measurements or estimates. SCS Engineers can provide a 
professional surveyor if greater accuracy is required or desired. SCS Engineers reserves the right to 
deviate a reasonable distance from the boring and test locations unless this right is specifically revoked 
in writing. 

 
16. ON SITE SERVICES: Project site visits by SCS Engineers, or the furnishing of employees to work on the 

project, will not make SCS Engineers responsible for construction means, methods, techniques or 
procedures; or for any construction contractor’s failure to perform its work in accordance with the 
drawings and specifications. 

 
17. TERMINATION: Either party may terminate this Agreement or an executed Scope of Services Proposal, or 

both, with or without cause, by providing seven (7) days written notice. SCS Engineers shall be paid for 
all services performed and all expenses incurred prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination, 
and for all additional services or expenses authorized by Client thereafter. Following termination, Client 
shall not utilize any consultant or subcontractor of SCS Engineers for any services related to Client’s 
project without the prior written consent of SCS Engineers. 

 
18. CONFIDENTIALITY: SCS Engineers will keep confidential all documents, reports and information 

generated for Client on this project and will not release or disclose said information without Client’s 
consent, except to the extent required by court order, subpoena, governmental directive, or by law. 

 
19. SEVERABILITY: If any provision contained in this Agreement is held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 

enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired. 
 
20. GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLIENT: Client will, within a reasonable period of time, so as not to 

delay the services of SCS Engineers: place at SCS Engineers’ disposal all available information pertinent 
to the project; SCS Engineers may rely on the information provided as being accurate without 
independent verification; client will provide prompt written notice to SCS Engineers whenever Client 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 4 of 4 

 

observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in SCS Engineers’ services; and Client will arrange 
for access to public and private property as required for SCS Engineers to provide its services. 

 
21. GOVERNING LAW: Unless otherwise provided, the substantive law of the state of Kansas will govern the 

validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and performance and remedies for contract breach or any 
other claims related to this Agreement. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT 

 
During the performance of this Agreement, Client acknowledges the applicability of the Federal 
Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 (“IRCA”). Client agrees to comply with the law in performing 
under this Agreement. 

 
22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT—PRECEDENCE: These Terms and Conditions and SCS Engineers Scope of Service 

Proposal contain the entire agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. All previous or 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, promises and conditions relating to SCS Engineers 
services are superseded. Since terms contained in purchase orders do not generally apply to 
professional services, in the event client issues to SCS Engineers a purchase order, no preprinted terms 
thereon will become part of the agreement of the parties; any purchase order document, whether or not 
signed by SCS Engineers, shall be considered a document for Client’s internal management of its 
operations. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly Authorized 
Representatives, as follows: 

SCS ENGINEERS:  RENO COUNTY, KANSAS: 

BY:   BY:  

NAME:   NAME:  

TITLE:   TITLE:  

DATE:   DATE:  
 

 

 

 



 

 

 
11120 E 26th St. N, Ste. 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

January 29, 2021 
File No. 270035221 
 
Ms. Megan Davidson 
Reno County Solid Waste Department 
703 S. Mohawk Road 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Subject: 2021 Air Quality and GCCS OM&M Services Proposal 

Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 

Dear Ms. Davidson: 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide this Task Order for the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill Facility’s (Reno County MSWLF) 2021 Air Quality and Gas Collection and Control System (GCCS) 
Annual Consulting Services.  SCS Engineers has appreciated the opportunity to build a solid professional 
relationship with Reno County over the past several years and looks forward to serving Reno County in 
2021. Our scope of services and cost estimates covered by this proposal are summarized below.  

Scope of Services and Estimated Fees 
The scope of work for this proposal is based on regulatory requirements, system performance goals, and 
anticipated operational and maintenance activities. In April 2014 the Reno County MSWLF became 
subject to additional regulatory requirements for air quality imposed by the operation of the GCCS.  A 
significant amount of monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting is necessary to remain in compliance 
with the New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) and other pertinent air quality regulations.  The 
attached scope of work outlines and describes the services necessary to fulfill the applicable regulatory 
requirements associated with the GCCS as well as operations and maintenance activities to optimize 
system performance.  The tasks outlined in the scope of work are based upon our experience providing 
these services to Reno County, and both private and public landfill facilities in the state of Kansas and 
nationally.  A detailed scope of work for each task is attached to this letter.  The following table provides 
the cost breakdown per task: 

Task No. Task Description Task Cost Payment Terms 

Task 1 GCCS Operations, Monitoring, & Maintenance   
1.1 Routine OM&M $4,000/Month  Time & Materials 
1.2 GCCS On-Call Services $6,000/Month Time & Materials 

Task 2 Air Quality and GCCS Reporting   
2.1 Annual Air Quality Compliance $7,700 Lump Sum 
2.2 Green House Gas Rule Compliance $3,800 Lump Sum 
2.3 Semi-Annual NSPS and SSM Reports $10,800 Lump Sum 

2.4 Ongoing Deviation Reporting  
As Needed* 

Est. $400/month 
Time & Materials 

Task 3 Quarterly Surface Emissions Monitoring $4,800/quarter** Lump Sum 

Total for Tasks 1 – 3 Through the End of 2021 $166,300  
  *Costs will occur if a deviation is identified that requires ongoing deviation reporting.  
  **Cost based on assumption that no exceedances are detected during monitoring. 



2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  S e r v i c e s  P r o p o s a l  
R e n o  C o u n t y  M S W L F  
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  2  
 

Proposal No. 270035221  SCS ENGINEERS 

We have provided a lump sum cost for tasks with a well-defined scope of work.  For tasks where the 
scope of work is less defined, an estimated cost is provided.  SCS Engineers will submit invoices 
approximately monthly.  Lump sum tasks will be invoiced on a percent completion basis.  Time and 
materials tasks will be based on the actual number of units expended during the invoice period 
multiplied by the corresponding rate on the attached fee schedule.   

Terms and Conditions 
SCS Engineers appreciates the opportunity to submit this task order to Reno County.  If the proposed 
scope of work presented herein meets your approval, work may begin immediately by signing the 
attached Terms and Conditions.   
 
We appreciate our continued working relationship with Reno County and look forward to discussing any 
questions or comments you may have concerning this proposal.  Please feel free to contact us at (316) 
315-4501. 
 
Sincerely,   

   

Steve Linehan, P.E.  Monte R. Markley, P.G. 

Senior Project Manager  Vice President/Sr. Project Director 

SCS Engineers  SCS Engineers  

 
Attachments: Scope of Work – 2021 Air Quality and GCCS OM&M Services 
  Fee Schedule 
  Terms & Conditions 
   



 
 
 

 
 
Scope of Work – 2021 Air Quality and GCCS OM&M Services www.scsengineers.com 
 

Reno County Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Facility 
2021 Air Quality and GCCS OM&M Services Proposal  

Scope of Work 
 

TA S K  1  –  G C C S  O P E R AT I O N S ,  M O N I TO R I N G ,  &  M A I N T E N A N C E  

A gas collection and control system (GCCS) is in operation at the Reno County Municipal Solid Waste 
Landfill Facility (Reno County MSWLF) that consists of 109 landfill gas (LFG) extraction wells, below-
grade high-density polyethylene (HDPE) LFG collection piping, and condensate management systems 
served by two blower/flare station (BFS) systems.  The Reno County MSWLF is subject to 40 CFR Part 
63 Subpart AAAA, the National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) for Municipal 
Solid Waste (MSW) Landfills. SCS Engineers proposes to perform GCCS operations, monitoring, and 
maintenance (OM&M) services for the GCCS.  Reporting of these services will also be provided.  The 
purpose of performing GCCS OM&M is to achieve operational goals for optimizing system performance 
and comply with regulatory requirements.   
 
The operational goals for the Reno County MSWLF are described as follows. 
 
O p e r a t i o n a l  G o a l s  

The GCCS will be operated consistent with the New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) rules and 
the approval received from the Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) for alternatives 
to the operational standards of NSPS on October 21, 2014. The following minimum LFG quality 
standards will generally apply to measurements taken at each LFG extraction wellhead:  
 
 Static pressure measured at the wellhead must be less than 0.0 inches of water column (i.e., 

under vacuum); 
 LFG temperature measured at the wellhead must be less than 131 degrees Fahrenheit (131o F); 

and 
 Oxygen concentration measured at the wellhead must be less than 5.0 percent by volume. 

 
SCS Engineers will use the approval that allows for wellheads to be shut off if, after adjusting the 
vacuum, the oxygen concentration does not decline to allowable levels (5% or less) or methane levels 
do not stabilize above 40% by volume.  The wellheads are to be opened in instances of positive 
pressure to relieve pressure, but zero pressure or high oxygen concentration will not be considered an 
exceedance of the wellhead operating criteria discussed previously. 
 
SCS Engineers will also attempt to maintain the following LFG quality readings at the wellheads: 
 
 Methane concentration greater than 50 percent (Site D wellheads only); and 
 Balance gas concentration less than 10 percent. 

 

http://www.scsengineers.com/


S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  2  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

These LFG quality readings are overall benchmarks and are not considered absolute minimum or 
maximum allowable readings.  However, they are consistent with NSPS requirements and provide a 
desirable goal for LFG quality at each wellhead.  Additionally, approximately half of the LFG extraction 
wells are located in older, closed disposal areas that are beyond “peak production” and likely to 
produce low quality gas where methane concentrations greater than 50 percent may no longer be 
feasible (i.e., “non-productive” LFG extraction wells).    
 
G C C S  O M & M  

OM&M activities will be performed to achieve the operational goals described previously and to 
maintain compliance with regulatory requirements.  OM&M services will be provided by SCS Engineers 
personnel from our local Wichita satellite office.  SCS Engineers will notify Reno County of the 
necessary or recommended repairs, provide an estimated cost of the time and materials needed to 
perform the repairs, and obtain prior authorization before performing the work to conduct repairs.  
Repairs may include the following items: 
 
 Replacement of wellheads due to damage caused by others (e.g., equipment collisions); 
 Damage to the gas collection piping, condensate management system, or other system 

components that are a result of excavation activities performed by others; and 
 Theft, vandalism, or other damage not related to defects in workmanship. 

 
The scope of work for OM&M services is described in the following sections. 
 
R o u t i n e  M o n t h l y  G C C S  O M & M  S e r v i c e s  

Routine GCCS-related services are those services for which the scopes can be reasonably defined at 
the present time.  The routine monthly OM&M services include the following items and are described 
in this section: 
 
 Routine Well Field Monitoring and Maintenance Services; 
 Other Well Field Monitoring and Maintenance Services; 
 BFS Monitoring and Maintenance Services; 
 BFS Spare Parts and Materials Inventory; 
 GCCS OM&M Recordkeeping; and 
 Project Management and Administration. 

 
Well Field Monitoring and Maintenance Services 
SCS Engineers will conduct monthly monitoring and associated adjustment of the LFG extraction wells 
in an attempt to properly balance the well field.  During these visits, routine services for the well field 
will include: 
 
 Monitoring and adjusting the 109 extraction wells so that they meet NSPS parameter 

requirements for temperature, oxygen, and pressure; 

 Obtaining landfill concentrations of methane, oxygen, carbon dioxide, and balance gas at each 
extraction well, in addition to individual extraction well temperatures and pressures; 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  3  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 Identifying extraction wells that are not functioning properly and/or have been damaged, 
including broken hoses, pipes, thermometers, sample ports, loose connections, air leaks, and/or 
condensate build-up in the wellheads or well sample ports; and 

 Performing inspections of condensate sumps to determine if they are functioning properly and 
are in good condition. 

A Landtec GEM 5000 will be used to obtain LFG concentrations, extraction well temperatures, static 
pressure, well flow rates, and system pressure.  Obtaining these parameters will ensure proper well 
field adjustments, in addition to compliance with NSPS guidelines.  Initial reading and adjusted 
readings, for each well and the BFS, will be stored in the GEM 5000 for future upload to an electronic 
data file. 
 
During wellhead monitoring, the technician will listen for leaks.  Minor leaks identified during 
monitoring will be repaired at the time of discovery.  Leaks that cannot be fully repaired (e.g., those 
requiring replacement parts) will be temporarily patched in the field, if possible.  Permanent repairs 
that do not fall within the provisions of the GCCS construction contract will be performed upon 
authorization by Reno County. 
 
If extraction wells do not adhere to NSPS parameters (less than 131 °F, less than 5 percent oxygen, 
and less than zero pressure), adjustments to the wells will immediately be made in an attempt to bring 
those wells back into compliance.  Adjustments to the wells will also comply with the NSPS 
requirement, stipulating that some corrective action is made on non-compliant wells within 5 days of 
an NSPS exceedance(s).  If non-compliant wells can immediately be corrected to meet NSPS 
parameter(s), a 15-day reading will not be required; however, if corrective actions do not immediately 
correct the NSPS exceedance(s), SCS Engineers will re-monitor the well(s) within 15 days of the initial 
non-compliant reading.  
 
Other Well Field Monitoring and Maintenance Services 
As needed, additional well field monitoring and maintenance services will be provided as indicated 
below: 
 
 Measurement of header pressure at each well as needed to troubleshoot problems such as 

decreased available vacuum to a LFG extraction well; 
 Measurement of depth-to-liquid in wells which, based on monitoring results, exhibit evidence of 

elevated liquid levels; 
 Observation and monitoring of condensate sumps to verify their integrity and proper operation; 

and 
 Observation for general landfill cover integrity and surface water drainage conditions that might 

impact LFG collection system operations. 
 
As necessary, issues related to these items will be documented and brought to the attention of landfill 
staff prior to SCS Engineers personnel leaving the site. 
 
BFS Monitoring and Maintenance Services 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  4  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

SCS Engineers will perform routine BFS monitoring during each site visit including the following 
services: 
 
Collect BFS data (as available) including: 

 Instantaneous flow readings (from meter); 
 Total flow readings (from totalizer); 
 Overall system vacuum; 
 Blower inlet and outlet pressures; 
 Flame arrestor inlet and outlet pressures; 
 Composite LFG quality (i.e., CH4, CO2, O2, and balance gas concentrations); 
 Flare temperature (from thermocouple readout); 
 Blower run time hours (from meter); 
 Blower bearing temperatures (from bearing readout); and 
 Blower amperage reading (from meter). 

 
Monitor and record operating status as applicable of various BFS components including: 

 Blower; 
 Motor; 
 Flare; 
 Flare control system; and 
 Air compressor.  

 
SCS Engineers personnel will also perform, as necessary, routine preventative maintenance of BFS 
components that can be accomplished on site including: 
 
 Blower; 
 Motor; 
 Flare control system; 
 Flame arrestor; and 
 Condensate knockout(s). 

 
This work may include: 
 
 Tightening of hoses, valves, etc.; 
 Replacement of thermocouples; and 
 Cleaning around the BFS. 

 
  



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  5  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

BFS Spare Parts and Materials Inventory 
An inventory of spare parts for the BFS was requested to be provided by the flare manufacturer/vendor 
as part of the GCCS construction project.  If spare parts or materials in the inventory are used for 
maintenance or repairs, SCS Engineers will notify Reno County MSWLF personnel and, upon approval, 
purchase replacement spare parts.  SCS Engineers will maintain a list of the spare parts and materials 
to be located on site.   
 
GCCS OM&M Recordkeeping 
For monthly GCCS OM&M services, SCS Engineers will upload data collected during the monitoring 
event and compile the information in a spreadsheet.  The spreadsheet will be made available to Reno 
County in digital format.  The OM&M record file may include the following information: 
 
 Monitoring data collected at individual LFG extraction wells; 
 Status of each well’s compliance with operating requirements for pressure, temperature, and 

oxygen concentration; 
 Summary of BFS operations; 
 Condensate sump operation; 
 Cover integrity issues potentially impacting GCCS operations (if any); 
 Summary of maintenance services performed; and 
 Recommendations of additional maintenance or repairs needed (if any). 

 
SCS Engineers will compile collected data on the SCS eTools server and provide access for designated 
Reno County personnel to this data.  Field data will be uploaded to eTools for access and review within 
three workdays following collection by SCS Engineers. 
 
Project Management and Administration 
For the above services, SCS Engineers will provide an adequate level of management and 
administration in an effort to make the project run smoothly and efficiently.  
Management/administrative services include scheduling of field activities, oversight of field activities, 
reporting of field activities, invoicing for services, and client communications. 
 
The estimated cost for Task 1 is $4,700 per monitoring/balancing event. SCS Engineers proposes 
performing a total of 12 monitoring/balancing events (one event per month).  In addition to the routine 
services, SCS Engineers anticipates non-routine services that cannot be accurately detailed in this 
proposal.  These tasks will be invoiced on a time and materials (T&M) basis.  A cost breakdown of the 
estimated fees is shown in Table 1. 
 

   

  



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  6  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 Table 1 - GCCS OM&M Estimated Fees 

Item Description 
Monitoring/Balancing 

Frequency 
Estimated Cost 

per Month 

Routine Monitoring Monthly $4,000 

GCCS On-Call Services As-Needed $6,000* 

Total Estimated Annual Cost (12 Monitoring Events plus On-Call Services) $120,000 

*Estimate is based on actual invoicing for similar services at Reno County MSWLF in 2020.  
 
 
TA S K  2  –  A I R  Q U A L I T Y  A N D  G C C S  R E P O R T I N G  

KDHE and Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) regulations require reporting related to the OM&M 
of the GCCS.  Specifically, Reno County will be required to submit NSPS and Startup, Shutdown, and 
Malfunction (SSM) reports on a semi-annual basis and deviation reports in the event that a deviation 
from the Class I Air Operating permit occurs.   

The scope of services for these items is described in the following sections. 

T A S K  2 . 1  –  A N N U A L  A I R  Q U A L I T Y  C O M P L I A N C E  

In accordance with the Reno County MSWLF’s current Class I Operating Permit, the Reno County 
MSWLF is required to complete various annual reports. These reports include the Annual Emission 
Inventory Questionnaire, Annual Compliance Certification, and the Semi-Annual Monitoring Report.  
SCS Engineers will assist the Reno County MSWLF in completing and submitting these documents.   
 
The lump sum cost for Task 2.1 is $7,700.  A breakdown of the costs is provided in Table 2. 
 

Table 2 - Annual Air Quality Compliance Fees 

Report Description Submittal Date 
Cost per 
Report 

Reports 
Through 

2021 

Total Cost 
Through 

2021 

Annual Compliance Certification* June 11, 2021 $2,200 1 $2,200 

Annual Emissions Inventory April 1, 2021 $3,300 1 $3,300 

Semi-Annual Monitoring Report December 11, 2021 $2,200 1 $2,200 

Total Cost $7,700 
*The first Semi-Annual Monitoring Report will be submitted as part of the Annual Compliance Certification. 
 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  7  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

T A S K  2 . 2  –  G R E E N  H O U S E  G A S  R U L E  C O M P L I A N C E   

Annual Green House Gas Report 
SCS Engineers will complete the 2020 Annual Green House Gas (GHG) Report.  The report will 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR 98.3(c).  SCS Engineers will 
coordinate with Reno County personnel to obtain facility information for the 2020 reporting 
period including, but not limited to, waste acceptance records for the active landfill areas and 
fuel throughputs, methane concentration readings and continuous chart recorder flow rate 
data, in preparation of the supporting calculations required for reporting.  A draft of the report 
will be submitted to Reno County for one round of review and comment.  The report will be 
submitted no later than March 31, 2021 utilizing the U.S. EPA electronic submittal system.   
 
Table 3 - Annual Greenhouse Gas Compliance 

Item Description 
Cost per 
Report 

Reports 
through 2021 

Total Cost 

Greenhouse Gas Report $3,800 1 $3,800 

Total Cost $3,800 

 

T A S K  2 . 3 :  S E M I - A N N U A L  N S P S  A N D  S S M  R E P O R T S  

Semi-Annual NSPS Reports 
In accordance with 40 CFR 60.757(f), the Reno County MSWLF is required to submit semi-annual 
reports to the KDHE and EPA Region VII consisting of the following information:  
 
 Value and length of time for exceedances of applicable parameters monitored under 40 CFR 

60.756(a), (b), (c) and (d); 
 Description and duration of periods when the gas stream is diverted from the control device; 
 Description and duration of periods when the control device was not operating for a period 

exceeding 1 hour; 
 Periods when the collection system was not operating in excess of 5 days; 
 The location of each exceedance of the surface emissions limit of 500 ppm methane 

concentration above background; and  
 The date of installation and the location of each well or collection system expansion. 

 
Per the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) for MSW Landfills, 40 CFR 
63.1980(a), the NSPS reports must be submitted semi-annually.  
 
SCS Engineers will prepare the semi-annual reports to satisfy the requirements set forth in the NSPS 
and NESHAP.  SCS Engineers will submit the final signed semi-annual NSPS reports to the KDHE and 
EPA Region VII by June 11th for the reporting period November 12 through May 11, and by 
December 11th for the reporting period May 12 through November 11. SCS Engineers will prepare two 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  8  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

additional hard copies of the final reports and electronic copies of the final reports for the Reno County 
MSWLF. 
 
Semi-Annual SSM Reports 
In accordance with 40 CFR 63.10(d)(5)(i), the Reno County MSWLF is required to submit semi-annual 
SSM Reports summarizing the GCCS operations to verify compliance with the facility’s SSM Plan.  SCS 
Engineers will complete the semi-annual SSM Reports to satisfy the reporting requirements set forth 
in the NESHAP for MSW Landfills.  If actions taken by the Reno County MSWLF during an SSM event 
are consistent with the procedures specified in the facility’s SSM Plan, such information shall be 
submitted in the semi-annual SSM Report.  Similarly, the report shall identify instances where actions 
taken by the Reno County MSWLF during an SSM event are not consistent with the SSM Plan, provided 
the source does not exceed an applicable emission limitation in a relevant standard.  The report will 
also include the number, duration, and brief description for malfunctions and the cause an applicable 
emission limitation to be exceeded.  SCS Engineers will submit the final signed semi-annual SSM 
reports to the KDHE and EPA Region VII by June 11th for the reporting period November 12 through 
May 11, and by December 11th for the reporting period May 12 through November 11. SCS Engineers 
will prepare two additional hard copies of the final reports and electronic copies of the final reports for 
the Reno County MSWLF. 
 
Task 2.3 includes the submittal of the required Semi-annual NSPS and SSM reports through the end 
of 2021 (four total reports).  The lump sum cost for Task 2.3 is $10,800.  The cost breakdown for 
these reports is provided in Table 4.   
 

Table 4 - Semi-Annual NSPS AND SSM Report Fees 

Item Description 
Cost per 
Report 

Reports Through 
2021 

Cost through 
2021 

Semi-Annual NSPS Report $3,200 2 $6,400 

Semi-Annual SSM Report $2,200 2 $4,400 

Total Cost $10,800 

 

T A S K  2 . 4 :  O N G O I N G  D E V I A T I O N  R E P O R T I N G  

As required by the Class I Air Operating Permit, the Reno County MSWLF is required to identify all 
instances of deviations in the Semi-annual Monitoring and Recordkeeping Reports, and submit 
deviation reports on an ongoing basis if a deviation occurs. 
 
Ongoing Deviation Reporting 
In accordance with the Reporting of Deviations from Permit Terms section of the Class I Air Operating 
Permit, deviations from the requirements of the permit shall be reported to the KDHE as follows: 
 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  9  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

 Deviations which result in emissions exceeding those allowed in the permit shall be reported 
the next business day following the discovery of the release, with follow-up written notice within 
five business days following the discovery of the release. 

 Deviations which do not result in emissions exceeding those allowed in this permit shall be 
reported in writing within 10 business days following discovery of the release. 

 
SCS Engineers will review the relevant data weekly and, in the event that data indicates a deviation, 
prepare deviation reports as deemed necessary. The deviation reports will be prepared within 10 
business days of SCS Engineers receiving the information and identifying the deviation. In addition, 
SCS Engineers will perform a detailed audit of data provided on a monthly basis to identify any unusual 
issues or discrepancies. SCS Engineers will provide recommendations, as deemed appropriate, to 
resolve and/or further evaluate any irregularities identified. The cost provided herein for these services 
reflect the average monthly cost SCS Engineers has invoiced for similar services at other landfills 
across the Midwest. With the extreme variation in number and type of deviations identified at landfills, 
it is possible that the estimated monthly costs could increase or decrease based on the frequency and 
type of deviations identified at the Reno County MSWLF. 
 
This task will be invoiced on a T&M basis.  A cost breakdown of the estimated fees is shown in Table 
5. 
 
      Table 5 – Ongoing Deviation Reporting Estimated Fees 

Item Description 
Estimated Cost 

per Event 
Estimated Events 

Through 2021 
Estimated Cost 
through 2021 

Ongoing Deviation Reporting $400 a month* 12* $ 4,800* 

*Estimated costs are based on similar services provided in previous years at Reno County MSWLF. 
Costs could increase or decrease based on the frequency and type of deviations identified. 

 
TA S K  3  –  Q UA R T E R LY  S U R FAC E  E M I S S I O N S  M O N I TO R I N G  

SCS Engineers will perform surface emissions monitoring (SEM), as outlined in 
40 CFR 60.755(c), and the facility’s Surface Emission Monitoring Work Plan (Work Plan) dated 
October 28, 2016, on a quarterly basis. Regulations and industry standards dictate that the 
monitoring be completed by foot.  
 
During the monitoring events, the landfill gas collection and control system will be operated 
in normal mode. Surface methane concentrations will be measured continuously along a 
site-specific pattern, and will include visual monitoring and documenting areas of stressed 
vegetation and cracks in the soil cover.  For these conditions, their locations will be noted. In 
addition, the gas collection system well heads and other artificial penetrations (i.e., sumps 



S c o p e  o f  W o r k  
2 0 2 1  A i r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  G C C S  O M & M   
J a n u a r y  2 9 ,  2 0 2 1  
P a g e  1 0  
 

P r o p o s a l  N o .  2 7 0 0 3 5 2 2 1       S C S  E N G I N E E R S  

and access risers) will be monitored in accordance with the Work Plan separately from the 
transverse monitoring. 
 
Surface methane concentrations discovered to be in excess of 500 ppm above background 
will be flagged, recorded, and reported to the Reno County MSWLF immediately. Adjustments 
to nearby gas collection devices and/or cover maintenance shall be performed in an attempt 
to alleviate the exceedance prior to the location being re-monitored within 10 calendar days 
of the original detection. 
 
The estimated time and materials cost for Task 3 is $4,800 per quarter if no exceedances are 
detected.  However, in the event exceedances are detected, the associated costs for 
subsequent re-monitoring will be added to this task on a time and materials basis.  The cost 
breakdown for this task is provided in Table 6. 
 
 

Table 6 – Quarterly Surface Emissions Monitoring Fees 

Item Description 
Estimated 
Cost per 

Event 

Events Through 
2021 

Cost through 
2021 

Quarterly Surface Emissions 
Monitoring  

$4,800 4 $ 19,200 

Total Cost $19,200 

     
 



 

 

Environmental Consulting & Contracting 

2021 STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE 

Labor Category          Rate 

Senior Project Advisor .....................................................................................................................  $235 

Senior Project Director ....................................................................................................................  $210 

Project Director ...............................................................................................................................  $195 

Project Advisor.................................................................................................................................. $180 

Senior Project Manager ................................................................................................................... $165 

Project Manager ............................................................................................................................... $150 

Senior Project Professional ............................................................................................................  $135 

Project Professional ........................................................................................................................  $120 

Staff Professional ............................................................................................................................  $110 

Designer/Graphics ........................................................................................................................... $105 

Associate Professional ......................................................................................................................  $95 

Senior Technician .............................................................................................................................  $80 

Technician .........................................................................................................................................  $70 

Project Administrator ........................................................................................................................  $85 

Administrative Assistant ...................................................................................................................  $65 
Note:  Increase hourly rate by 1.5 for Saturday, Sunday, and holiday work or off-shift work when required by client. 

General Terms: 

1. Rates for Principals, expert services (expert reports and testimony), and special limited 
consultations, may be negotiated on a project-specific basis. 

2. Schedule rates are effective through December 31, 2021.  Work performed thereafter is 
subject to a new Fee Schedule. 

3. Schedule labor rates include overhead and profit on labor.  Costs for sub-consultants, sub-
contractors, job-related employee travel and subsistence, equipment, supplies, and other 
direct costs are billed at cost plus a 15 percent administration fee. 

4. A communication fee of 1 percent of project labor will be charged for telephone, copying, 
postage, IT, and similar project production costs. 

5. Invoices will be prepared monthly or more frequently for work in progress unless otherwise 
agreed.  Invoices are due and payable upon receipt.  Invoices not paid within 30 days are 
subject to a service charge of 1.5 percent per month on the unpaid balance. 

6. Payment of SCS invoices for services performed will not be contingent upon the client’s 
receipt of payment from other parties, unless otherwise agreed in writing. Client agrees to 
pay legal costs, including attorney’s fees, incurred by SCS in collecting any amounts past 
due and owing on client’s account.  



2021 Standard Fee Schedule 
Page 2 

Note:  The rates shown above are effective through December 31, 2021 and are subject to revision. 

 Printing Services 
 24-inch by 36-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 36-inch by 48-inch plots ...................................................................................... $25.00 each 
 Additional Report Copies (varies depending on report) ............. $25.00 - $50.00 per report 

 Support Vehicles 
 Support Vehicle ................................................................................................. $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck.......................................................... $40.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 SCS Support Truck with Trailer ...................................... $60.00 per day plus $0.85 per mile 
 SCS Utility Truck .............................................................. $60.00 per day plus $0.70 per mile 
 Rental Vehicle ..................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 

 Per Diem and Travel 
 Hotel, Airfare ....................................................................................................... Cost plus 15% 
 Full-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $46.00 per day 
 Half-Day Meal Allowance .................................................................................. $23.00 per day 

 Field Equipment and Supplies 
 Track-mounted Geoprobe® ............................................................................ $750.00 per day 
 All Terrain Vehicle (ATV/UTV) ........................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Field Sampling Trailer ..................................................................................... $350.00 per day 
 GPS Surveying System ................................................................................... $225.00 per day 
 Total Station Survey Equipment .................................................................... $120.00 per day 
 Misc. Survey Tools/Equipment ........................................................................ $10.00 per day 
 Nuclear Density Gauge ................................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Photoionization Detector (PID) ...................................................................... $100.00 per day 
 Water Level Indicator (≤300 foot) ................................................................... $30.00 per day 
 Oil/Water Interface Probe ................................................................................ $60.00 per day 
 pH/Temperature/Conductivity Meter (for water) ........................................... $20.00 per day 
 Peristaltic Pump ................................................................................................ $40.00 per day 
 Hand Augers (10-foot) ...................................................................................... $15.00 per day 
 Measuring Tape/Wheel ...................................................................................... $5.00 per day 
 Hand-held GPS Unit .......................................................................................... $25.00 per day 
 Generator .......................................................................................................... $75.00 per day 
 Air Compressor (5 gallon) ................................................................................. $25.00 per day 
 Electro fusion Machine .................................................................................. $120.00 per day 
 Flow-Thru Multi-Parameter Meter .................................................................. $150.00 per day 
 Turbidimeter ........................................................................................................... $35 per day 
 Composite Sampler ................................................................................................ $75 per day 
 QED Pump Controller........................................................................................... $100 per day 
 GEM 2000 ............................................................................................................ $150 per day 
 Flow Probe (15-foot) ............................................................................................... $15 per day 
 Digital Camera ........................................................................................................ $10 per day 
 Expendable Equipment, Supplies & Rentals ......................................................... Cost + 15% 
 

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line

4333s_l
Line



 

 
 

11120 E. 26th Street N, Suite 1100, Wichita, KS 67226 | 316-315-4501 

Environmental Consultants & Contractors 

Terms and Conditions 
For Professional Consulting Services 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: SCS Engineers will perform the services set forth in the Scope of Work Proposal for 
this project, of which these terms and conditions are a part. Initiation of services by SCS Engineers will 
automatically incorporate these terms and conditions into this project. All amendments to the Scope of 
Service Proposal shall be made in writing, and signed by SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
2. PAYMENTS: SCS Engineers will submit invoices to Client monthly and a final bill upon completion of 

services. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such in a Scope of Services Proposal, no 
retainage shall be withheld by Client. Time is of the essence in payment of invoices and timely payment 
is a material part of the consideration of this Agreement. Payment is due upon presentation of invoice, 
and is past due thirty 30 days from the date of invoice. Client agrees to pay a finance charge of one and 
one half percent per month on past due accounts. Client also agrees to pay all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorney fees incurred by SCS Engineers relating to collection proceedings on 
overdue accounts. Failure of client to abide by the provisions of this section will be considered grounds 
for termination by SCS Engineers.  

 
3. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS: All documents, including but not limited to, reports, plans, designs, boring 

logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and all electronic media 
prepared by SCS Engineers are considered its work product and to be instruments of service. SCS 
Engineers shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyrights on 
said work product and instruments of service. However, all work product and instruments of service 
specific to an executed Scope of Services Proposal shall be supplied to Client for use, but not ownership. 
SCS Engineers shall not be responsible for any conclusions, interpretations, or recommendations 
generated or made by others, which are based, in whole or in part, on SCS Engineers generated work 
product or instruments of service. Any reuse of work product or instruments of service by Client without 
a specific agreement with SCS Engineers in each case shall be at Client’s risk. At Client’s request, SCS 
Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third party, but 
only if the third party agrees to pay a reliance fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client 

4. INSURANCE: SCS Engineers will maintain appropriate workers compensation/employers liability; 
automobile; general liability; and professional liability insurance coverages at all times. An insurance 
certificate will be provided upon request. 

 
5. INDEMNITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold 

harmless Client, including Client’s officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is caused by SCS Engineers, or its 
employees by the negligent performance of professional services, limited, however, as provided 
elsewhere in this Agreement. 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client hereby indemnifies, releases, and agrees to hold harmless 
SCS Engineers including SCS Engineers’ officers, directors, agents, and employees, to the extent a loss, 
damage, expense (including reasonable attorney’s fees), or injury is: (a) caused by any cause other than 
the negligent errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, or (b) is based on a claim that SCS Engineers is a 
generator, disposer, or arranger of hazardous materials or substances at Clients site. 

 
The terms of this Article shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 
6. STANDARD OF CARE: SCS Engineers agrees to perform its services in a manner consistent with that 

level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by other members of its profession currently practicing under 
similar circumstances, in the same locale, at the time the services are performed and with the 
information available to SCS Engineers. 

 
7. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, SCS Engineers’ total 

aggregate liability per Scope of Services Proposal to Client for injuries, claims, losses, expenses, 
damages, or claim expenses arising out of this Agreement from any cause(s), shall not exceed the fee in 
the Scope of Services Proposal which included the services under which the claim arose, or $50,000, 
whichever is greater, and Client releases SCS Engineers from any liability above such amount. This 
release applies to any loss and all damages, injuries, claims, and expenses (including attorney’s fees 
and expert witness fees and expenses), regardless of the cause, whether, but not limited to, strict 
liability, statutory liability, the negligence, errors or omissions of SCS Engineers, breach of contract, 
breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation, or other contract or tort claims, and whether, but not 
limited to, special, indirect, or consequential or punitive damages. SCS Engineers  shall not be 
responsible for damages or costs resulting from hidden conditions or latent defects in design, materials, 
or construction of existing facilities. Unless expressly provided and denominated as such on a Scope of 
Services Proposal, there shall be no liquidated damages. 

 
8. MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: SCS Engineers and Client agree that neither shall be 

liable to the other, or anyone claiming on their behalf, for any special, indirect or consequential damages 
of any type, whether arising in tort (including negligence), contract, warranty (express or implied), strict 
liability, statutory liability or any other cause of action, including but not limited to loss of profit, loss of 
use, loss of business, reputation or financing.  

 
9. SAFETY: SCS Engineers is not responsible and shall not be liable for injuries or damages incurred by 

third parties who are not employees of SCS Engineers. It is agreed that SCS Engineers is not responsible 
for job or site safety on this project, unless specifically agreed to in writing. Job site safety in, on or about 
the site is the sole and exclusive responsibility of the contractor. 

 
10. THIRD PARTY RELIANCE: All documents produced by SCS Engineers are for client’s use only.  At Client’s 

request, SCS Engineers may provide a letter authorizing limited reliance on certain documents by a third 
party, but only if the third party agrees to pay a fee and be bound by the terms and conditions in this 
Agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. 

 
11. UTILITIES AND SUBTERRANEAN STRUCTURES: SCS Engineers will take reasonable precautions to avoid 

causing damage to utilities and subterranean structures. SCS Engineers is not responsible for any loss, 
damage or injury arising from damage to, or contact with, any utilities or subterranean structures that 
were not properly called to SCS Engineers’ attention, were not properly located on drawings, or was 
caused by the providing of inaccurate or incomplete information regarding their location. 

 
12. CHANGED CONDITIONS: If, during the performance of this Agreement, unexpected conditions or 

circumstances are discovered, SCS Engineers will notify Client and the parties will renegotiate the 
previously agreed upon Scope of Services Proposal. SCS Engineers and Client will promptly and in good 
faith enter into a renegotiation process. If renegotiated terms cannot be agreed to within sixty (60) days, 
SCS Engineers will have the right to terminate this Scope of Service Proposal without penalty.  

 
13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: In the event of any dispute between the parties arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement or the services or work contemplated herein, the parties agree to first make a good 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 3 of 4 

 

faith effort to resolve the dispute informally. Negotiations shall take place between the principals of 
each party. If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation within forty-five (45) days, 
then either party may give written notice that it elects to proceed with non-binding mediation pursuant to 
the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. In the event that 
mediation is not invoked by the parties within fifty-five (55) days or that the mediation is unsuccessful in 
resolving the dispute, then either party may submit the controversy to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
The foregoing is a condition precedent to the filing of any action other than an action for injunctive relief 
or if a statute of limitations may expire. 

 
Each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs 
incurred in the course of any dispute, mediation, or legal proceeding. The fees of the mediator and any 
filing fees shall be shared equally by the parties. 

 
14. TESTING AND OBSERVATION SERVICES: If SCS Engineers is hired by Client to provide a site 

representative for the purpose of testing or observing specific portions of the work, this work will not 
include supervision or direction of the actual work of any contractors, their employees or agents. SCS 
Engineers will observe only the portion of the work we have been hired for and perform tests, the results 
being delivered to Client or others if directed by Client. Client understands that even with very careful 
field testing and observation, field testing and observation is conducted to reduce, not eliminate, the 
risk of problems arising, and that providing these services does not create a warranty or guarantee of 
any type by SCS Engineers. 

15. SOIL BORING AND TEST LOCATIONS: The accuracy of test locations and elevations will commensurate 
only with pacing and approximate measurements or estimates. SCS Engineers can provide a 
professional surveyor if greater accuracy is required or desired. SCS Engineers reserves the right to 
deviate a reasonable distance from the boring and test locations unless this right is specifically revoked 
in writing. 

 
16. ON SITE SERVICES: Project site visits by SCS Engineers, or the furnishing of employees to work on the 

project, will not make SCS Engineers responsible for construction means, methods, techniques or 
procedures; or for any construction contractor’s failure to perform its work in accordance with the 
drawings and specifications. 

 
17. TERMINATION: Either party may terminate this Agreement or an executed Scope of Services Proposal, or 

both, with or without cause, by providing seven (7) days written notice. SCS Engineers shall be paid for 
all services performed and all expenses incurred prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination, 
and for all additional services or expenses authorized by Client thereafter. Following termination, Client 
shall not utilize any consultant or subcontractor of SCS Engineers for any services related to Client’s 
project without the prior written consent of SCS Engineers. 

 
18. CONFIDENTIALITY: SCS Engineers will keep confidential all documents, reports and information 

generated for Client on this project and will not release or disclose said information without Client’s 
consent, except to the extent required by court order, subpoena, governmental directive, or by law. 

 
19. SEVERABILITY: If any provision contained in this Agreement is held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the 

enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired. 
 
20. GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLIENT: Client will, within a reasonable period of time, so as not to 

delay the services of SCS Engineers: place at SCS Engineers’ disposal all available information pertinent 
to the project; SCS Engineers may rely on the information provided as being accurate without 
independent verification; client will provide prompt written notice to SCS Engineers whenever Client 



Terms and Conditions for Professional Consulting Services 
Page 4 of 4 

 

observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in SCS Engineers’ services; and Client will arrange 
for access to public and private property as required for SCS Engineers to provide its services. 

 
21. GOVERNING LAW: Unless otherwise provided, the substantive law of the state of Kansas will govern the 

validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and performance and remedies for contract breach or any 
other claims related to this Agreement. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT 

 
During the performance of this Agreement, Client acknowledges the applicability of the Federal 
Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 (“IRCA”). Client agrees to comply with the law in performing 
under this Agreement. 

 
22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT—PRECEDENCE: These Terms and Conditions and SCS Engineers Scope of Service 

Proposal contain the entire agreement between SCS Engineers and Client. All previous or 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, promises and conditions relating to SCS Engineers 
services are superseded. Since terms contained in purchase orders do not generally apply to 
professional services, in the event client issues to SCS Engineers a purchase order, no preprinted terms 
thereon will become part of the agreement of the parties; any purchase order document, whether or not 
signed by SCS Engineers, shall be considered a document for Client’s internal management of its 
operations. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly Authorized 
Representatives, as follows: 

SCS ENGINEERS:  RENO COUNTY, KANSAS: 

BY:   BY:  

NAME:   NAME:  

TITLE:   TITLE:  

DATE:   DATE:  
 

 

 

 



Revised: 10/26/2020 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION: 

(From and Issue) 

Contract for Broadband and Phone Service with IdeaTek 

PRESENTED BY: Joe O’Sullivan, County Counselor 

AGENDA DATE: February 9, 2021 

BACKGROUND At the January 5, 2021 commission meeting, Information Services Director Mike 

Mathews presented an agenda item pertaining to new broadband and phone 

service options.  The options presented were to stay with Cox Communications 

or to switch providers to IdeaTek.  The commission and Mr. Mathews discussed 

the two options and what the cost was for the service.  The two services were 

similar in that they both would provide 1 gigabit of Internet bandwidth and new 

IP Telephony system for all county phones.  The proposals presented are shown 

below.   

• IdeaTek – $19605.00 one-time upfront cost and 5530.00 Per month for 60 

months 

• Cox – No upfront cost and $8069.05 per month for 60 months 

 

After discussing the options, the county commission voted to have the county 

administrator and county counselor to bring back a contract for service with 

IdeaTek.  

ALL OPTIONS 

 

1. Approve the contract with IdeaTek to provide broadband and phone service 

with an upfront cost of $19,605 and monthly cost of $5,530 for 60-month 

term. 

2. Deny the contract and request revisions. 

 

RECOMMENDATION Staff recommends option #1 that is pursuant to the direction approved by the 

commission on January 5, 2021. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT Currently, we pay $6,000 for phone service.  The new agreement provides VoIP 

service and higher bandwidth for $5,530 per month.  The charge of $19,605 is a 

one-time charge. 

 

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7D





















         

  

 

 

Maintenance & Purchasing Monthly Report  2-1-2021 

Harlen Depew, Director 

Staffing:  The Maintenance & Purchasing Dept. currently has openings for two first shift Maintenance 

Technicians and three custodial workers.  We’ve had two custodial positions open for most of 2020 but 

our work load has been somewhat lighter in this area due to changes in our routine due to the COVID 19 

pandemic.  At this point we are slowly transitioning back to pre-pandemic work assignments, and two 

more retirements are coming in the next few months.   We had a 1st shift retirement last Fall, and 

another tech that resigned to move out of State, so we’re looking to fill those spots as well. 

Budget YTD summary 

We have had no large, unanticipated expenses during the month of January, so our budget is in good 

shape for this time of year. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Maintenance employees have been very busy with our routine planned maintenance tasks and daily 

response to maintenance requests, while also assisting contractors, both on the LEC remodel and the 

courthouse improvement projects. 

The Courthouse projects include window restoration, general weatherization, plaster repairs and repairs 

to the courthouse dome.  Contractor employees are now on site and have been staging equipment and 

prepping to start removing windows for restoration starting next week. 

Purchasing staff has spent a considerable amount of time assisting the Reno County Health Department 

with purchasing supplies needed for the COVID vaccine PODs among other things.  These items have 

included paper, hand sanitizer, towels, bottled water and tea, as well as numerous items for mobile 

computing, printers, and so forth. 

Our biggest challenge at the present time is the shortage of qualified applicants for our open positions, 

but the department is staffed by many fantastic employees who continue to do a phenomenal job of 

picking up the slack and doing whatever is asked of them.                                                  

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7E



shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #7F

















































  

 120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

(620)694-2911         Fax: (620)694-2767 

 

 

 

Monthly Report for January 2021 
Submitted by 

Barbara Lilyhorn 
Director- Department of Aging and Public Transportation 

 

Staff 

Rcat hired 2 new bus drivers in late December and early January.  Both are currently in the training 

phase and will not begin driving until next month. 

Rcat driver Rick Branscom retired January 29 after nearly 8 years of service. 

 

Budget 

The Department of Aging and the Department of Public Transportation have each spent 3% of their 

budget as of 1-27-21.  Rcat continues to have eligible grant expenditures reimbursed at 100%.  

 

Challenges 

The pandemic continues to overshadow all aspects of the work in each department. 

Rcat is continuing to operate compressed hours and routes due to the pandemic.  Several staff 

members were directly or indirectly affected and were quarantined.  This caused the need to move to 

Saturday routes on January 19 – this will likely continue until mid- February. 

Most residents contacting the Department of Aging for assistance do so by phone, but we continue to 

have some personal appointments and walk-ins.  

 

 

shonda.arpin
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #8A







  
120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

620-694-2585 
Fax: 620-694-2767 

 
 
 
 

Automotive 

Budget YTD summary 

 

At the end of January, I have used 7% of my overall budget.  This amounts to $11,315 out of my overall 

budget of $154,752. I do not plan on any capital purchases for 2021. 

 

Projects/Issues 

 

No major projects planned in the coming month other than routine maintenance and repair of vehicles. 

The replacement patrol vehicles for 2021 should be arriving sometime in April.  We are working on an 

issue with downloading meter and fuel reports from our fuel card system into our maintenance 

software.  One thing I might note is, with the combination of COVID and lower fuel prices, the Wex fuel 

card users 2020 utilization was 5,116.33 gallons and $39,446.36 under the 2019 figures. 

 

 



 

 
RENO COUNTY 

125 West 1st Ave. 
                                                                       Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 

                                  (620) 694-2934 
      Donna Patton                                                                  Fax: (620) 694-2534 

      County Clerk                                       TDD: Kansas Relay Center 1-800-766-3777 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Clerk/Election Monthly Report for January 

 

In the Election’s Office we are still getting things organized and caught up on paperwork after 

the November Election. There is a lot of clean-up with voter registration cards and removing 

deceased individuals from the voter rolls that are ongoing.  

In the Clerk’s Office, W-2’s and 1099’s were prepared and sent out. I have also been working 

with Randy, Legislators, CIC (our software vendor) and other Clerk’s on the Transparency Bill 

and trying to figure out how best to proceed if the bill passes.  

By the end of January, 8% of the year-to-date budget in the Clerk’s Office was used and 2% in 

the Election’s Office with most of that being used for payroll. The Clerk’s year-to-date 

expenses are higher because that budget, excluding payroll, is approximately 95% less than 

the Election budget.  

January was a usual month with organizing and clean up being the main focus.  

 

Donna Patton 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 Project / Concerns 

 Community Corrections is funded by the Kansas Department of Corrections through grants to the 

County.  We are in the process of completing the grant applications.  The State should provide budget 

planning allocation amounts soon so the grants can be completed.  Once the grants are completed, they 

will be reviewed the advisory boards before being brought before the County Commission. 

 There are a number of legislative issues involving corrections being presented, however none are 

of great concern.  The Governor’s budget included a reduction of $322,243 to Community Corrections 

statewide and taking $43 million from the Evidence-Based Practices Fund.  The $43 million is money the 

Department of Corrections has saved from closing out-of-home placements for youth as part of SB367.  

While some of this savings has been spent on programs for youth, the Evidence-Based Practices Fund has 

continued to grow.  We are not objecting the Governor’s removal of these funds, but we are requesting a 

statewide increase in funding for adult supervision of $4 million.  The additional funds would be used 

statewide to increase officer salaries to a competitive rate and increase the number of officers to reduce 

caseloads.  While we believe the Reno County pay rate is appropriate large caseloads reduce the time 

officers have to spend with each client making it difficult to achieve long-term success. 

 

Budget Summary 

 Community Corrections has three core programs:  Adult Intensive Supervision, Juvenile Intensive 

Supervision, and Juvenile Case Management.  These programs operate on the State Fiscal Year, running 

July through June.  At the halfway mark, all programs are on target for personnel spending, which is the 

agency’s primary expense.   

 

Client Data 

 The Department of Corrections focuses on reducing revocations to prison due to the cost of 

housing inmates, approximately $30,100 per person per year.  The agency’s success rate at the mid-year 

point is 76.8% with 23 people being revoked to prison out of 99 terminations.  The Department of 

Corrections wants agencies to be at 75%, or better, so Reno County is meeting this goal.   

 The adult average daily population for December was 344.  There are eleven youth being 

supervised under Intensive Supervision and one under Case Management. 

 

 



 

 
 
 
 

Communications Monthly Report- January 2021 
 
Major Projects:  

• Highlighted the Sheriff’s Office with videos featuring Sheriff Campbell, Anthony Carder/Shop with 
the Sheriff, and a general Sheriff Office Overview 

• Communications for Health Department including: 
o Phase Updates on Social Media and Website, created new Vaccination page 
o Live Town Hall (moderated and ran technical aspects) Facebook: 279 peak live viewers, 8.3K 

reach, 1.9k engagements, 1.6k total clicks; YouTube- 321 Views, ran on Cable Channel 7, All 
Eagle Radio Stations that evening 

o Media/ad buying schedule for February- Billboards, newspapers (Hutch News and rural 
Messenger), radio (Eagle and Ad Astra), digital- began creatives 

o Vaccination Clinic- promotion and PIO, media invites and management 
▪ Top Post Reno Co. Facebook page: Pre-registration link/info; 14.8k reach, 2,811 post 

clicks, 649 link clicks 
▪ Top Post Emergency Management Facebook page: Pre-registration link/info: 5,928 

reach, 1,001 post clicks, 82 link clicks 
▪ Top post Reno County Twitter: Pre-registration- 282 impressions, 29 engagements 

o Daily vaccine FAQ posts 
o Weekly video updates 
o Press Releases 

• Also started filming Service Award Videos (Community Corrections, DA) 

• General daily website updates and social media postings for all County departments  
 
Issues: Only issue is my time is not equitably spread around all departments right now.  
 
Overview: The majority of my time was spent assisting the Health Department with communications, 
especially with the vaccination phase changes, pre-registration, and the vaccination clinic.  I also spent a 
couple of days filming with the Sheriff’s office, as well as Public Works. Next month, I plan to feature the 
County Commission and will be scheduling interviews soon.  

 

Administration 

206 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, KS 67501-5245 

620-694-2929 







  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

There are no staffing changes to report.  In my department, I have a full time Emergency Management 

Specialist and due to COVID we have hired a temporary full time administrative assistant.  We continue 

to work hard to maintain daily operations. 

Budget YTD summary 

At the end of January, I have used 6% of my year-to-date budget with most of that coming from payroll.  

There are no large purchases planned in the next month. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

For the month of January, my department continues to work on the COVID-19 response.  The duration 

of this response continues to be a challenge for us, taking up tons of time. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RE:  Monthly report ending January 2021 

 

 

Dear Randy Partington, County Administrator: 

 

 

Staffing changes or issues  

We have 3 vacancies that consist of 1 Health Educator, 1 Financial Associate, and 1 

Administrative Associate.  With the implementation the of Schneider software for Environmental 

Health, we are anticipating a decreased workload for the administrative associate supporting that 

area.  With this, we are working with Human Resources to combine that job description with the 

pending retirement of our front office administrative associate into one position, thus reducing 

staff and increase efficiency.  For the other open positions, we are currently searching for 

candidates and interviewing possible candidates as resumes are received. Our biggest challenge 

with staffing is having qualified candidates.   

 

Budget YTD summary 

In discussing our budget with Bethany, our biggest expenses have been for battling Covid-19.  

Upcoming expenditures includes our replacement generator and the Schneider software.   

 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Our major projects for the month of January were the development of a Covid-19 Vaccination 

Administration Plan and the establishment of a Point of Dispensing (POD) site for the Covid-19 

vaccine administration for Reno County. 

 

Upcoming Projects 

-Finalizing our Community Health Assessment (CHA)/Community Health Improvement Plan 

(CHIP) with the Healthcare Access Taskforce (HAT) for presentation to the Board of County 

Commissioners. 

-Review Health Order #21-01 to expire February 24, 2021.  

-Update and renew Health Department grant processes by February 28th for state fiscal year 2022 

due on March 15th.  

 

 

Sincerely,  

Karla Nichols 

Director of Public Health 

209 West 2nd Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5232 

(620) 694-2900 

Fax (620) 694-2901 

TDD: Kansas Relay Center 800-766-3777 

www.renogov.org/health 

http://www.renogov.org/health


Board of Commissioners - Department Update 
Human Resources   - January 2021 
Renee Harris – Human Resources Director 

 
 

HR METRICS 

WORKERS COMPENSATION REPORT – Full Year 2020 

  2020 Claims  requiring Medicare Care.   

Jail    6  
Patrol    4 
Public Works   6  
Maintenance   3 
RCAT/Aging   4  
Health Dept   3 
Info Services   1 
D.A.    2 
Solid Waste   0 
Automotive  0 
Human Resources 0 
Emergency Mangm 0 
Administration  0 
County Clerk  0 
Treasurer  0 
ROD   0 
Appraiser  0 
Youth Services  0 
2020 Total:  29 
2019 Claims =   38 
 
 
Positions Posted and Opened   

    2020  2019  2018 

Positions Open/Posted      63    76     55 

Applications Recevied    886    867    1016 

Turnover Reporting – Full Year 2020 – Turnver was down in all areas compared to 2019 except for Retiree’s.  This not 

unexcpected considering the bulk of year included numerous layoffs and closings.  2020 was the highest it’s been since at 

least 2013.  I can pull detailed data on the makeup of the employees gender/age etc if you’d like that info as well. 

      

  

 

 

 

   

Many of the incidents were preventable as expected requiring more 

attention to what they were doing, taking necessary safety precautions 

etc. 

Many in the Sheriff and Youth Services were the result of combative 

youth or inmates which is typical. 

We had additional minor incidents with first aid only or near misses as 

well that did not require medical attention. 

2 claims were denied by Tristar due to the fact they did not meet 

criteria under Work Comp regulations. 

 

     2020    2019 

Straight Voluntary   8.93% -4.82%  13.75% 

Voluntary Rate incl Retirees/Med 12.79% -6.12%  18.91% 

Involuntary Rate:    3.62% -0.06%  3.68% 

Total Rate ALL    19.06% -4.76%  23.82% 

Total Rate incl. (ALL minus Temps)  16.650% -6.44%  23.086% 

Retiree     3.6% 1.92%  1.700% 
 

We received our 2021 Workers Comp Insurance renewal.  I was 

pleased to see that it was another positive renewal keeping our Mod 

Rate to .84.  It came in $455 less than 2020 however we have not 

received the 2020 Audit adjustment yet. I am not expecting a 

significant adjustment.  



Update of Salary/Compensation Study. 

An Authorizatoin of Services has been completed with The Arnold Group for Salary Survey and Comp Plan, Job Analysis and 

Performance Management System. 

Following the Commission meeting I spoke with Phil Hayes regarding the Annual Support Option of $3,385.  He made the 

suggestion that we wait until toward the end of the study to determine whether we wanted to contract for that service.  I 

felt that was the best option and appreciated that they offer that alternative rather take it or leave it up front. 

 

Budget – I will be getting the personnel budget started in February. It’s take quite a bit of time and doing it alongside of the 

Comp Study will be challenging but I’ll make sure it’s on time for the departments.  

 

Employee Survey 

An employee survey is scheduled to be distributed to all employees by February 8th or sooner.  The purpose of the survey is 

to gather information from employees in various areas including job satisfaction, the culture of Reno County, benefits and 

others. Following the survey, results will be compiled and distributed to Administration and Department Heads for review 

and next steps.  Most likely, that will include distribution to employees via department or general meetings to gather their 

input as well. 

 

Fraudulent Unemployment Claims 

I have processed over 250 fraudulent employment claims on current/past employees and volunteer firefighters. The 

situation is constantly changing and it appears the DOL is finally working on a fix with upgraded security.  I’ve not seen 

whether we’ve been charged with claims, however I will have the opportunity to appeal any that we’ve reported as 

fraudulent.   

I was asked to testify at legislature hearings this week, but I am not able to take the time with such short notice. I will be 

submitting my comments and suggestions via letter to the SHRM lobbyist/representative. 

 

High Performance Organization 

I will be continuing to meeting via Zoom meetings with member of the Executive Leadership group.  We are working to 

bounce ideas off each other about what is going on in our organizations and how we plan to implement new processes.  

While I’m out Tues-Thurs next week and on the road for 12 hours, I plan to put a lot of thoughts in writing on where to head 

with the program and implementation ideas.  

 

 

 

 

 



Monthly Report Information Services 

Michael Mathews 

 

 

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

In my department we currently have one open position, Database Administrator/App developer. I 

intend to open that position soon after the budget recovers from the payout of the employee that left. 

We promoted the previous DBA to the Sr. Network Administrator so we are in a transition period with 

both of those positions. 

Budget YTD summary 

At the end of January, I have used 19% of out adopted budget, We pay a number of out annual software 

support contracts at the beginning of January each year. Next month we will begin looking at the capital 

purchases we will need to make for 2021. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

We are continuing to move remote workers to the Citrix System and two factor authentication for 

remote access. We are also starting a project of labeling and inventorying each piece of equipment we 

maintain. We will be visiting each department to complete that project. This will help us as users call for 

remote access support 

Issues that we dealt with the past month include, we had very few issues this month outside of being 

down one staff member 

January was a good month we tried to move quickly when ask for resources due to Covid-19. 

 

 



         

  

 

 

Maintenance & Purchasing Monthly Report  2-1-2021 

Harlen Depew, Director 

Staffing:  The Maintenance & Purchasing Dept. currently has openings for two first shift Maintenance 

Technicians and three custodial workers.  We’ve had two custodial positions open for most of 2020 but 

our work load has been somewhat lighter in this area due to changes in our routine due to the COVID 19 

pandemic.  At this point we are slowly transitioning back to pre-pandemic work assignments, and two 

more retirements are coming in the next few months.   We had a 1st shift retirement last Fall, and 

another tech that resigned to move out of State, so we’re looking to fill those spots as well. 

Budget YTD summary 

We have had no large, unanticipated expenses during the month of January, so our budget is in good 

shape for this time of year. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Maintenance employees have been very busy with our routine planned maintenance tasks and daily 

response to maintenance requests, while also assisting contractors, both on the LEC remodel and the 

courthouse improvement projects. 

The Courthouse projects include window restoration, general weatherization, plaster repairs and repairs 

to the courthouse dome.  Contractor employees are now on site and have been staging equipment and 

prepping to start removing windows for restoration starting next week. 

Purchasing staff has spent a considerable amount of time assisting the Reno County Health Department 

with purchasing supplies needed for the COVID vaccine PODs among other things.  These items have 

included paper, hand sanitizer, towels, bottled water and tea, as well as numerous items for mobile 

computing, printers, and so forth. 

Our biggest challenge at the present time is the shortage of qualified applicants for our open positions, 

but the department is staffed by many fantastic employees who continue to do a phenomenal job of 

picking up the slack and doing whatever is asked of them.                                                  









                           Reno County Solid Waste  
                                                                                 703 S. Mohawk 
                                                                                 Hutchinson, KS 67501 
              (620) 694-2586 
              Fax (620) 694-669-8126 

 

 
 

Solid Waste Monthly Update January 2021 
Prepared by Megan Davidson, Director 

 
Staffing: We currently have 1 Equipment Operator opening that we are getting ready to start the 
interview process on a few candidates. We did not receive a lot of applications for the position, but we 
did receive a few with some good qualifications for the job so we are hopeful to get someone hired on 
soon. The staff that I currently have has been busy performing extra duties as far as building the 
temporary road for the new facilities to begin as well as construct the new pad for the new facilities 
which in turn saves the county money for the self- performing work. The staff at the landfill just 
celebrated 5 years of no lost time on accidents which is a huge accomplishment for the department. 
With the safety program we have in place employees received new safety green jackets as well as 
pocketknives that state the 5year safety accomplishment on both. I greatly appreciate the staff I have, 
and they all do an outstanding job of keeping the landfill looking well maintained and the paperwork for 
KDHE in order.  
 
Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns: February 9th we will be awarding the Bid for the new facilities 
that will be built at the landfill.  My operators will continue working on the self-performing work on the 
pad until the contractor comes out to begin work on the new facilities.  
 
I am going to be going out for Request for Quotes soon from several Concrete Crushing Companies to 
give us quotes on crushing some concrete that our operators have prepared for crushing so we can 
utilize it on the new facilities as well as around the landfill on the roads when we need the extra 
stabilization when weather plays a factor. The last time we had concrete crushed was back in 2015. We 
will use up all the concrete we have crushed currently for the new facilities and possibly could need 
more, and it would save the county money if we had some of our own crushed instead of having a 
contractor bring in the rock. I will be in communication with Randy after the quotes have came back to 
me.  
 
Budget: I am currently working on my equipment that is on my capital improvement budget for 2021. 
We are just getting into the 2021 budget year and we are going to do our best to keep our costs down as 
much as we possibly can from equipment fixes to professional services here at the landfill through our 
contracts etc.   

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  



 

www.renogov.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 26, 2021 

 

 

MONTHLY REPORT 
 

 
 

STAFFING CHANGES OR ISSUES:   

 

We currently have no openings in the Treasurer’s office. We all look at ourselves as a “Team” 

and it takes a team effort to put out the amount of work we do.  I have used and promoted the 

attitude of enjoying the customer every chance you get.  This has had a positive effect on both 

the employee and the customer. 

 

 

BUDGET YTD SUMMARY: 

 

As of this day, we are running around 6% of my year-to-date budget with most of it coming from 

payroll.  The YTD budget is  $225,435.72  with $13,095.28 being spent YTD for a percentage of 

5.81%. 

 

PROJECTS/ISSUES/CHALLENGES/CONCERNS: 

 

My department’s major projects for the month of January were the January distribution, 

preparing annual reports for the cities and other audit requests, renewing trucks and trailers and 

KCOVRS renewals.  We also issued tags and processed title work.   

 

I feel we did an excellent job last month of collecting both current and delinquent taxes. We 

ended up collecting more than a millon over last year.  We just got the sales tax figures in and 

are about $10,000.00 less than last year this time.  Not bad but hope it is not a trend.   

 

 

 

 

  

RENO COUNTY TREASURER 
125 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5245 
620-694-2938 

Fax: 620-694-2776 
T

TDD: Kansas Relay Center 1-800-766-3777 
 

 



 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Youth Services Monthly Report 

January 2021 

 

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

We are currently accepting applications for a full time cook, 30 hr. Juvenile Detention Officer (male only), 

Standby Juvenile Detention Officer/Youth Care Specialist and an Administrative Assistant III. 

We had two staff retire this month, Kurt Stropes and Roger Riggs.  Kurt was hired as a Child Care Specialist in 

March 2011 and Roger was our Maintenance Technician I since February 2017.  Both men will be missed. 

The past several months has been challenging with keeping our staff and youth healthy. With that being said, I 

am pleased to say we still had 6 employees earn a Wellness Day, for using zero sick hours from July – 

December.   

 

Budget YTD Summary 

As of 1/28/2021, we have spent 5% of our Shelter budget (Dept.90).  The expenses are mostly due to salaries.  

The total shelter budget is $1,051,666.   

We have spent 7% of our detention budget (Dept.91).  Detention expenditures consists of mostly salaries but 

also includes a CIP item as mentioned below.   The CIP expense totaled $11,130.  The total detention budget 

is $1,054,065.   

 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

We have completed our carpet replacement project in mid-January.  Carpet replacement was an item in the 

2020 Capital Improvement Plan.   

Earlier this month, we replaced our Motorola two-way radios for our detention officers.  This was an item in our 

CIP for 2021.   

 

RENO COUNTY YOUTH SERVICES 
219 West Second Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas  67501 
(620) 694-2500 

Fax:  (620) 694-2504 
TDD:  Kansas Relay Center  1-800-766-3777 

JUVENILE DETENTION CENTER 

JUVENILE INTAKE & ASSESSMENT 

BOB JOHNSON YOUTH SHELTER 

 


	02-09-2021 AGENDA.pdf (p.1-2)
	06D ResCancelWarrants.pdf (p.3-6)
	06E Destroy Election Material.pdf (p.7)
	07A GO Bond Series 2021 Resolution CloseDocs.pdf (p.8-106)
	GOB-Basicdocs.pdf (p.1-38)
	GOB-BPA.pdf (p.39-64)
	GOB-Closedocs.pdf (p.65-91)
	GOB-Disclosure Undertaking.pdf (p.92-99)

	07B Landfill Facilities - Abbreviated.pdf (p.107-125)
	Landfill Facilities-Contract Award & Resident Engineer.pdf (p.1-9)
	Landfill Facilities-Agenda Memo.pdf (p.1-2)
	Landfill Facilities-Recommendation of Award.pdf (p.3-4)
	Link to Full Contract with Conco.pdf (p.5)
	Landfill Facilities-NOA Abbreviated Contract.pdf (p.6-9)
	Notice of Award
	Abbreviated Contract


	Landfill Facilities-Resident Engineer Services.pdf (p.10-19)
	Terms and Conditions


	07C SCS Proposals 2021 Services.pdf (p.126-172)
	SCS Proposals 2021 Services.pdf (p.1-2)
	SCS - Annual Consulting Services.pdf (p.3-18)
	Task 1 – Semi-Annual Groundwater Activities
	Task 1.1:  May Groundwater Monitoring Events
	Task 1.2:  November Groundwater Monitoring Events
	Task 1.3: May Groundwater Monitoring Report
	Task 1.4:  November Groundwater Monitoring Report

	Task 2 – Annual Permit Renewal Assistance
	Task 2.1:  Closure and Post-Closure Cost Estimates
	Task 2.2:  Conceptual Closure Plan Update

	Task 3 – Quarterly Landfill Gas Monitoring and Reporting
	Task 4 – On-Call Professional Services
	Terms and Conditions
	For Professional Consulting Services

	SCS - Engineering and Planning.pdf (p.19-29)
	TASK 1 – 2021 Volume Calculations
	TASK 2 – CELL 7 GCCS EXPANSION DESIGN
	TASK 3 – GCCS EXPANSION CONSTRUCTION QUALITY ASSURANCE
	TASK 4 – FINANCIAL MODEL AND MASTER PLAN UPDATE
	Terms and Conditions
	For Professional Consulting Services

	SCS - Annual Air Quality and GCCS OMM.pdf (p.30-47)
	TASK 1 – GCCS OPERATIONS, MONITORING, & MAINTENANCE
	Operational Goals
	GCCS OM&M
	Routine Monthly GCCS OM&M Services

	TASK 2 – AIR QUALITY AND GCCS REPORTING
	Task 2.1 – Annual Air Quality Compliance
	Task 2.2 – Green House Gas Rule Compliance
	Task 2.3: Semi-Annual NSPS AND SSM Reports
	Task 2.4: Ongoing Deviation reporting

	TASK 3 – QUARTERLY SURFACE EMISSIONS MONITORING
	Terms and Conditions
	For Professional Consulting Services


	07D IdeaTek Agreement.pdf (p.173-182)
	07E Maintenance Update.pdf (p.183)
	07F PZ 2020-09 CWECS.pdf (p.184-207)
	08A AppointedElectedMonthlyReports.pdf (p.208-228)
	Aging~RCAT - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.1)
	Appraiser - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.2-3)
	Automotive - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.4)
	Clerk - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.5)
	Comm Corr - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.6)
	Communications - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.7)
	Dist Atty - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.8-9)
	Emerg. Mgmt - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.10)
	Health - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.11)
	HR - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.12-13)
	Info Srvds - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.14)
	Maintenance - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.15)
	Public Works - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.16)
	Sheriff - BOCC Jan21 update.pdf (p.17-18)
	Solid Waste - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.19)
	Treasurer - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.20)
	Youth Srvcs - Jan 2021 Report.pdf (p.21)


